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As seen from the Tower of Calry Church.
Drawn by W. F. Wakeman, from a Photograph by J. J. Nelson.
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PREFACE.

WORK entitled “Tue Rupe StoNne MoNUMENTs
oF IreraND (Co. Su16o)” contains all the informa-

: tion that the writer could gather concerning the
local megalithic structures of primitive antiquity scattered
throughout the district. Next comes “The History of Sligo,
County and Town,” which, beginning at the legendary period,
carries the recital down to the close of the Reign of Queen
Elizabeth.

The second part of this work, starting from the accession
of James I., continues the narration almost to the close of the
17th century; and from that date, the present volume carries
it on to the times in which we now live. Much of the
information herein contained has been extracted from old
newspapers, pamphlets, and publications of every sort relating
to the district. Many interesting details have been kindly
furnished by friends who, either from long residence or family
connexion with the county, became well acquainted with the
traditions still current in many rural localities. For those
whose homes are in the district of which this history treats,
it can scarcely fail to be of interest to know how their imme-
diate forefathers lived, and how our various institutions grew
up and developed. It is hoped that, after perusal of this
volume, the reader when laying it down may have a feeling






























HISTORY OF SLIGO.

BOOK VII.

CHAPTER XVII.

MILITARY HISTORY OF THE COUNTY AND BOROUGH OF SLIGO
FROM 1688 TO THE PRESENT TIME.

[?Q HE effects of the internecine strife which had
lasted from 1688 to 1691 were visible all over
the County of Sligo; fields lay uncultivated and
waste ; numbers of horses had died, or been worn
out as troop or baggage animals, and cattle were
7%  scarce; wherever the desolation of war had spread,

the houses of the gentry and the cottages of the poor
were in ruins. The unfortunate inhabitants who had joined
neither of the rival parties under arms had to contribute to the
support, now of the one side, now of the other, according as the
fortunes of the contest fluctuated, and those who had fled were
subjected to confiscation of their goods by the adherents of
James. Alexander Irwin of Tanrego—nicknamed ¢ The
Fox’'—was compelled to leave his wife and family in Sligo,

! This sobriquet of ¢ The Fox’ may perhaps throw light on the Latin
inscription over the entrance of the old house of Longford (vide ante, Book I.
p- 116), to the effect that it was ‘“ the safe retreat of John Henry (Crofton)
and his yellow-haired Fox”’; and as the Croftons and the Irwins resided in
close neighbourhood, what more likely than that the Crofton above alluded
to had married a Miss Irwin.

The following statement of the doctrine of image-worship may be
observed in the quaint little chapel, situated in the grounds of Longford,

B



p. HISTORY OF SLIGO.

but when trying to make their escape from the Co?;nty their
were captured by Sir Teigue O’Regan, who ,(’)bserved, 'l?houg
the Fox has escaped I have got the cub.s. Mrs. Irwin was
detained prisoner in a fort at Str?,ndhlll, Wl.lere she found
herself obliged to part with everything belonging to hex:, even
to her wedding ring, in order to procure bread for her children.
At the close of the struggle many Protestants found themselves
ruined ; their money became exhausted from .the pressure on
their own resources whilst the war was being carried on.
Each side seemed to understand perfectly tbe art of carrying
on the struggle, if possible, at the cost of their adversaries, and
the annexed correspondence will be found amusing from the
statement of the mode in which repayment was made :—

¢ The peticon of Capt® Hugh M‘Dermott To the Rt Honno®* Coll.
Patt. Sarsficld Command® in Chefe of his mat* fforces in Connoug?rht,
and to y* Honno®* Coll. Henry Dillon, L? Leut. of the County of Sligo.

“ Sheweth that yo' petio* uppon yo* Honno™ encourdagm' and
pmise of reimburssinge yo* petio® did subsist his company for five
weekes in the Garizon of Sligo, and bought for y® s? Company sixty
eight coates, sixty eight hatts, sixty eight paire of sbooes, and sixty
eight paire of stokens, that yo' petio® to serve his mat'® and please yo*
Honno™ was forced to borrow from severall pSons ye most pt of ye
monys layd out by him for ye uses affors® and is duly duned for y* s?
mony to yo' petio™ great discredit and disaduantage if not soone
reluied by yo* Honnor*.

“May it therefore please yo* Honnor® tenderly to consider y* pinisses
and yo* one ffaithfull pmisse to ord’ some course whereby yo petio® may
be reimburssed and payd of his mony, w* amounts to one hundred
and three pounds str* as by the accompt underneath more at lardge may
appear—and yo' petio’ shall ever pray, &°.

“Itt’ fiue weeks subsistance, . 55 00 00
Sixty eight coates, . o . 32 12 4
Sixty eight paire of stokens, . 3 8§ 00
Sixty eight paire of pumps, . 3 8 00
Sixty eight hatts, . o . 8 14 00”

already fully described : ¢ Nam Deus est quod imago docet, sed non Deus
ipsa, hanc cernas sed mente colas quod cernis in ipsa”; which may be

translated : * For God is what the image teaches us, but the image itself is

not God; you see the image, but you worship in your mind what you
discern in it.”

L2



MILITARY HISTORY OF SLIGO. 3

¢ To Capt® JorN Burke.

¢ The contents of y* above petition is recomended to y* by Coll.
Sarsfield, who desires y* will out of y® effects y* have in y® hands of
y° Kings satisfy y° aboue sume to Cap™ Hugh M‘Dermott. Dated at

Bondrowes y* 20 of May (16)89.
“Hex : Dirrox.

¢ Dear Jack, be sure y* doe what y* can for y® prince who was y*
know at greate expense and youl oblidge y* aff. brotr.””

¢ Pursuant to Coll. Sarsfields orders I doe impower Capt® Hugh
M‘Dermott to disposse and make usse of the goods and Chattels of
George Allcocke or other absentees goods in his custody by vertue of
any former orders, to the value of the sume in the within Pett®".

Datted this 22*" of May (16)89.
‘““Jo: Burke.

¢¢ (Endorsed) The humble peticdn of Capt® Hugh M ‘Dermott.”

The MacDermotts, then and long subsequently, were one of
the few families that kept up the appellation of an ancient Irish
Chieftain. Young, in his Tour through Ireland in the latter
portion of the 18th century, thus alludes to it :—

¢« Another great family in Connaught is Mac Dermott, who calls
himself ¢ Prince of Coolavin’; he lives at Coolavin in Sligo, and
though he has not above £100 a year, will not admit his children to
sit down in his presence. This was certainly the case with his father,
and some assured me, even with the present Chief. Lord Kingsborough,
Mr. Ponsonby, Mr. O’'Hara, Mr. Sandford, &°, came to see him, and his
address was curious: ¢ O’Hara, you are welcome ; Sandford I am glad
to see your mother’s son (his mother was an O’Brian); as to the rest
of ye, come in as you can!”

The sufferers through injuries inflicted by the three years
of constant strife sought compensation from Parliament,
but sought in vain; ten thousand pounds was voted, but never
given, nor indeed could a sum so small have been of any real
service, so numerous were the applicants.

The incessant strife had so accustomed the people to an
unsettled state of life that they were unwilling to resume
steady pursuits of any kind. Accustomed to obtain all the
necessaries of life by plunder and violence, the majority of the

B2



4 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

peasantry neglected the culture of the soil, while some took to
open robbery and gave themselves up to a system of predatory
warfare,! and as nearly all the Protestant yeomen hz:xd b.een
either in the militia or regular army, military life had inspired
a distaste for the occupations in which they had formerly
engaged ; they were unwilling to work, and inclined to d.epend
more on the aid expected from Parliament than on their own
exertions.

Some kind of local military organization must have existed
in Sligo prior to the Revolution of 1688, otherwise it would be
difficult to account for the celerity with which the Protestants
of the county had been concentrated, armed, and disciplined.
These men were in great part descendants of members of Colonel
Richard Coote’s Regiment of Horse, Colonel Sir Charles Coote’s
Regiment of Horse, and his Regiment of Foot. Numerous
statements with regard to these regiments are to be found
amongst the public records, ‘but one entry relating to Cornet
Cooper will suffice. It recites that “the Claym® purchased y¢
Debentures hereafter mentioned from y¢ persones hereunder,
and after named, whose Lotts fell in y® county of Sligoe, in
Coll. Coote’s owne Regim® and Troope”; he also purchased lots
in Sir Charles Coote’s Reg®. Sir Oliver St. George’s Troope “ as
well as in Sir Charles Coote’s Regm® of ffoote.”” The various
detachments from the above-named corps appear to have been
stationed in Sligo until lands were allotted to them, and they
exchanged the sword for the ploughshare. In the column of
remarks in “the Book of Survey and Distribution” several
denominations of land are annoted “ Trustees for y* Barracks.”

“8ir Richard Coote’s Regiment of Horse (now y¢ L.
Collooney’s Regt.”) From this entry* it would appear that
the Regiment, although disbanded, was liable to be called up

1 Thee.;e vagrant robbers were designated Rapparees, an Irish word stated
to have s:lgmﬁed a pole or broken beam, resembling a half-pike—the weapon
with which the majority of these brigands were armed.

* Here is another entry of like nature: *Quarter Master E. J. Byrne

Q". M. to Maior John Kings troope (nowe Ld. of Kingston) in the now Ld.
Collooney’s Regt.”
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for service, for it was disembodied about 1655, and Coote was
not created Baron Collooney until September, 1660.

Richard, eldest son of the 1st Baron, espoused the cause of
William ITI. In 1689 he was appointed Treasurer and Receiver
Gteneral to Queen Mary, and was created Earl of Bellamont.
In the year following he was made Governor of New England
and New York, and also Admiral of those seas, where he
captured the notorious pirate, Captain William Kidd. In
1701 he died in America, and was succeeded in the title by
his son Nansan, who died in 1708, and was succeeded by his
brother Richard. In the year 1800, on the death of Charles
Coote, without issue male, the title became extinct.

The following is the muster roll of the officers of Col. Sir
Richard Coote’s Regiment of Horse :—

Major John King (now IL¢ of Kingston); Q.M. E. J. Byrne.

Sir Richard Cootes own troop : Cornet Edward Cooper; Q.M. C.
Cartwright.

Captain Robert Morgan: Cornet Thomas Wood; Q. M. Henry Beven.

Captain Francis King : Lt James King ; Cornet Edmond Nicholson ;
Q. M. Thomas Harloe or Harle.

Captain Thomas Hart : Lt Michael Pockeredge.

Captain Robert Oliver: Lt Pockeredge ; Cornet Henry Hughes.

Captain Lewis Jones: Cornet John Thorneton; Q.M. Nicholas
Goulding.

¢ Ingeneere” William Webb.

Surgeon and Ensign John Nicholson.

Surgeon’s mate : Henry Nicholson.

Henry Nicholson was *chirurgeon” not only to this Regi-
ment but also to Sir Charles Coote’s Regiment of Horse and Sir
William Cole’s Regiment of Foot. Henry Nicholson is also
described in a contemporaneous document ¢ as administrator to
his brother, William Nicholson ; as chirurgeon’s-mate to Coll.
Richard Coote’s Regiment of Horse and as Trooper in Capt.
Francis King’s troope” : —

Col. Sir Charles Cootes Regiment ; (Earl of Mountrath.)

Sir Charles Cootes own troop : Capt William Ormsby, Capt L.

Captain John Ormbsy : Lt. Thomas Ormsby ; Cornet Philip Ormsby;
Q. M. Anthony Ormsby.
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Captain Charles Ormsby : Cornet George Ormsby. :
Surgeon and Ensign John Nicholson ; Cornet Edmond Nicholson.
Col. Sir Charles Coote’s Regiment of Foot (now y* Earl of

Mountrath). ol
Captain Robert Parke ; Ensign David Linehian
Captain Charles Colles; L. Markey.

This list of officers can be further extended by reference to
the “Book of Survey and Distribution,” as well as to the
census made circa 1659, probably by Dr. W. Petty, and which
is one of the few documents extant in which the designation of
“Titulado” occurs. By the term “ Titulado” is supposed to
be meant a person claiming to be entitled to land, but whose
claim not having been yet decided on was thereby rendered
titular in point of fact.! (See Appendix A.)

From the commencement of the Revolution of 1688 until
the surrender of Sligo by Sir Teigue O’Regan in 1691, there
could have been no body of local militia stationed within the
County, as every male capable of bearing arms was either
engaged in the ranks of the Enniskilleners or supporting the
cause of James II. It seems evident, however, that a local
force for Sligo has existed, it may be said, almost from the first
settlement of the County. This force was embodied in 1715

and again in 1745; in May, 1747, the following notice occurs
in a newspaper of the day :—

“We hear from Sligoe, that the agreeable news of Admiral
Anson’s success against the French occasioned the greatest rejoicing
that was ever known in that town; the Gentlemen assembled under
arms and marched from the Parade to the Quay, where after firing
three vollies with the greatest exactness (as it was a marine stroke),
they repaired on board the vessels there, when they drank the King,
with all the loyal toasts, the brave Anson and Warren, and many more
suitable to the occasion. The night ended with bonfires, illuminations,
and other demonstrations of the greatest joy, and the next night the
Gentlemen of the town entertained the Ladies with a ball at the

! Such is the opinion of John P, Prendergast, the author of Zhe Crom-

wellian Settlement of Ireland, and of J. J, Digges-Latouche, the Deputy
Keeper of the Records.
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Town House, where the well-affected fair ones assembled by beat of
drum, and shewed a spirit no way short of their sister Whiggs in the
year 1715, described by the great Mr. Addison.”

In September of the same year a letter from Sligo describes
an engagement oft the coast in which three English merchant-
men beat off a Spanish privateer.

In a private account book (1755) belonging to a gentleman
of the County, there stands the following entry: “ May 1. To
y¢ Militia boys to buy powder 2s. 24.” The Militia were
assembled in 1759, in 1760, 1761, 1762, and 1763. Mention is
made of them again from 1778 to 1783; during this latter
period, however, the Irish Volunteers were also in existence,
and it is difficult to distinguish whether the casual allusions met
with really bear reference to the Volunteers or the Militia.

According to a map of the year 1766 there were four
military barracks in the town of Sligo: “The old stone fort”
or “Foot Barracks and yard”’; the present barracks, then styled
the‘“Strand Barracks”’ for cavalry and eapable of accommodating
“7 officers and 96 non-commissioned officers and privates, with
stabling for 60 horses, and an excellent hospital annexed ”’; the
“Middle Barracks” on the right side of Holborn-street, and
the ¢ Horse Barracks” which appear to have occupied the site
of the present brewery near the upper bridge. Small detach-
ments of troops were also stationed at Collooney, Ballymote,
and Kilmacteige. The latter barracks were given up as early as
1736.

At a critical epoch, when America was lost to the Crown of
England, and the Irish coasts lay open to the descent of a
foreign foe, the Volunteers, a body of 100,000 men, self-clothed,
self-disciplined, and without pay discharged the duties of the
army. Unfortunately they afterwards turned their attention to
politics, upon which rock they made shipwreck. At first—from
the octogenarian to the schoolboy—all sprang to arms, several
cadet corps being formed from the various schools in the town
and county.

Amongst the facetise of the day, it is narrated that at a
meeting convened by public notice it was agreed to form a
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Voluriteer corps, but a proviso was added that it should not
be compelled to quit the kingdom. A wag in the crowd sugges-
tively adding :  except in case of invasion 423

% The Sligo Volunteers” were commanded by Mr. Wynne.
The Right Hon. Henry King was one of the twelve “Generals”
elected by the Volunteers, and was one of the delegates who
met at Dungannon, 15th February, 1782. He also raised and
commanded “ The Ballina and Ardnaree Loyal Volunteers,”
associated (i. e. raised) st July, 1779. “The Liney Volunteers”
were associated in 1778; their uniform was scarlet faced with
blue. They were commanded by Major George Dodwell. Lt-
Col. Ormshy was in command of the “ Sligo Loyal Volunteers *’
raised May 25th, 1779, the uniform scarlet, faced white.
Provincial reviews were held by the Volunteers, the various
corps being fully provided with all necessary camp equipment.

One of the largest of these reviews was held near Sligo in
1781, and the order in which the various corps were drawn up
i8 here given. The details of the manceuvres—which occupy
sixteen pages of the pamphlet'—are omitted, but some items are
curious; for instance, officers still carried *fusils,” and when
saluting the inspecting general, “the officers wearing hats
(except those on horseback) will take off their hats; the cap-
officers will put their hands to their caps.”

“The cavalry to be formed into one squadron; the infantry into
two regiments; the whole forming one brigade. The several corps
to take post according to seniority ; the eldest corps on the right of
the first regiment ; the second corps on the right of the second regi-
ment ; the third corps on the left of the first regiment ; the fourth
corps on the left of the second regiment ; and so on until the whole is
formed. The Grenadiers and light infantry of the eldest corps to be

posted to the first regiment ; the Grenadiers and light infantry of the

other corps to the second regiment. The colours of the two corps
nearest the centre of cach regiment to be used ; the other corps who
have colours will carry them to the field. The eldest Colonel will
command the brigade as Brigadier-General ; the eldest Lieutenant-
Colonel and Major of each regiment to act in their stations to the

'Plan of a review to be held i
Bk it eld near Sligo on Thursday, the 19th July
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regiments they belong to; the acting Major of each regiment to be
mounted ; the Lieutenant-Colonel on foot. The line to be drawn up
two deep ; the cavalry 15 paces to the right of the first regiment ; the
second regiment 15 paces to the left of the first. Each regiment to be
divided into 8 battalion sub-divisions, 4 grand divisions, and 2 wings.
In the firings and manceuvres the regiments will act independently.
The sub-divisions will be numbered, beginning with the right and
ending with the left of regiments. The Captains and subalterns
4 paces in front of the front rank; field officers on foot 3 paces in
front of the Captains and subalterns; the Majors on horseback on the
right of their respective regiments, dressing with the front rank of
Grenadiers, and will march at their head in passing the Generar. No
drums to beat but those belonging to the regiment the General is
immediately passing, except in the general salute, when the whole
beat off together. The Brigadier-General will appoint an adjutant to
reccive his orders, and act under him.”

The manceuvres, which were of a most intricate character,
comprised the attack on a bridge and the passage of a river by
the brigade.

There was again a review in August, 1782, and another
took place in 1785. Volunteering was also carried ou for the
navy.

There was great jealousy entertained by the regular troops
towards the Volunteers. “The former affected to view their
unpaid comrades in the same light the merchant does the
contrabandist, as unlicensed dealers in arms; jealousy and
envy of their equipments and personal appearance might have
been probably material sources of this bad feeling, as the
Volunteers were splendidly appointed, and formed undoubtedly
a considerable portion of the é/ite of Irishmen.”

The following were the Delegates from the County Sligo
who composed part of the National Convention of the Volun-
teers :—General the Rt. Hon. Henry King, Rt. Hon. Joshua
Cooper, Colonel O’Hara, Robert Lyons, Esq., Major George
Dodwell.

A few resolutions passed by the various Sligo Volunteer
corps are added as specimens of the manner in which political
agitation was carried on at the close of the 18th century.
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¢ TLovaL Srico VOLUNTEERS.

¢« On parade assembled the 4th of March, 1782, unanimously came
to the following Resolution :—

“That, as citizens and soldiers, we do heartily approve of the
Dungannon address to the minority of both houses of parliament, and
do most cheerfully adopt these resolutions of the 15th of February last,
for obtaining a redress of grievances, and that we will to the utmost of
our power, co-operate with them and the several volunteer corps of
this Kingdom for so desirable a purpose.

“JorN OrmsBY, Lieut. Col.

¢ Ordered that the above resolutions be published in the Dublin
Evening Post, and Sligo Journal.”

On the 15th March, 1782, a deputation of Volunteer Officers
from the County Sligo (i.e. Colonel Charles O’Hara, Colonel
Sir B. Gore Bt., Colonel Lewis F. Irwin, Lt.-Colonel John
Ormsby), attended the great meeting of Connaught Volunteers
at Ballinasloe, at which were assembled delegates from fifty-
nine volunteer corps of the province.

¢ Srico MEETING.

3 ‘At a Meeting of the Gentlemen Freeholders of the County of
Sligo, convened by the High Sheriff, April, 1, 1782,

‘“ Georee Dopwerr, Esa., High Sheriff, in the Chair,

*‘The following Resolutions were unanimously agreed to :—

*“ 1st.—That the resolutions entered into by the Delegates assembled
at Dungannon and Ballinasloe, by the Volunteer associations, and since
apprm:ed of by the different mectings of several other eorps and
C(_)untles of this Kingdom, are such as ought to be adopted by every
friend to the just rights, privileges, liberties, and commerce of Ireland.

a4 ?nd.—That we will support, with our lives and fortunes, all the
Just rights and privileges of this Kingdom, and that we will use our
utmost endeavours to promote peace, harmony, and good order in this
country, and that we will co-operate with all the other counties in

this Kingdom in any measures that may tend + ishi
salntary o ay tend to the accomplishing so

‘3rd.—That the thanks of this meeting be given to the different

Dele{:gates from .the Volunteer Corps of this eounty who attended the
meeting at Ballinasloe on the 15th of March last.
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¢ 4th,—That these resolutions, unanimously approved of, be
published three times in the Dublin Evening Post and Sligo Journal.

¢ 5th.—That the thanks of this meeting be given to the High
Sheriff for his cheerful compliance with our request, in convening
the County, and for his polite and candid conduct in the chair.

“ GEoreE DopweLL, Sheriff.”’!

Very similar resolutions were passed at a meeting of *The
Ballina and Ardnaree Volunteers,”” held 28th March, Lt. Robert
Jones in the chair; likewise at a meeting of “ The first Tyreril
True Blues,” held at Collooney, April 1, 1782, the Rev. John
Little in the chair, to which the following was added :—* The
chief wish of our hearts is to clasp our sister nation to our
bosom and cement an indissoluble union between us, attached to
her by every tie of affection and interest that can unite nations;
surrounded as she is by an host of enemies we are resolved to
share her liberty and share her fate.” Owing, however, to the
conduct of the affairs of the Volunteers throughout the king-
dom having fallen unto revolutionary hands, their old leaders
abandoned them.

To prevent disturbances, and with the approbation of most
of the supporters of the constitution of 1782, the regular army
was largely increased, and the militia embodied. The Govern-
ment finally ordered that all meetings of the Volunteers should
be, if necessary, dispersed by force.

Prior to the year 1790, Protestants and Roman Catholics in
Sligo lived on very good terms. Colonel Irwin in his examina-
tion before the Committee of the House of Commons on the
state of Ireland said :—

“I was very much thrown into the society of Roman Catholies.
My father when he was in the Prussian Service acquired a facility of
speaking Latin. He was a very good linguist, and it was a great
gratification to him to get anyone that could speak Latin and foreign
languages, and he used to have the priests, who from their foreign
education possessed that facility, constantly resorting to his house.
Under these circumstances, even though a boy, I was not without
observation, I can say that during that time there was a much greater

! History of Volunteering, 1782, C. H. Wilson.
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cordiality, much greater intercourse and familiarity between the two
soots than exists at this time. The first tone that was given fo
Protestant feeling adverse to the Catholics was in the year 1793 at

the time of the Defenders.”

In the spring of 1794, Sligo was much disturbed by the
« Defenders ’—a secret society amongst the Roman Catholies,
which spread throughout the County with astonishing rapidity—
and at the assizes many were convicted of robbing houses
of arms and of administering unlawful oaths. In consequence
of these outrages the Earl of Carhampton—by instructions
from Government—rvisited Sligo for the purpose of restoring
social order ; the execution of the laws being there impeded by
a system of terror. In most places visited by him he found
that a leader of disturbance, who assumed the feigned name of
Captain Stout, had so greatly intimidated the people of the
neighbourhood, that persons who had sustained injury were
afraid to prosecute, and magistrates were deterred from en-
forcing justice. Some informers had been murdered, and
others dreading the same fate forfeited their recognizances in
order to avoid giving evidence.

An active and intelligent magistrate of the County stated
that the priest of a certain parish in Sligo had advised him to
remain a passive spectator of these outrages, as otherwise he
would be murdered ; and much the same information was given
by Mr. Perceval of Templehouse.

Lord Carhampton found that in the counties which he
visited the laws were inoperative, and that they did not afford
protection to loyal and peaceable subjects, who in most places
were obliged to fly from their habitations; he consequently
resolved to restore order by decisive measures, and in the
fol.lowing year the loyal inhabitants and the Grand Jury of
Sligo thanked Lord Carhampton for his wise and salutary
exertions.

'11.1 the autumn of 1796 Government proposed that—in
addition to the Militia—all loyal subjects should embody
themselves into corps similar to those already formed in
England, and subject to the control of the proper authorities ;
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such was the origin of the yeomanry ; but in order to avoid the
embarrassments which had arisen under the old Volunteer
system, in which the men elected their own officers, the new
yeomanry were commissioned by the Crown.

The mania for military service seized upon all ranks and
classes amongst the Protestant population; in some rare
instances clergymen so far forgot their position as to accept
commissions in the yeomanry, but as was well remarked by a
contemporaneous writer “a clergyman, alternately arrayed in
the surplice of a parson and the uniform of an officer, may
very innocently transpose his spiritual and temporal functions,
become pastoral in the field and pugnacious in the pulpit.”
The yeomanry, however, which consisted almost entirely of
Protestants, wrung from a reluctant witness the admission that
during the subsequent rebellion of 1798 they distinguished
themselves ““ by steadiness, bravery, and perseverance.”” These
bodies of armed men, varying in number and military organi-
zation, were styled “District Corps,” and as regards the County
Sligo the following is a complete list of the officers of the three
infantry and four cavalry corps first raised :—

Barnymore INFANTRY : —

Rank. Name. Date of Commission.
Captain, 3 . James Bridgeham, . 31st Oct.1796
1st Lieutenant, . Richard Gethin, : oF "
2nd Lieutenant, . James Motherwell, . 3 -

CARBERRY CAVALRY :—!

Captain, . . Owen Wynne, . . 8lst Oct. 1796

1st Lieutenant, . Andrew Parke, . 1 % et

2nd Lieutenant, . Robert Manley, . s L 3
Corran, Liney, anp CooraviN CavALRY :—

Captain, . . Charles O’Hara,. . 8lst Oct. 1796

1st Licutenant, . Harloe Knott, . : i o

2nd Lieutenant, . Owen Phibbs, . T o it

! The command of a corps of yeomanry appears to have entailed some
considerable expense, if the following extract from The Sligo Journal be an
example of the usual custom of the day: ‘“On Tuesday last (18th July,
1797), the troop of Carbery Cavalry were most elegantly entertained at
dinner by their esteemed commander at Hazelwood.”












MILITARY HISTORY OF SLIGO. 15

abled; the regiment was favourably mentioned in the General’s
despatches as follows :—

“To the determined spirit with which these columns were con-
ducted, and the great gallantry of the troops, we are indebted for the
short resistance of the rebels, who maintained their ground obstinately
for about one hour and a-half, but on perceiving the danger of being
surrounded they fled with great precipitation. Their loss is not yet
ascertained, but it must be very considerable ; the loss on our part is
not great, the particulars of which I shall report as soon as possible.
In the meantime I am sorry to say that Lt. Sandys of the Longford
Regiment is killed, and that Colonel King of the Sligo was wounded in
gallantly leading his Regiment.’’?

¢ While Vinegar Hill, which formed a very strong outpost to the
town of Wexford, was attacked and carried by advanced columns of the
army, another strong detachment, under the command of Brigadier-
General Moore (of which it is stated some Sligo yeomanry corps formed
a portion) penetrated on another side, and enclosing the rebels, who
attempted to make their escape, pushed as far as Wexford and took
post in a situation which commanded the town.”

One of the officers present with the Sligo Regiment at
Vinegar Hill used to recount the circumstances attending his
début into military life, which occurred shortly before that
event. A sergeant, entering the school-room in Sligo, where
he was attending at his lessons, saluted and notified the
adjutant’s request that the youthful ensign should forthwith
join his regiment. The schoolboy thereupon flinging his books
at the head of his pedagogue, rushed out of the class-room,
cheering for the army.

It was probably for the action of Vinegar Hill that the
medal of which Figs. 6 and 7 are full-size representations was
engraved. Obverse.—A harp with crown, above in the rim,
Sr1Go; underneath, MiLitia. Rerverse.—The legend By THE
Ricar HonoraBLE CoroneL King, and in the centre, on a
ribbon, REwarp oF MERIT.

Trade in general, owing to the disturbed state of Society, was
greatly depressed in Sligo: for instance, Henry Hart, of Market-
street, Sligo, in an advertisement in Z%e Slgo Journal, after
enumerating all his wares, states that he would dispose of them

! Letter from General I.ake to Lord Castlereagh.

/
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“ on the lowest terms for ready money only. Heis Pnavoida!oly
obliged to decline delivering any article whatever without being
first paid for, until public credit is in some deg:ree rtastor?d. He
earnestly entreats that those indebted to him will discharge
their respective accounts as soon as possible.” .

This state of affairs did not mend, for, * at a meeting of the
magistrates and principal gentlemen of the COunty.of'Sligo
convened by public notice, T. Ormsby, Esq., High Sheriff, in the
chair, it was ResoLvEn—That we view with the utmost abhor-
rence the savage outrages that have disgraced most of the
Northern Counties, and some other parts of the kingdom, and
are truly sorry to find that proceedings, similar thereto are
creeping into this hitherto peaceable county.”

The gentlemen and landholders of Sligo had prided them-
selves on the peaceable demeanour and respect for the laws which
the people continued to evince, when most other parts of the
kingdom were disturbed by the “ United Irishmen’; the mass
of the people, however, were universally infected with their
doctrines, although they had not yet broken out into acts of
open outrage. In the beginning of 1798, a number of fugitive
Roman Catholic families from the North of Ireland arrived in
Sligo seeking protection, as they alleged, and from their appear-
ance of decency and industry, and their knowledge of the
linen manufacture, they readily obtained an asylum from the
gentlemen of the county. Many of these families spread
themselves over the country, particularly near the sea-coast, and
for some time they demeaned themselves in a peaceable and
industrious manner. They brought with them, however, a
number of prophecies (which they asserted had been delivered by

the ancient Irish bards) foretelling the wars and calamities which

were shortly to take place in the country. These prophecies had
a great effect on the minds of the lower class of people, who were
persuaded that the events predicted must necessarily come to pass.

In point of fact, these northern families owed their expulsion
from Ulster entirely to their violent political opinion and acts,
and on thelanding of the French they pressed forward to receive
arms and ammunition from their new allies, chose leaders among

< s ing
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themselves, and plundered and desolated the houses and property
of their Protestant friends. It is remarkable that these men,
holding in low estimation the courage and abilities of the
Connaught rebels, refused to serve in their ranks, but formed a
separate corps that kept together during the rebellion.

The peasantry of the County of Sligo—at least those of the
Roman Catholic religion—although secretly organized and sworn
to assist the French on their landing, yet, had not that event
taken place, it was generally thought they would not have risen
in rebellion. The gentry and men of property, with few excep-
tions, were Protestants of the Church of England, consequently
loyal and sfrongly affached to the established government:
to these were added respectable farmers (mostly freeholders),
all of whom were tolerably expert in the use of arms, being
generally enrolled in the nearest corps of volunteers or yeomanry.
These two bodies, united by common interest, and roused by the
dangers which surrounded them, would have sufficed to overawe
and restrain an unarmed rabble; the landing, however, of
about one thousand French achieved, almost instantly, what
the “United Irishmen ’ could never have effected. Another
circumstance that contributed to promote the cause of rebellion,
and to connect its votaries by a bond more binding than the
oath of the “ United Irishmen,” was the propagation, among the
Roman Catholics, of the mysteries of the Carmelites. This was
a religious Order said to have been originally instituted for the
advancement of piety and morality, and its members were led to
believe that an admission into the fraternity would ensure their
eternal welfare ; this foundation being laid, it was not difficult
afterwards to persuade them to pay a small sum of money for
its attainment. Each member received a square piece of brown
cloth, on which were inscribed the letters r.u.s. (Jesus kominum
Salvator) ; this, being suspended round the neck with a string
and lying on the shoulder next to the skin, was termed a
scapular. The price of it, on initiation, was to the poorer class
one shilling, and to those who could afford it, higher in pro-
portion to their means. This distinguishing badge of the Order,
having received the priest’s benediction, was supposed capable of

c
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preserving the disciple from outward dangers and injuries, and
also from attacks of the ghostly enemy. The cloth of these

scapulars, which was at first composed of asbestos, possessed the

quality of resisting the effects of fire, and after having received
the priest’s benediction they were committed to the flames,

when to the astonishment of the beholders they remained safe -

and entire; and having undergone this flery ordeal, t]%eir
seemingly supernatural preservation was ascribed to the blessing
of the priest. ; oy

In Sligo the parish priests, either convinced of the utility
of this Order in promoting the cause of religion, or seeing that
the sale of scapulars was profitable, procured a power to
dispose of them. Bags filled with them were sent for sale to
fairs and markets, and these scapulars soon became the sign by
which those of the “true faith ” were to know each other.

At length, on the 22nd of August 1798, occurred the
event so eagerly awaited by the Sligo rebels; three
French frigates appeared in the bay of Killala, County Mayo,
and the landing took place. On the evening of the following
day (August 23rd) the French men of war were in Sligo Bay.

Precautions were at once taken to secure the town. Within
a week six or seven English frigates and a cutter, with 1000
marines on board, were cruising in Sligo Bay ; the cutter put
into Killala and cut out a brig and a sloop, which the French
had left behind for store ships, containing a great quantity of
arms, ammunition, and clothing. There was a smart engage-
ment, and this cutter bore a heavy fire from the enemy ; the
other French vessels were boarded, the crews taken prisoners
and the ships set on fire. ;

On the night of the 3rd of September, General Humbert,
the commander of the French, sent off his baggage and cannon
with some of his troops towards Sligo; on their departure from
Castlebar the French numbered about nine hundred men, with-
out counting their Irish allies. From Swinford they proceeded
towards Bellahy, halting about two miles from that village,
to which they sent an advance guard: thence they proceeded
towards Tubbercurry, and halted within two miles of it.
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The ¢ Corran-Liney and Coolavin cavalry,” stationed there
as a picket, under the command of Captain O’Hara, Member
for the County, advanced to reconnoitre the enemy, and in a
skirmish with them Lieutenant Knott was taken prisoner and
his only son killed; also Captain Russell, of the Prince of
Wales’ Fencibles, was captured by the French at Tubbercurry,
and having been severely wounded died a few days after.

Captain O’Hara sent intelligence to Colonel Vereker at
Sligo that the French were advancing.

Besides the rebels who had marched from Castlebar with
the French, a considerable body of them were sent across the
mountains (from Ballina to Tubbercurry) with eighty Protestant
prisoners ; the distress for food, however, was so great that the
latter were sent back under a rebel guard.

From Tubbercurry the French proceeded to Collooney, and
on their way the Irish pikemen plundered the house of Mr.
Perceval of Templehouse, because he had been active against
the  United Irishmen.”

‘When the French reached the village of Collooney, distant
about six miles from Sligo, the inhabitants of the latter town,
were in the utmost consternation. Sligo contained property to the
amount of at least £200,000; there were in its harbour several
ships, and in its vicinity were twelve well-furnished bleach-
yards. The small force of six-hundred effective men stationed
there was ordered to evacuate it ; however, Colonel Vereker
with a detachment of the city of Limerick Militia and a few
yeomen, the whole not exceeding two hundred and eighty-six
men, with two curricle guns!, marched out, engaged the French
and the rebels, giving them so severe a check, notwithstanding

1 Particulars are here given of the corps engaged in the battle of
Collooney, as taken from The Skgo Journal of 14th Sept. :—

¢ About eleven in the morning, Colonel Vereker of the Limerick Militia
marched hence against them with detachments of the following corps, viz.,
City Limerick Militia, 220 ; Essex Fencibles, 20; Loyal Sligo Infantry, 20;
Bailymote Infantry, 10 ; Drumecliff Infantry, 16—total, 286 : together with
a troop of the 24th Light Dragoons, and detachments from the Tyrerill,
Liney, and Drumeliff troops of Yeomen Cavalry, and only two curricle
guns.”’

Cc2
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their great superiority of numbers, as to deter them from
nearer approach to Sligo, and forced them to proceed towards

Drumahaire. _
The French had with them about nine hundred men, two

hundred and fifty deserters from the Longford and Kilkenny
Militia, together with a numerous body of rebels.

Colonel Vereker’s right was covered by a rising ground,
upon which he posted a few men; on his left was the river.
His men on the hill were outflanked and forced in, and his rear
was attacked, whereupon he was compelled to retreat over the
river. The action began at half-past two, and lasted an hour
and thirty-eight minutes. Of the French twenty-eight were
killed and a great many wounded. After the action the
French grenadiers represented to General Humbert that the
rebels would not support them, and were deserting in great
numbers.

The following is Colonel Vereker’s description of the fight :—

“About nine o’clock that morning (5th September), Captain
O’Hara, of the Liney Yeomen Cavalry, who commanded my advanced
regiment at Tubbercurry, reported to me he had been drove back by
the advanced guard of the enemy, after a smart skirmish, in which he
had one man killed and one wounded. Shortly after I learned that a
division of the French army had arrived at Collooney, with an inten-
tion, as I conceived, of attacking this town (Sligo) and as I judged it
more advisable to attack them than to wait to be attacked, I marched
out with two hundred and fifty of the Limerick City Militia, two cur-
ricle guns, twenty of the Essex Fencibles, thirty Yeomen Infantry, and
a troop of the Twenty-fourth Light Dragoons. On coming near Collooney
I found the enemy at the side of the town, ready to receive me. I
accordingly ordered Major Ormsby, with one-hundred men, to occupy
a hill which covered my right, my left being protected by a river.
I then moved in close to the enemy, and a very severe action com-
menced, which lasted near an hour-and-a-half. At length the very
superior numbers of the enemy enabled them to outflank the division
on my right, and oblige them to fall back; and then perceiving the
enemy making a disposition to surround me, and my ammunition being
nearly expended, a retreat became absolutely necessary. From the
unfortunatf) circumstance of one of the artillery horses being shot
when putting to, which created much confusion, we were obliged to
leave our guns behind; however, as the ammunition waggon and all
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the harness were brought off, they were rendered useless to the enemy,
as appears by their not taking them with them. Our loss in this
action, considering we had the whole of the French and Rebel army

~ to contend with, was less than might have been expected, there

having been only one officer and six rank and file killed, and five officers
and twenty-two rank and file wounded ; the loss on the side of the
French, by their own account, was about twenty killed and about
thirty wounded ; fourteen very badly, were brought in here, four of
whom have since died in the hospital. There must have been also a
number of rebels killed and wounded, which we could not ascertain.
I have great pleasure in expressing my entire approbation of the
conduct of the officers and soldiers on this occasion; to Lieutenant-
Colonel Gough I have to return my warmest thanks for the very
great zeal and spirit displayed by him ; to Major Ormsby, my thanks
are justly due; as also to Captain Waller, of the Limerick Militia,
who with his light company was extremely active. I have likewise
to express my obligations to Captain Slicer, of the Royal Irish
Artillery, for his conduct in the action, and his great exertions, under
very heavy fire to bring off his guns, as well as to Captain Whistler
of the Twenty-fourth Light Dragoons, who with great bravery met
the charge of the French Cavalry and obliged them to retire. I have
great satisfaction to think that although we were obliged to retreat,
the object of the action was attained, namely, that of saving the town,
as from the acknowledgment of the French Officers it was their inten-
tion to have attacked it, but from the check they got, and thinking we
would not have gone out to meet them if not supported in our rear they
changed their direction.
¢ (Signed), * CHARLES VEREKER,
‘¢ Colonel, Limerick City Regiment.

‘¢ Sr1eo, September 30th, 1798.”

Colonel Vereker in this despatch omitted to mention how
his retreat was covered by Sligo men, but for whose exertions
the cavalry would have been annihilated. The following
incident, well known at the time, and still current amongst the
Protestant population about Collooney, is thus detailed in The
Sligo Journal of 14th September: ¢ Pressed in the above action
by an army so much superior to ours, nothing could exceed
the service rendered by Mr. Archibald Armstrong, who at the
head of thirty-two men (yeoman infantry), had taken so
advantageous a position that the retreat of the cavalry was
effectually secured.”
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As may be seen from the petition given beneath', Captain
Armstrong had subsequently a very active military career.
The fact of his having been the means of covering the retreat
of the cavalry and the Limerick Militia was a well-recognized
fact, and he succeeded in obtaining a commission for his son on
these grounds.

A silver medal was subsequently struck by the Corporation
of Limerick for presentation to their City Regiment to com-
memorate this engagement. It is 1:55 inches in diameter,
bearing on the obverse the arms of Limerick, with the legend
CorporaTiON AND CiTizEns oF Limerick. On the reverse a
Royal Crown, within olive wreaths, and the legend To THE
Herozs oF CoLoonEy, 5T SEPT., 1798 ; in small letters is the
name of the artist, 7. e. BRusa. At top was a small perforated
projection for a ring by which it could be suspended (Figs. 8 & 9).

14¢ To the R1eET HONORABLE GENERAL LorD HILL, Commander-in- Chief,
G.C.B., C.H. & K.C., &e. &e.

¢“The Memorial of ARCHIBALD ArMsTRONG, late Captain of the 71st
Regiment,

¢‘Most HoMBLY SHOWETH,—That your Memorialist at a very early period
of his life manifested a strong predilection for His Majesty’s service, having
in the year 1798, at the head of an armed party of the loyal inhabitants of
the town and neighbourbood of Collooney, in eo-operation with the troops
under the command of Colonel Vereker (now Lord Gort), succeeded in gaining
the ﬂ‘ank of General Humbert’s corps, and in checking by their tire the
enemies’ attack upon the King’s troops, at Collooney, on the 5th of September,
1798.

“Thatin May, 1801, your Memorialist purchased a commission in the 7T1st
Reglfnent, succeeded to a Lieutenancyin 1803, and served under the command
of Llelft,enant-General Sir D. Bairdin the reduction of the Cape of Good
Hope, in January, 1806, and served under the command of General Lord
VlscouPt Beresford in the capture of Buenos Ayres, &e. &c. &e.

_ " Your Memorialist humbly, but confidently hopes that your Lordship
.w111 be please:*d to take his long and active services of 20 years and 6 months
mto‘ your kind consideration, and recommend his son Archibald for an
Eunsign’s Commission in a Regiment of the line.

* And your Memorialist will for ever most gratefully pray.

‘“ ARCHIBALD ARMSTRONG,
“ Late Captain T1st Regiment, and Chief Constable

‘¢ STRABANE, or Sub-Inspector.

“10th February, 1840.”

S ——
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Completely checked by the resistance which they had so
unexpectedly encountered, the French abandoned the idea of
advancing on Sligo, and leaving Collooney, marched towards
Drumahaire.!

About three o’clock in the afternoon on the day of the
battle at Collooney, some country people entered the town of
Sligo and announced that the troops had been beaten, and the
French were advancing; on which intelligence many Protestant
women together with some few men embarked in the ships;
those, however, who were capable of bearing arms, to the
number of about three hundred, resolved to defend the town,
and were joined by a number of Methodists, headed by their
preacher, Albert Blest. The troops who had remained behind
under command of Colonel Sparrow occupied the most advan-
tageous posts in the approaches leading to the town, and they
continued under arms all night.

On Thursday, the 6th September, the officer in command
of the troops in Sligo ordered a retreat on Ballyshannon, and he
was accompanied by a majority of the respectable inhabitants.
The town was thus left at the mercy of the French and the
insurgents, but was re-occupied again on Friday, the 7th.

“ During the above anxious period,” remarks the Editor of
The Sligo Journal, * all here was silent as the night, no business
of any kind done, and nothing was seen in our streets save a
few, a very few, citizens, who with a holy fear kept a desultory
watch. We printed not ; for what had we to say ? or to whom
publish our tale of woe ?”

In pursuit of the French, General Lake arrived at Bellahy,
where he was informed that they had passed on, more than
fourteen hours before. About seven o’clock that evening he
reached Tubbercurry, where he encamped, and remained
some hours. He was there joined by Colonel Crawford.
General Lake marched from Tubbercurry to Collooney, heard
there of the action, and found a number of French killed,

1 The Dublin Evening Post, 28th October, 1798, contains an address
from the High Sheriff and Grand Jury of the County Sligo, complimenting
all concerned in the action at Collooney on their conduct on that occasion.
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and also some wounded who were under the care of a French
surgeon. At Collooney a deserter from the Longford Regiment
was recognized by some of the advance guard and shot.

Numbers of dead or dying men were found along the road,
having been killed by the corps of light dragoons, who formed
the reconnoitering party; and the French had been so hard
pressed in the pursuit that, about a mile from Collooney, they
left on the road two pieces of cannon, and threw five more into
the river at Drumahaire. On the night of the 7th of September,
General Lake encamped at Ballintogher, between Drumahaire
and Collooney, and on the 8th the surrender of the French at
Ballynamuck® ended the actual warfare.

General Lake received in Collooney some curious particulars
relative to the French troops, it being stated that their officers
declared themselves to have been grossly deceived : “they had
expected to be joined by the whole power of the country, i. e.
by an organized and disciplined army, who only required to be
put in motion to ensure success. Instead of this, they found
only a barbarous undisciplined mob, the refuse of the country,
unfit for action, and incapable of order ; ferocious towards their
allies, and discordant amongst themselves.”

It may be well to state here what occurred in Tireragh,

! Subjoined is the nominal roll of the principal French officers captured
at Ballynamuck, as given in the columns of The Sligo Journal, 1t is of

interest, as all enumerated must have been present at the prior engagement
of Collooney :—

\ “ Humbert, General en Chef; Thibault, Payeur; Sarazin, Gen. de Divi-
sion; Puton, Aide-de-Camp; Fontaine, Gen. de Brigade ; Laferure, Chef
de Brigade attaché, a L’Etat Major; Dufour, do. do.; Aulty, Chef de
Battalion ; Demanche, do. ; Touissaint, do.; Babin, do. ; Silbermon, do. ;
Menou, Commissaire Ordonnateur; Framair, do. ; Brillier, Commissaire de
Guerre ; Moreau, Capitaine Wagnemestre Gen. ; Ardouin, Chef de Brigade ;
Serve, Chef de Battalion ; Hais, do.; Machaud, do.; Brand et Massonet
Officiers de Santé. 4

“Bepapitulation :—Sous Officiers 96; Grenadiers 78 ; Fusiliers 440 ;

Carabiniers 33; Chasseurs 60; Cannoniers 41—total 746 ; Officiers 96.

Total, 842, §
“Certifié par le Chef de Brigade,

“P, ArDOUIN.”
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and the following account is principally derived from letters
written by persons who had been actually eye-witnesses of the
incidents narrated. :

‘When the French marched from Killala on Ballina, some
resistance was made at the bridge which spans the Moy by a
few volunteers; but many of these were Roman Catholics, and
on the appearance of the French they immediately bolted.

The Protestant inhabitants of the barony dreaded not only
the approach of the French, but likewise the cruelty of the
rebels; and aware also of there being no troops of any kind on
the line from Ballina to Sligo, they fled to the latter place for
protection. Many Protestant farmers were seen retreating on
foot, driving their cattle and sheep before them, and conveying
on carts their wives and children and such of their goods as
they could conveniently remove.

The Protestant clergy were also compelled to fly precipitately ;
the persecution levelled against them had not been confined to
imprisonment of their persons and destruction of their houses
and property, but was even extended to the demolition of their
churches, from which all carpenter work was removed, and the
books found in them wantonly torn. Amongst the churches
most damaged were those of Lackan, Easky, Killmacteige, and
Enniscrone. Of the latter they tore up the flooring, demolished
the pews and communion table, rifled the tombs, and desecrated
the remains of the dead.

In this work of destruction the Sligo insurgents were aided
by those of Mayo. All the houses of the gentry were plundered;
some were even demolished. The principal sufferers were Mr.
Nesbitt of Scurmore, Mr. Fenton of Easky, Mr. Brown of Fort-
land, Mr. Grove, rector of Kilmacshalgan, Mr. Charles and
Mzr. Robert Jones, the Messrs. Wood, and several others.

James Crofton of Longford was absent from his residence,
but his father, an aged but very resolute man, refused to leave,
even after being informed that the rebels purposed to visit the
house. The old man, who was bedridden, caused his couch to
be placed across the front door, and informed his assailants that
if they entered it should be across his body. They replied that
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it was his son they “ wanted,” and he not being at home, they
left the father unmolested.

Tt was probably the same party of rebels who took possession
of the house of a gentleman resident in the immediate neighbour-
hood, but who had gone to Sligo on the capture of Ballina by
the French. The cattle grazing in the demesne were slaughtered,
huge fires lighted, and the operation of cooking performed al
firesco. The rebel leaders regaled themselves upon the contents of
the cellar, and one of the soldiers seeing that the officers drank
the best of everything, thought the men should have a share,
and saluting Colonel O’Dowd, a descendant of the O’Dowds of
Tireragh, he suggested that the men also should get a drink, but
before O’Dowd could make any reply another officer told the
man to take the water cart down to the stream and fill it, and
that it would hold more than the men would require. The retort
of the embryo soldier was worthy of the occasion, ¢ I’m entirely
obliged to you, sir,” said he, “ but if we're always to be soles,
and ye uppers, we’d as lief have gone on serving King George.”

Some Protestants on the coast put out to sea in boats in order
to avoid the excesses of the rebels; some fled to the mountains
and hid in caves, whilst others lay in the cornfields and were

! The strange career of Henry Crofton, an ancestor of the Sligo family
of that name, may be of interest : * Henry Crofton was attainted by William
IIL., and ﬂgd to Spain, where he joined some order of the Roman Catholic
Church. His attainder being subsequently reversed, he returned to Ireland,
professed to be a Protestant, so very decided a Protestant indeed that he
wrote a controversial book styled the ¢ Key to Popery.” Becoming dissatis-
fied, however, he returned to Spain, and to his former creed, but again
relapsed, and finally in Spain was burned as a heretic. ’

o Interest in the Stuart cause would seem to have survived in the
family 'long after the decease of the volatile Henry Crofton, for James,
sgn of Sir Malby Qrofton, married the grand-daughter of Archibald Cameron
(brother of Lochiel), the last of the long list of victims to their devotion to
the. v'vorthless Stuarts. Archibald Cameron had fled to France, and after
;esxdmg there many years, returned to his native country, imagining that all
tztllsr;vtzz thhven over, as the presence of other well-known Jacobites had been
< h) the Government: However, for some reason which has not been
A ged, he was arrested, tried, and condemned. The authorities would not
histen to any appeal, though his wife, it is stated, was allowed a personal
lnterview with George 11., who refused to reprieve him.”
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almost starved. A letter from Mrs. Jones, describing her escape
from Ardnaree, conveys a graphic idea of these disturbed times.
She managed with difficulty to escape with her four children
and some other refugees; all the servants had joined the
rebels. It was not without dangers and adventures that she
made her way to Fortland, the residence of her uncle, Mr.
Brown, who had just abandoned the house. She then left for
Tanregoe, the seat of her brother, Colonel Irwin, who was at
that time in Wexford, with the Sligo Militia. Here she
learned that the bridge of Ballydrihed was being broken down,
and that Ballysadare was in possession of the rebels; there-
fore the only way of escape was by water; so affer tacking to
and fro, and the water dashing over them in the boat, they were
at last landed at the sand-banks, from whence they proceeded on
foot to Ballydrihed—which was then in possession of Captain
James Wood’s corps of yeomanry—and continued their course to
Sligo.

General Trench and Lord Portarlington agreed to attack
Killala simultaneously, the former advancing on it from the
south, the latter from the north. Lord Portarlington marched
from Sligo on the 21st September, with his own and the Queen’s
County Regiment, a detachment of the 24th Dragoons, the
Tireragh Yeomen Infantry, commanded by Captain James
Wood, and the Tireragh Yeoman Cavalry under Captain Ormsby ;
the whole amounting to about 800 men, with two pieces of
cannon. They halted the first night at Arkill Lodge, where the
rebels approached, but made no attack. On the night of the
22nd, however, when encamped at Scurmore, they were attacked
by a numerous body of insurgents commanded by Henry
O’Keon and Mr. Barret, but they were soon routed with a loss
of about 200 killed, amongst them being some Protestants whom
the rebels had forced to the front in order to draw the fire of
the troops upon them, and who, when the rebels broke and fled,
fell in the indiscriminate slaughter of the pursuit. The rebel
leader, John M‘Donnough, by whose order these innocent people
had been driven to their death, was captured a few days after-
wards and hanged.
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The next morning, i.e. the 23rd September, Ballina was
occupied by Captain 0’Hara’s, Captain Wynne’s, and Captain
Crofton’s corps of yeomanry, which formed portion of the force
under command of Major General Trench ; these, together with
the two Tireragh corps, assisted in the recapture of Killala.
Towards the close of the year (October 27) four French frigates
and a man-of-war made their appearance off the Sligo Coast.
This news was brought in by the Fox cutter, which escaped under
a heavy fire distinctly heard in the streets of Sligo, and the
excitement  put a stop to all trade for this market day. Colonel
Gough, commanding the garrison, ordered the troops to be in
readiness to march at a moment’s notice.” These vessels were
probably connected with the abortive descent of Napper Tandy
on the Rosses in Donegal.

The following were the committee of Sligo magistrates ap-
pointed by Government to inquire into losses sustained owing
to the excesses of the insurgents, and to decide on the claims
of each applicant :—Arthur Irwin, W. Harloe Phibbs, Rev.
Messrs. Duke, Cullen, and West.

£15,769 14s. 9d. was claimed by the « Suffering Loyalists ”’
of the County Sligo for their losses sustained in the rebellion
of 1798, and which amount was laid before the Commissioners
appointed by Act of Parliament for compensating them. The
total for all Ireland was £823,517 6s. 4d.

It is difficult to make out with any exactness the total
sum allowed by the Commissioners in the County Sligo for
these claims, for although there are printed lists, which appear
to have been presented to Parliament, still amongst the papers
on this subject preserved in the Record Office, supplemental
grants seem to have been frequently made. The proceedings
have in almost every instance been recorded, and will, for any
person interested in the subject, repay perusal. (See Appen-
dix B.)

The yeomanry had been found of such use during the
rebellion that they were continued, by Act of Parliament, as a
permanent military force—but except called out for regular
service, not subject to the articles of war.
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The same difficulty that is sometimes experienced in England
with the volunteers, in regard to the recovery of the arms,
accoutrements, and appointments of men who refused to sur-
render them, was also felt by officers commanding yeomanry
corps in Ireland; but by the Act 42 Geo. III., &ec., any member
of a corps when discharged, if he neglected to hand over his kit
thereby rendered himself liable to a penalty of £10.

It seems to have been a popular force, for in the year 1828
there were in the County Sligo 528 yeomen. The honour of
belonging to the body must have been the principal attraction,
for in consequence of the change of currency which took place
in Ireland from 5th January, 1826, their pay was as follows :—

Pay of permanent sergeant, 114 per diem.

Pay of permanent drummer, 932 per diem.

Inspection pay of the non-commissioned officers and privates 114

for each day of Inspection. In case the corps was employed outside
the county, the rate of pay was allowed in English currency.

The permanent sergeants were generally old soldiers—for
instance, William Carter, who for many years was non-com-
missioned officer of “The County of Sligo Light Infantry,”
had previously served nearly four years in the Militia, was
present at Vinegar Hill, had then volunteered into the 35th
Foot, had been through the Egyptian and other campaigns,
and had spent nearly 20 years of his life entirely on foreign
service.

In 1805 the strength of the yeomanry was much increased.
Bridgeham, from Captain of the Ballymote Infantry, was in
1799 appointed Brigade-Major in command of the following
corps :—

Abraham Martin, . Capt. 1st Company, Sligo Loyal Volunteers.
Alexander Hume, . » 2nd 7 " ”

J. Everard, . ] ,y Srd » % -
Samuel Bulteel, . Capt. Sligo Revenue Infantry.
Charles Martin, . Capt. Sligo Union Infantry.

Thomas Ormsby, . Capt. Sligo Light Infantry.

Owen Wynne, . Capt. Carbury Cavalry.

T. Soden, . . Capt. Drumecliff Infantry.

John Wood, . . Capt. Templeboy Infantry.
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James Crofton, . Capt. County Sligo Infantry.

Richard Wood, . Capt. Tireragh Infantry.

James Morton, . Capt. Ardnaree Infantry.

Charles Jones, . Capt. 8. T. Infantry. :

J. Irwin, 3 . Capt. 1st Company E. T. Supplementaries.
Charles O’Hara, . Capt. Corran and Liney Cavalry.

Richard Gethin, . Capt. Ballymote Infantry.
John Workman, . Capt. Tirerrel Cavalry. /
J. Johnston, . . Capt. Ballintogher Supplementaries.

The discipline of the various corps appears to have been
excellent, and judging by the accounts and pay sheets, the
interior economy was good; quarterly returns had to be sent
to the War Office, and strict orders were enforced against the
yeomen joining any procession or playing any party tunes,
more especially on the 12th of July.

The corps appear to have been regularly inspected by a
Brigade-Major of yeomanry, specially appointed for that duty,
as subjoined will show :—

«The following corps of yeomanry of the County Sligo were
inspected by Major Crawford and Colonel Hale of the 23rd Regiment,
at Dromore West on the 13th January, 1831 :—1'HE EASKEY AND
Casrrerown, under Captain Fenton; Tre TrempLEBOY, under Captain
Grove.

“At Sligo on the 14th January, TrE Stieo Loyar, under Captain
James Wood ; TaE Stico Uwion, under Captain C. Martin; Tur
Drouxcrrrre, under Captain John Wynne, M.P.

“At Collooney, on the same date, THE TIrERA6E AND TEMPLEHOUSE, °
under Captain Richard Wood ; Tae Counry Stico Lovar INrANTRY,!
under Major O’Hara?; Tue Coorer’s HiLr, under Capt. A. B. Cooper;
TrE BarrymorE, under Lord Kirkwall.

¢ Colonel Hale expressed himself highly pleased at the appearance
and discipline of the several Corps.”

The yeomanry seem to have been compulsorily reduced
circa 1834 ; the permanent sergeants and buglers were discon-
tinued, and they were disbanded shortly afterwards.

' 18t August, 1820.—Malby Crofton was 1st Lieutenant on the 29th
January, 1831.  John Armstrong was gazetted 2nd Captain, and Meredith

Thompson, Jun., to be 1st Lieutenant, vice Crofton, appointed Chief
Constable of Police.

? Appointed in 1819,



MILITARY HISTORY OF SLIGO. 31

The Militia would seem to have been permanently em-
bodied, from the close of 1792 to the middle of the year 1814.
Entries in the Vestry-books of the Union of St. John’s demon-
strate the fact that, in order to keep up the Regiment to its
full strength, money had to be levied on the various districts.
On this subject, the following extracts may prove of interest:—

¢ Resorvep.—That the sum of forty pounds nineteen shillings
sterl. be applotted and levied off the Union at large, and paid to the
Col. of the Sligo Militia for the purpose of procuring the Quota of
men to be added to s’ Regt. according to Act Parl®. £40 19s. 04.”
7th April, 1798.

At a vestry meeting held in St. John’s Church on the
10th December, 1807 —

¢ For the purpose of taking into consideration the best and most
effectual Mode to raise the Quota of men (33) for the County of Sligo
Militia, appertained on these Parishes pursuant to Act of Parliament,
the Minister, Churchwardens and Parishioners being present ; Resolved,
that the steps necessary to make out Lists of the persons to be
balloted to serve in the County Militia be immediately taken and
such lists forthwith made out according to Law.”

Again, in the year 1812, this entry occurs—
“To am*. of Militia money pd. Cap*. Tyler, £112 12s. 34."

The pay of privates was a shilling per diem, and a penny
for beer money ; they were obliged to pay for 5 lbs. of meat a
week ; some eat bread, some ¢ stirabout,” and some potatoes,
the quantity used of the last being four stone per week. The
following was the scale per week for each private at the time
the Regiment was quartered at Cahir, in the year 1808 :—

¢¢5 1bs. of meat at 4d. ; 4 stones of potatoes at 13d.; washing 44.,
barrack cook 1d.; total 2s. 7d. Any other food depended on the
individual taste of the men; some of them drank beer. One suit of
clothes per annum was supplied by the Colonel at a cost of £2 10s. ;
the men provided their own lodgings, received 44. per diem as
marching money or if sent on escort duty.”

Almost immediately after its embodiment in 1793, the

Sligo Regiment was moved to the South of Ireland, and was
replaced in December, 1794, by the Clare Militia. After its
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campaign in the South of Ireland, it was marched to Dundalk ;
whilst from the 12th July to 28th August, 1807, it was at
« Clonoony,” and the following year it was stationed at Cashel
under the command of Colonel Irwin. In 1810 it was at
Limerick—it then mustered 609 rank and file—a large comple-
ment, if the number be taken into consideration that were
constantly volunteering for active service.

Volunteering—so called—was very probably stimulated by
bounties and by money paid to the men by officers who were
desirous of entering the line, as an officer bringing a certain
number of men with him was granted a Commission.

Whilst stationed in the South of Ireland, the light com-
panies of the militia regiments there quartered were formed
into a temporary brigade, and the light companies of the Sligo
Militia composed a portion of it.

Major-General H. T. Montresor, commanding the troops in
Limerick, reported of the Sligo Regiment as follows :—

¢ Liverick, 21st May, 1811.

¢ The exemplary conduct of the Sligo Regiment in this Garrison
vies with their steadiness in the field.”

Shortly after, the Sligoes were ordered to embark for
England ; and with the object of reconciling the married men
to the change, they were ail allowed to be accompanied by
their wives and families without restriction as regards numbers;
and provisions as well as accommodation were allotted to them
on board the transports.

‘Whilst in England the Sligo Militia appears to have borne
a high reputation.

¢ BrreapE ORDERS.

¢ CaeLMsrorp, 9tk Oct., 1813.

¢Colonel Hutchinson has experienced extreme regret in having
this forenoon received official directions, not less unwelcome to him-
self individually, than he can with safety take upon him to assert to
thfa Garrison in general, for.the removal of the Sligo Regiment from
this station. The Colonel, having since the first of May last enjoyed
the greatest possible satisfaction, added to the komour of having the

S B e ===
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Sligo under his command, cannot in justice to his own conviction as
well as to their acknowledged merits suffer a corps so conspicuously
distinguished for its military characteristics of high discipline in the
field, and interior economy and regularity in quarters, to depart with-
out attempting to solicit their kind acceptance of his best thanks,
accompanied by every assurance of the lasting sentiments of esteem,
regard, and respect, in which their conduct has always entitled them
personally and professionally to be remembered.”

When leaving their quarters in Northamptonshire they
received equal commendation.

¢ BrigapE ORDERs.

¢ Gteneral Williams has great pleasure in expressing the satisfac-
tion he has received from the uniform good conduct of the Sligo
Regiment during the period it has been under his command, and the
Major-General desires to offer his thanks to Major O’Hara for the
unremitting zeal and ability with which he has commanded the Regi-
ment. His acknowledgments are likewise due to Major Sir James
Crofton and the other officers of the Regiment for their zealous per-
formance of their duties.”

A curious little diary kept by one of the officers is still
in existence, and describes the various places the regiment
marched through on its way to Bristol, for embarkation to
Limerick—.e., Oundle, Fotheringay, Kettering, Wellings-
borough, Northampton, Towcester, Brackley, Stow, &e.

In 1814, at the conclusion of the European War, all Militia
Battalions were dishanded; the Sligoes had been nineteen
years embodied, and evidently must have well deserved the
compliments paid them :—

¢ Districr OBDER.
¢ LiMERICK, October Tth, 1814.

“The County of Sligo Militia having received Routes to march
towards that county for the purpose of being disembodied, Colonel
Armstrong cannot permit a corps that has so many claims on his
attention and esteem to quit this District without endeavouring to
express the high sense which he entertains of the ardent zeal and
distinguished ability with which the Military duties of the Regiment
have been uniformly conducted. To the Field Officers and Captains
the greatest praise is due; their excellent conduct and example as

D
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gentlemen and soldiers could not fail of producing among aEll classes
of the corps that steady attention to professional reputa‘.mon, ‘that
happy unanimity, and genuine cordiality, which have invariably

characterized their conduct. . : S ]
"« Qolonel Armstrong therefore feels sincere satisfaction in tendering

to all the Officers of the Sligo his warmest acknowledgments and
best wishes for their future welfare and happiness, and he requests
that Major O'Hara will be pleased to communicate to the non-com-
missioned officers and private men of that corps his perfect appro-
bation of their good discipline, steadiness, and intelligence which have
marked their conduct on all occasions, and particularly on duties of

detachment.”

The Militia formed a valuable aid to the service all through
the struggle with France; they had been constantly under
arms, and in a speech in the House of Commons in 1813 Lord
Castlereagh thus alludes to their services :—

«We could not have kept possession of Portugal, or have sent
forces to co-operate in the deliverance of the Peninsula at large; and
Parliament ought always therefore to bear in recollection that it is to
the Militia we owe the character we at present enjoy in military
Europe, and that without this Militia we could not have shown that
face which we have done in the Peninsula.”

The first mention that can be found of change in desig-
pation of the Sligo Regiment is in 1843, where (under the
heading of “Disembodied Militia”), it is described as the 124th,
instead of the 22nd Light Infantry.

On the 8th February, 1855, the Regiment was embodied,
and it then appeared as a rifle corps, the Charter-school House
being used as a temporary barracks. The regiment was shortly
after moved to Longford : and on the 25th August, 1856, it
was disembodied. In the year 1877 it was compulsorily trans-

! An old army pensioner named Allen Armstrong and his wife received
in the year 1855 a cheque for £19 on a Sligo Bank from the Private Secre-
tary of the Emperor Napoleon. Armstrong had served 30 years in the army,
and was stationed at St. Helena when Napoleon was confined there, and for
a length of time his wife acted in the capacity of washerwoman to the
Emperor. This fact being brought under the notice of Napoleon III., by a
Memorial, the above remittance was theresult. Armstrong served in eleven
battles against Napoleon I., and by a strange chance received a gratuity
from his successor.—The Sligo Champion, 28th April, 1855.
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formed into an Artillery Brigade, the officers being allowed no
compensation for the change of uniform. At that period it
was styled “8th Brigade (Duke of Connaught’s Own) North-
Irish Division, R.A.” Its present designation is “The Duke
of Connaught’s Own Sligo Artillery, South Division, R.A.”
The want of sufficient Barrack accommodation in the town
causes the Militia now to go through their course of annual
training under canvas at Rosses’ Point—four miles distant.

Appendix C contains a list of Officers of the Co. Sligo
Regiment, showing the rank last held by each, from the year
1793 to 1890.

Shortly after the permanent embodiment of the Militia,
in 1793, “Governors of the County Sligo” were appointed.
Colonel Irwin, in 1828, stated before a Committee of the
House of Commons, that the particular duties of the Governors
of a County in Ireland were connected with the Militia of that
County; “I may confidently say,” he continued, “that if I had
not been appointed Colonel of the Regiment, I should not have
been appointed a Governor of the County.” In 1801 the
Governors were—the Rt. Hon. J. Cooper, Charles O’Hara,
Owen Wynne, Esquires, and the Rt. Hon. H. King. It
appears also as if any one of these Governors could either him-
self appoint, or recommend the appointment of Magistrates, and
one of the changes suggested by Colonel Irwin in his evidence
as above quoted was, that only one person in each County should
have that power ; afterwards an Act of the 1 & 2 William IV.
confines the power to the Lieutenant of the County. As regards
the Militia, although the appointment to a first Commission is
still his prerogative, yet if he fail to nominate within a specified
time, the power then lapses to the Officer Commanding the
Regiment. Her Majesty’s Lieutenant and Cusfos Rotulorum
for County Sligo is Lt.-Col. Edward Henry Cooper, of Markree
Castle, appointed 1877. The Deputy-Lieutenants, fourteen in
number, are ;:—

Crofton, Sir Malby, Bart.; Duke, R. A.; Ffolliott, Lt.-Col. John ;
Gore-Booth, Sir Henry W., Bart. ; Gore, Lt.-Col. Sir CharlesJ. Knox,
Bart.; Harlech, Lord ; Irwin, Burton; Knox, Utred A.; O’Hara, C.

D2
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W.: MacDermot, The; Palmer, Major-General Sir Roger W H.,

Bart,:.; Phibbs, Owen ; ‘Wood-Martin, Lt.-Col. W. G. ; Wynne, Owen.

In the month of June, 1860 —despite the Foreign Enlist-
ment Act—about one hundred aspirants for military fame—
being of all ages and sizes—embarked on board t'he steamship
« 8ligo,” en route for Rome, their purpose being to act as
soldiers for Pope Pius IX.; they do not appear to have fared
t00 well in Italy, for their wretched condition forms the topic
of leading articles in newspapers of the period; and in No-
vember of the same year several of these volunteers arrived in
Sligo, having been conveyed home by the liberality of the
British Government, to whom they had appealed for aid in
their difficulties.

In 1867, at about 1 a.m., 27th April, the Chief Boatman in
charge of Streedagh Station arrested a stranger, who gave un-
satisfactory answers to his inquiries, and about two hours after-
wards two men—also strangers to the locality—were found,
lying wounded, on the beach. These men were supposed to
have been landed by a brigantine of very suspicious appearance,
which at that period was cruising in Sligo Bay, with a crew
of fifty hands. .

In 1856 the Admiralty first took charge of the Coast-
guard, which in Sligo consists of two divisions, under Divisional
Officers ; the headquarters of the first being at Rosses’ Point,
and the second at Pullendiva. The Sligo Division has (within
the County), the following stations :—Rosses’ Point, with a
Divisional Officer and seven men; Raughley, a Chief Boat-
man and five men ; Mullaghmore, a Chief Officer and eight
men. From this place three men are detached to Bally-
shannon, in the County Donegal. The Pullendiva Division
has (in the County Sligo), the following stations:—At Derk-
more, 8 Chief Boatman and four men; at Pullendiva, a Divi-
sional Officer and six men; at Pullocheny, a Chief Boatman
and four men ; at Enniscrone, a Chief Boatman and five men.



CHAPTER XVIIL

POLITICAL HISTORY OF THE COUNTY AND BOROUGH OF SLIGO.

HE early members of Parliament for the County
. ’ \ Sligo call for little remark. From the Revolution
&@ of 1688, the Gores, Wingfields, Morgans, Cootes,
g and Ormsbys held sway, until the advent of the
e ‘Wynnes, who appear to have retained—with but two
% short intervals—one seat in the County, together with
the two seats in the Borough, from 1727 to 1790.

In 1695 Arthur Cooper, of Markree, a defeated candidate,
petitioned against the return of Wingfield and Morgan, alleg-
ing that he was duly elected instead of Morgan. In 1703
William Ormsby petitioned against the return made by the
Sheriff who had declared the above two gentlemen again duly
elected. - In 1719 Joshua Cooper claimed a seat instead of
Francis Ormsby as returned by the Sheriff. In 1776 Mr.
‘Wynne declined to nominate' William Ormsby, of Willowbrook,

! Nominees of patrons of Boroughs were expected to vote as the patron
directed ; but some members of the old Irish Parliament were not exempt
from political inconsistency. Curran, a great stickler for purity, offered a
good example. ¢ He first entered the House of Commons in Dublin as the
nominee of Mr. Longfield, who was subsequently Lord Longueville. Curran
sat for Kilbeggan ; but he stipulated that his action should be entirely un-
shackled, and that the patron of the Borough should not presume to influence
his vote. Mr. Longfield, looking upon the stipulation as a formality for the
ease of Curran’s conscience, consented. A time came, however, when the
nominee’s vote highly displeased the patron, and a quarrel ensued. Curran
could not resign his seat, for Irish members had not then the opportunity
which the stewardship of the Chiltern Hundreds affords to legislators
desirous of withdrawing from the responsibility of making laws; the honour-
able member for Kilbeggan, nevertheless, had a remedy for the difficulty.
The independent Irish patriot offered ¢o purchase a borough and a represen-
tative for it who should never vote but in accordance with Mr. Longfield’s
directions !”
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who had sat as one of the members for the Borough from 1757
to that date, and he, accordingly, together with Sir B. Gore,
Bart., contested the County with the patron of the Borough and
Mr. Cooper; both the former were unsuccessful, but petitioned,
alleging bribery, corruption, treating, and other undue in-
fluences,

The Right Hon. Owen Wynne being unseated, thereupon a
fresh election took place the following year, when Owen Wiynne,
Junr., was declared duly elected. A petition was lodged by
Ormshy, but was unsuccessful;* and the ‘Wynnes kept Possession
of the seat until 1790 ; but in that year Mr. Cooper defeated
Mr. Wynne in a severely contested election; so severe was the
struggle that the Masonic Liodges in the town—according to the
records in their books—did not meet for two months, *“the
majority of the members being unavoidably engaged in the
election.” In 1797 Mr. Wynne again came forward, and in
his address, dated Hazlewood, 20th July, 1797, thanked the
electors for the “very honourable, tho’ unsuccessful support”
he had experienced at the previous election.

The families of O’Hara and Cooper next became paramount,

1 There were charges and countercharges of bribery and intimidation
made by the opposing candidates. The following notice relative to the
election appeared in the Sligo Journal :—

“ A HuNDRED AND FIFTY-FIVE GUINEAS REwARD.—We, the under-
named, taking into our most serious consideration the atrocious ATTACK
that has been lately made on the PRIVILEGES of many of the electors of
the County of Sligo by some person or persons having secured or destroyed
the REGISTRY Boox containing a List of the forty-shilling Freeholders of
said County, and being desirous of making manifest our just abhorrence of
such an infamous transaction and of doing everything in our power that
may tend towards discovering the AUTHOR or AuTHORS of such secretion or
flestruction, do hereby promise and engage, respectively, to pay such sumas
is annexed to each of our names, to any person who is able to throw such
light on the above abominable business, as may bring to open and public
conviction the perpetrator or perpetrators of the same.”—July 2, 1778.
The list is headed by O. Wyune, candidate, for £56 17s. 6d., Joshua Cooper
apd 0. Wynne for £22 15s. each; whilst the following gentlemen respec-
tively guaranteed £5 13s. 9d.: Henry Hughes, Arthur Cooper, W. H.
Cooper, Arthur Cooper, jun., Folliott Wynne, John Martin, Robert Lyons,

Phil. Burne, Robert Hillas, Hyae. O’Rorke, Hen. Grifith, Wm. Gibson,
sen., Robert Bolton.

[ e——p—
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and retained the representation of the County for a lengthened
period. In those times contested elections were frequently of pro-
longed duration; the freeholders had to be brought in from remote
parts, each candidate paying all expenses of voters in his favour;
open house was kept, and the publicans reaped a rich harvest.
It is recounted of a successful candidate that, shortly after his
return to Parliament, he received from one of these publicans a
bill amounting to £1030 “for entertaining his Honour’s voters
with black, red, and white wine”! When the electioneering
agent proceeded, amongst others, to settle the account in ques-
tion, Boniface, on being questioned as to details, said, that if
¢ his Honour” paid him “the thousand,” he would knock of
“the thirty.” The agent retorted that supposing he (Boniface)
received ‘““the thirty,” he would have to knock off *“the thou-
sand”: such was the eventual settlement.

These political contests were often decided by the superiority
of a very few votes; and towards the close of one of this nature,
an extremely tall, immature-looking youth made his appearance,
but the opposite party objected to his vote, alleging that he was
under age. On his side arose shouts of “Poll him, poll him”’;
and the mob, imagining the expression to refer to the great
height and lank or pole-like figure of the young man, burst
into a roar of laughter whilst his vote was being recorded ; and
to the end of his life that voter was so well known by the
sobriquet of ““Pole’'m” that most people supposed it to be his
baptismal name.

In 1822, on the death of Mr. O’Hara, his son declined to
offer himself for the representation of which his family had held
undisputed possession, in the Independent interest, for nearly
forty years. Upon his refusal there ensued the most bitterly
contested election that ever took place in the County; and it
resulted in the return of the Hon. Henry King and the defeat
of his opponent, Colonel Perceval. The date for commencing
the election happened to fall on a Saturday; but the law then
gave power of adjourning to the succeeding day—=Sunday inter-
vening. An application was made to allow one man on each
side to poll, the reason assigned being that there was an elderly
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gentleman from the County Roscommon WhOII.I it would be
inconvenient to detain. The titular Bishop of Killala was t}len
brought forward—a measure intended to produc.e a rehgu?us
effect upon the electors ; and, therefore, with a we.w of main-
taining perfect impartiality on both sides, the High Sheriff,
Colonel Irwin, refused to allow any poll to be taken till the
Monday. In this election religious feeling was greatly ex-
cited: the military had to fire on the mob, who pelted them,
and one of the officers was severely injured. *Stomes were
flying as fast as hailstones: it was some time before the riot
could be quelled ; however, the soldiers’ firing had the effect of
stopping the practice of stone-throwing afterwards.”

In distant parts of the County, roads were either cut or had
walls built across them during the night, by the peasantry, in
order to prevent cars from reaching Sligo with voters in time
to be safely housed and protected from intimidation before night-
fall; the houses of electors were visited by mobs for the purpose
of warning them to vote only as directed. In the streets of
the town, during successive days, there was more or less rioting;
and in the booths were to be heard scuffling, wrangling, intem-
perate language, charges of bribery, partiality, and intimidation.

As the candidates ran a neck-and-neck race the polling was
watched with the greatest interest, for it was but the renewal of
the struggle of 1790, when the Wynne family lost the seat—
the war-cry of the opposing factions being *“ Wynne and Per-
ceval,” ¢ Martin and King,” thus bringing into’ prominence
the names of the supporters of the respective candidates.

The local papers were filled with accounts of the trials of
persons indicted at the ensuing spring assizes for riot. One
witness, an ex-drummer, described himself as ¢ poet and ballad-
singer”’ to one of the candidates. ¢ Iam told,” said the lawyer,
who cross-examined him, ¢ that you were a noisy fellow.”
“ Yes, sir,” replied the ex-soldier, “I used to beat the tattoo !’

When the non-success of Perceval became apparent, a plot
was laid to entangle Mr. Martin—the Hon. Henry King’s
most ardent supporter—in a legal dilemma. A man was
employed by his political opponents to create a disturbance at
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his residence, which the owner naturally resenting, the man
was forcibly ejected from the house, and for this Mr. Martin
was superseded in the Commission of the Peace, but was after-
wards reinstated, on correct representation being made of the
real facts of the incident.

In consequence of the Earl of Kingston, elder brother of
the Hon. Henry King, having taken a very active part in
this election of 1822, a petition was presented to the House of
Commons by an elector of Sligo, complaining of a breach of
privilege, and praying for an inquiry ; a petition alleging
bribery was also presented, but was not proceeded with.

The following epigram on the statement that the honesty
and sense of the County of Sligo” was represented by its
members, was composed and circulated in 1829, before the
election of the following year:—

¢ MEN OF SLIGO, ARE YOU FAIRLY REPRESENTED ? WHY, THEN,
If your members are a sample fair, of all that’s good and great,
Picked out with care to mark the worth of Sligo to the State,
Herein your County’s honesty and sense you may discover—
Since King doth represent the one, as Cooper doth the other!”

In 1829 an enormous reduction was made in the number of
electors in the County by the disfranchisement of the forty-
shilling freeholders, who had possessed the right of voting under
terminable leases as well as those in perpetuity. Previous to
the time when the question of Catholic Emancipation was
finally decided, Irish landlords relied on their forty-shilling
freeholders. It did not enter into the imagination of the
former that the freeholders would ever vote against them; and
during a very long period it as little entered into the conception
of the freeholders that they could vote against the landlords;
‘““and political gratitude was never so unpleasantly exempli-
fied as in the fact that the candidates who were returned by
their votes acquiesced, in 1829, in the proposal to deprive them
of their franchise.”

In 1830 an attack was made on the Conservative seats.
Cooper was proposed by Charles K. O’Iara, seconded by John



42 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

Armstrong ; King was proposed by the Hon. Edward Wing-
field, seconded by James Wood; Fremch was proposed by
Captain Hillas, seconded by Daniel Jones. Mobs paraded the
streets of Sligo ; and on the 17th August the result of three
days polling was declared as follows : Edward Joshua Cooper,
165 ; General King, 385 ; Fitzstephen French, 116.

From 1830 to 1841, and again from 1857 to 1859, Edward
Joshua Cooper represented the County in Parliament. He was
born in 1798 ; and after spending some years at Armagh and
Eton, entered Christ Church College, Oxford, where he remained
but two years, when he started on a lengthened series of travels.
In 1821 he engaged an Italian artist, and visited Egypt, the
result of his journey being published under the title of Views of
Egypt and Nubia. In 1824-5 he traversed Denmark, Sweden
and Norway, as far as the North Cape. Mr. Cooper kept
meteorological registers at Markree, but owing to his frequent
absences they were very imperfect until 1833. DBecoming
manager of the property on the death of his father in 1830, he
at once took steps towards founding an observatory, which he
intended to endow, in order to ensure its permanent utility.
Mcr. Cooper was elected a Fellow of the Royal Society in 1853,
and in 1858 received the Cunningham Medal of the Royal Irish
Academy for his Catalogue of Ecliptic Stars. He died on the
23rd April, 1863. “His personal qualities were of a high order,
and he was accomplished in many ways ; but his zeal for science
did not lead him to neglect the duties of his position, for he was
a kind and good landlord, making great exertions to educate and
improve his tenantry.” !

On the 17th May, 1831, Perceval again contested the repre-
sentation of Sligo, and at the close of the poll the numbers
were: K. J. Cooper, 861; Colonel Alexander Perceval, 287;
the Hon. General King, 191. The successful candidates were
chaired round the town, with bands playing, and all the displays
then usual at the termination of a contested election. “Religious
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and political animosity prevail to a considerable extent in Sligo,”
writes Inglis in 1834 ; ¢ this I have generally found to be the
case in Ireland whenever there is not an overwhelming majority
on one side.”” In 1837 the county was again contested, the
result being as follows: Edward Joshua Cooper, 511 ; Colonel
Alexander Perceval, 443 ; Daniel Jones, 368 ; Charles Joseph
M¢Dermott, 6.

An amusing anecdote is related of Perceval after this con-
test. e had taken a seat in the omnibus econnected with the
coach in which he was booked for London ; there was but one
seat vacant, and he said to a gentleman sitting next the door,
“ Pray keep the seat for me,” and placed his umbrella and cap
on it, while he looked after his luggage. On his return he
found “the unknown ” resisting the entrance of any other
passengers, and took his seat. He soon heard O’Connell’s well-
known voice exclaiming, ¢ Colonel Perceval, you are in a great
minority in this omnibus.” The Colonel was equal to the occa-
sion, for he retorted, “ Well, you’ll see that I shall keep my
seat, nevertheless, as I did at Sligo, though opposed by all the
Radicals.”

Party spirit in this (1837) and the following year, ran
excessively high. The sheriff, Sir William Parke, placed on
the grand jury every possible member of the Liberal party,
commencing at the bottom of the panel, thus excluding most of
the members who usually attended the assizes. For so acting,
and for not having called representatives for baronies, he was
fined by the Judge of Assize, before whom the matter was
brought.

Sligo then, and for long after, remained thoroughly Con-
servative, owing to the good feeling that existed between
landlords and tenants, and also to a majority of the voters
being Protestant. In 1845 O’Connell stated that *Sligo
County was in a bad way,” i.e. according to his view of the
subject ; and he visited it for the purpose of stirring up a eon-
test—not with any hopes of winning either seat, but with the
avowed intention of making the Conservatives spend money.
In 1841 William Richard Ormsby Gore, Jun., became member
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in the place of Mr. Cooper, who did not seek re-election, and
the same year John Ffolliott succeeded Perceval, who had been
appointed Sergeant-at-Arms to the House of Lords. '.]_‘he
representation remained unaltered until 1850, when Fiolliott,
having accepted the Chiltern Hundreds, Sir Robert Gore-
Booth, Bart., was elected without opposition. In 1852 the
Liberals again contested the County, and succeeded in carrying
one seat. The result of the poll was as follows: Sir Robert
Gore-Booth, Bart., 942 ; Richard Swift, 875 ; William Richard
Ormsby Gore, 774 ; John Taaffe, 39. In 1857, at the next
election, the numbers polled were : for Sir Robert Gore-Booth,
Bart., and Edward Joshua Cooper, 1434 each; John Ball, 304 ;
Richard Swift, 5.

In 1859 Charles W. Cooper O’Hara was elected, vice
Edward Joshua Cooper, who declined to be re-nominated ;
whilst in 1865, Mr. O’Hara retired from the representation of
the county, owing to ill-health, and was succeeded by Colonel
E. H. Cooper. During three years the representation of the
county (i. e. Booth and Cooper) remained unaltered, but in 1868
the Liberals again wrested one seat, the numbers being : Denis
Maurice O’Connor, 1722 ; Sir Robert Gore-Booth, 1219 ;
Colonel Edward Henry Cooper, 1125. In 1877, on the
death of Sir Robert Gore-Booth, Colonel Edward Robert
King-Harman was elected in his place without contest as a
Liberal-Conservative. ~ Both seats were captured by the
Liberals in the General Election of 1880, Thomas Sexton
polling 1591, Denis Maurice O’Connor 1551, and Edward
Robert King-Harman 1261. The Right Hon. Colonel King-
Harman died June, 1888. Towards the conclusion of his life
he laboured for Ireland with zeal and purity of purpose.
Denis Maurice O’Connor died in 1883 ; towards the latter
years of his political career he was no favourite with the ultra-
Radical party, as he occasionally showed that he could still hold
to his own opinions. One of his political opponents thus writes
of him: “ He made a favourable impression upon the House of
Commons, for he was a clever, good, solid speaker, and even to
those who had opposed his election he was courteous and always

. p———
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displayed an anxiety to serve his constituents individually and
collectively.”

On his decease, the representation was contested by Charles

- K. O’'Hara, jun., and Nicholas Lynch, and with the following
result :—Lynch, 15645; O’Hara, 980. Mr. O’Hara had seem-
ingly every prospect of success; if promises were to be relied
on, he had a clear majority ; but as the old classic orator said,
“the ballot is dear to the people, for it covers men’s faces and
conceals their thoughts ; it gives them the opportunity of doing
what they like, and promising all that they are asked.” A. cele-
brated English wit remarks that the ballot would bring to pass
that which David said only in his wrath, and make all men liars.

On the Redistribution of Seats the county was divided into
two districts. North Sligo consisted of the Barony of Carbury,
the Barony of Tireragh, and the parishes of Ballysadare and
Killoran, in the Barony of Leyny ; the remainder of the county
formed the electoral division of South Sligo.

In 1885 both divisions of the County were contested; but
owing to the enormous increase of the electorate the Conser-
vatives were, as a political party in Sligo, completely out-
numbered. North Sligo, Peter M‘Donald, 5216 ; Colonel
Fiolliott, 772. South Sligo, Thomas Sexton, 5150 ; Alexander
Perceval, 541. The number of voters in “North Sligo,” with
a population of 54,657, amounted to 8591; ¢ South Sligo”
with a population of 56,921 had an electorate of 8447.

The old franchise consisted of a £12 rated occupancy, or
other qualifications equivalent to it, but under the present
system, although there is a nominal £10 rating, yet the
“‘inhabitant occupier ” clause admits the occupier to the privi-
lege of voting, even if he be unrated. The only disqualifica-
tions are that he must be in receipt of Poor-law relief—or if a
ratepayer, his rates must not have been paid. Also in order
to entitle him to vote in both divisions of the County he
requires to be duly qualified in each.

For the Borough of Sligo the early Members of Parliament
would appear, with the exception of Sir Roger Jones, 1634, and
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Kean O’Hara, 1639, to have been strangers, or comparative
strangers; for Ratcliffe, though possessing property in Sligo,
resided in Dublin. To vote for the return of the two members
for the Borough, the qualification required was not merely to
be a freeman, but also a burgess. This difficulty, however,
was readily overcome by making the voter at the same meeting
first a freeman, and then a burgess.

Judging by the seal struck in 1709, and the subsequent
succession of Provosts, the family of De Butt either enjoyed
predominent political power in the borough, or they were
nominees of the dominant faction. It should be borne in mind
that though the Corporation, which consisted of only twelve
burgesses, elected the Provost annually, yet the burgesses
themselves were elected for life; and they elected each
other, so that if any one family succeeded in having more
than six of his relations or friends created burgesses, the
ultimate supremacy of that clique was inevitable, and the Cor-
poration then became a  pocket-borough,” to be utilized either
for political purposes, or to be disposed of by private agreement,
to some aspirant to a seat in Parliament.

A crisis in the fate of the borough occurred on the 27th
August, 1722, when, John De Butt being Provost, Sir Francis
Lycester sent in his resignation as burgess, was accordingly
disfranchised, and Samuel Burton elected in his stead. In the
books of the Corporation the entries with regard to this are as
follows : —

“ BoroucH OF S1I60,
“ dugust the 27th, 1722.

““We the Provost and free Burgesses of the said Borough being met,
pursuant to a publication posted upon the Market Cross, the nineteenth
day of August instant, for an election of a Burgess this day, and waited
the appointed hour in the appointed place ; the resignation of Sir Francis
Lyecester was openly read. And having proceeded to disfranchise Sir
Francis Lycester pursuant to the said resignation, and he is hereby dis-
franchised. And coming to an election of a Burgess in the room and
place of the said Sir Francis Lycester, we do unanimously elect and
choose Samuel Burton, Esq., he being a sworn freeman of the said
Corporation, to be a free burgess of the said Corporation, in the room
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and place of the said Sir Francis Lycester aforesaid. As witness our

hands the day and year above written,
“Joun DE Burr, Provost.

‘ GeoreE BENNETT.”’!

““BoroueE oF Strco, August the 27th, 1722.
“The above-named Samuel Burton, Esq., sworn one of the free
Burgesses of the above Corporation according to the above election of
the 27th of August, 1722.
“Joun Dk Burr, Provost.
¢ GeoreE BENNETT (Recorder & Town Clerk.)”

So matters remained until the election of the new Provost
in October of the same year, when Mitchelburn Knox was
selected for the post. This new Provost convened an assembly
of the burgesses who declared the previous disfranchisement of
Sir Francis Lycester and the appointment of Samuel Burton to
have been illegally conducted, and proceeded to go over the
affair de novo.

¢¢ BoroveH OF St1co, the 11tk day of October, 1722.

‘“ Whereas an assembly of the Burgesses of this Corporation having
met this day, at the County Hall, in the Borough of Sligo: A true
Copy of the resignation of Sir Francis Lycester, Bart., sworn and
attested by William Mendey, Notary Public, and confirmed by the
oaths of Mitchelburn Knox, Esq., our present Provost, and Capt. John
Wynne, being openly read in a Court of the free Burgesses of the said
Borough, duly summoned. We the Provost and free Burgesses (having
first demanded the original resignation lodged with Mr. John De Butt,
late Provost of Sligo aforesaid) which he has absolutely refused to
deliver to the present Provost. Being therefore obliged to proceed
without the said original resignation, in order to elect a free Burgess
in the room of Sir Francis Lycester, Bart., who is hereby removed
from being any longer a free Burgess in the said Borough of Sligo,
and deprived of any rights, privileges, and immunities thereunto belong-
ing. And our present Provost, Mitchelburn Knox, Esq., is hereby
required to post up, and give public notice of the vacancy of a
Burgess-ship in our said Borough, and to appoint a time and place
of election pursuant to Act of Parliament.

¢ MrrcELBURN Knox, Provost.”’

1Tn all extracts herein given from the books of the Corporation, the
spelling has been modernized.
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An attested copy of Sir Francis Lycester’s resignation is
attached to the proceedings, and commences in these words:—
«VWhereas I am elected, and am a burgess of the Abbeyville
or town of Sligo in the County of Sligo,” &e.

In compliance with the above order, the Provost convened a
meeting, and the motice was also “posted up on y°® Market
Cross.” At this meeting the Right Hon. Major-General Owen
Wynne was unanimously elected a burgess vice Lycester re-
signed. The Wynne family having now secured the majority,
George Bennett—who had taken the part of De Butt—was
asked what time he required “to show reason why he should
not be disfranchised and removed from his burgess-ship for his
manifest misbehaviour,” evidently waxed irate, informed the
majority that they could not disfranchise him, that they “did
not know how to disfranchise, and that he defied them to dis-
franchise him, and behaved himself with great contempt of the
assembly, and endeavoured to provoke several of the particular
members of the assembly to use him ill.”” The matter was soon
brought to an issue by the meeting there and then turning him
out vi et armis, disfranchising him, and electing Mr. Thomas
Jennings in his place to be Recorder and Town Clerk.

The same meeting sent to Mr. John De Butt a notice “to
show cause why he should not be disfranchised and removed
from his place of free burgess of the said Corporation of Sligo
for his manifest misbehaviour.” His reply was as follows:—

‘¢ Strco, Oct. 23rd, 1722.
¢ WorsHIPFUL SIR,

“T received your summons requiring me to appear before you, on
Tuesday, the 23rd Instant, to show cause why I should not be dis-
franchised for my manifest misbehaviour. I know no cause if it be
not for the conscientious discharge of my duty, as an honest magistrate,
according to my oath, and would have waited on you this day to satisfy
you, before all, with you present, of the manifest truth of my assertion,
but for fear of being insulted and assaulted, as I was before you in the
last discharge of my duty, and for fear of being turned out by the
shoulders, and sent to the stocks by you—as one of my Brethren was
ordered to be—and all this and much more, is no misbehaviour in
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these favourites of yours. And to avoid the like treatment both I
and my Brother had in your presence, without the least resentment,
is the cause

“T do not wait on you in person, that am,

“ Worshipful Sir,
¢ Your most humble servant,
¢ Jorx pE Burr,

 To the Worshipful Mrrcuersury Knox, Esq.,
¢ Provost of Sligo.”

The Provost’s answer ran thus :—

¢ County Harr, Boroven oF Stico,
¢ Qct. 23rd, 1722,
(44 sm’

T received yours, which I don’t think a sufficient answer for not
attending according to your summons; for you say you fear being
insulted and treated ill, which I assure from all that are met here,
that you shall meet with all the civility that you can expect, you
behaving yourself to us in the same manner, and not like your late
Brother Bennett, as you term him. So expect you’ll attend according
to your summons of the 19th Instant.

“T am Sir,
¢ Your humble servant,

¢ MrrcaeLBurN KNox, Provost.”’

De Butt replied thus:—

¢ Sureo, Oct. 23rd, 1722.
¢ WoRSHIPFUL SIR,

¢ T perceive the assurance you give me of being protected from
insults. I might have expected that, the last time I was with you,
but it did not, I shall be prepared soon to fear none, and when I
am, I will wait on you and the rest of my brethren, at this time. I
hope what I have offered, together that I am obliged to send a great
deal by post this night, will be a sufficient reason for not waiting on
'you at this time.

T am, worshipful Sir,
“ Your most humble servant,

¢ Jorx pE Butr.”

As might be expected, nothing De Butt could urge was of
any avail : he was exp8lled ; and a meeting was summoned for
E



50 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

the 31st of the same month to elect two new burgesses vice
De Butt and Bennett disfranchised. At this meeting Captain
John Wynne and Major John Fiolliott were elected burgesses;
and in this manner the Borough of Sligo became de facto the
property of the Wynne family.

Strange to narrate, it was not until four years subsequently,
when every burgess present was either by marriage or other
ties connected with the Patron of the Borough, that the election
of Samuel Burton was formally annulled: the resolution ran

as follows :(—

«The above Act not being according to the laws and usage of the
Corporation, "tis this day ordered to be rased out of the public acts of
the Corporation by the Provost and Burgesses in Council assembled.

¢ Given under our hands, this 24th of June, 1726.

“Owexy WynNE, Provost.

¢« Mitchelburn Knox; George Ormsby; John Jameson; Thomas
Jennings; 'W. Ormsby ; Richard Gore ; John Booth.”

By the Act of Union the representation of the Borough of
Sligo was reduced to one member. All patrons of boroughs,
however, received pecuniary recompense for their loss.!

Thus, prior to the Reform Bill of 1832, the Members for
the Borough of Sligo were, from the year 1722, returned by
the Wynne family. The old government of the Provost and
twelve burgesses having been swept away by the Reform Bill,
the number of voters on the new and reformed register is stated
to have been 418, as compared with 695 on the county

1¢«Mr. Wynne is the patron of the Borough; he is the person that
received compensation at the time of the Union.”’— Corporation Inquiry,
1833.

2The 2 William IV. ¢. 88 extended the franchise to £10 householders,
under which, in 1834, there were registered 694 electors; in 1849, they in-
creased to 715; in 1851, under 13 & 14 Vict. c. 69, they decreased to 336,
less than one half of the former number ; and in 1853 they increased to 351,
of whom there were two burgesses of the old Corporation, 337 rated occupiers,
and 12 otherwise qualified.
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register—by comparison a large numerical preponderance in
favour of the smaller and more youthful constituency.

In the year 1828 a ¢ Brunswick Club” was established in
Sligo, the President being the Hon. Colonel Wingfield, and
this political combination spread rapidly through the county,
branches being formed at all the small towns and centres of
Protestant population.

On O’Connell’s visit to Sligo, during the Summer Assizes
of 1828, he was entertained at a public banquet in “the new
Catholic Free-School,” and about one hundred and thirty
sat down to dinner. The Catholic Emancipation question was
warmly taken up in Sligo, Roman Catholic and Protestant
meetings being of frequent occurrence. In the year 1829 the
mob broke the windows of almost every Protestant householder
in Sligo. In 1831 Reform and anti-Reform meetings were
held in the town; and the throwing open of the Borough to
popular representation was naturally opposed most strenuously
by Mr. Wynne. A very important demonstration was held in
the Court House, 11th January, 1832 ; although designated an
Anti-Reform meeting, yet speakers on both sides were allowed
a hearing.

So early as 1828, when Reform was on the tapis, Mr. John
Martin had been nominated by the moderate Liberals to contest
the representation of the borough with Mr. Wynne. He was
not considered by some to be a politician of sufficiently advanced
type, and as such O’Connell objected to him, concluding his
speech thus :—“My hostility to Mr. Martin is by no means
personal ; on the contrary, he is a gentleman for whom I enter-
tain personal regard.” However, the time for the contest drew
on, and no candidate more pleasing to O’Connell was obtained.
At the hustings the electors were reminded of the time when a
bundle of rushes or even a horse-load of brooms could not enter
the town without paying toll; and their worthy ex-Provost had
been compelled to appear one night at an entertainment in very
shabby lower-garments, because the smart new attire intended
for the occasion had been detained at the toll-gate for want of
the bearer being provided with the sum of two-pence needful to

E2
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pay for entitling it to be admitted within the box.‘ough.l Fjre-
quently, too, their so-called representatives knew ht.tle or ncfthmg
of Sligo—had never been there : one of them in his 1?1ace in the
House having described it as a small fishing-village in the West
of Ireland.? On both sides the canvassing had been most
vigorous, and the election commenced on the 17th December,
1832. During the three days of the contest there was fearful
rioting, the town being alternately occupied by the opposing
mobs, according as either side momentarily gained numerical
preponderance ; at the close of the third day, Thursday, the
20th December, the poll was declared : Mr. John Martin, 213
votes; Mr. Wynne, 158. On the 9th January, 1835, there
was again a General Election, when the former was returned
unopposed.

Earl Mulgrave—then Lord Lieutenant of Ireland—having
announced his intention of visiting Sligo, the Liberals resolved
to give him a reception, and applied to the High Sheriff, James
Knott, of Battlefield, for the use of the Court-house, which was
refused by him, and in consequence he was superseded in the
commission of the peace. On the?23rd August, 1836, the trades
processionists, with wands, scarfs, belts, and banners, marched a
few miles out of the town to Ballysadare and Collooney, but His
Excellency did not enter Sligo till six in the evening ; he was
met by a deputation from the Liberals, who presented him
with an address, and at night the town was illuminated. On
the next day the Lord Lieutenant conferred the honour of
knighthood on Colonel William Parke,® of Dunally, and visited

! According to the evidence given before the Commission in 1833, every-
thing brought in for sale paid toll, even to cabbage plants, gooseberries,
nails, hats, and brogues.

* History, it is said, repeats itself ; for the present representatives of the
County are strangers to the locality, have no personal interest therein, and
but for the facilities of railway travelling would be equally ignorant
whether Sligo should rank as a mere fishing-village or a thriving com-
mercial town.

*8ir William Parke, lived to an advanced age, and died at his resi-

dence, Dunally, 31st August, 1851. As a magistrate and grand juror of
the County, he was known for his independence and public spirit, although
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the County Jail, when he released twenty-three prisoners.
There was a great deal of party-feeling displayed on this
occasion, but almost all the Protestant gentry and yeomanry
held aloof.

On the 24th January, 1837, Daniel O’Connell visited Sligo
shortly before the General Election, for the purpose of unseating,
if possible, Perceval and Cooper from the County and Martin
from the Borough. As a specimen of O’Connell’s style of
oratory, the following extract from his speech is here given.
He informed his audience that ¢ they had already hunted a
Fox (i. e. Lane-Fox) from one County, and they had now to
hunt another from this (County Sligo) ; but he was sure that
Fox-hunting was not half so good as Martin-hunting; . . . and
as to Colonel Perceval, they would leave him at home to mind
the potatoes for he was a potato-faced fellow; ... and asto
M. Cooper, unless he behaved himself better, they would leave
him at home to make a cask for Colonel Perceval’s red
herrings.””

Hard hitting was not confined to one side: the following
lines had previously appeared in the S/igo Journal on O’Connell
having refused to either fight or apologize to an opponent :—

¢ O’Connell will not fight—and why ?
Because 0’Connell fears to die ;
Nor will he cease offence to give,
Because by that he hopes to live;
Vain hope! who like a coward flies,
May save his life, his honour dies!”

always zealous in support of his own views, which were ultra-Liberal. Early
in life he had entered the army as an Ensign in the 83rd Foot in 1791; in
1794 he accompanied his regiment to the West Indies, served in the Rebellion
in Ireland, afterwards in the expedition to the Helder in 1799, and the Duke
of York’s Campaign in North Holland, and was present at all the different
general engagements; served in the expedition to Egypt under Sir R.
Abercromby, was present in Portugal at the battle of Vimiera, served the
entire campaign, and was wounded at Corunna; took part in the expedition
to Walcheren, the siege of Flushing, and the Campaign of 1811 in the
Peninsula.

! When Colonel Perceval was in the regiment, the Sligo Militia wore a
red uniform.
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In 1837 the representation of the Borough was warmly
contested, Mr. John Martin being supported by the moderate
Liberals and by the Conservatives. On the declaration of the
poll on Thursday, the 3rd August, John Patrick Somers was
returned by 262 votes to 208. During the registry of voters’
claims, prior to this election, before the Revising Barrister
(Hartstonge Robinson), a radical applicant was asked by
Counsellor Casserly for his title-deed, when the Precursor, with
an air of gravity and self-confidence, handed over to the learned
counsel a huge bludgeon which he held in his hand, at the
same time exclaiming, amidst the general laughter of a crowded
Court, “ Here is my title-deed.”

On the 9th July, 1841, John Patrick Somers was, without
opposition, again returned member for the borough; politics ran
high; the Repeal movement was then in full swing; and on the
4th May, 1843, O’Connell held a mass meeting in Sligo; in the
evening he was entertained at a dinner in the Hibernian Hotel,
and on both occasions he delivered a characteristic speech.
Amongst a variety of other topics he stated that England had
tried to ignore the agitation until “a chap of the name of Lane-
Fox—a poor man who had more strength than brains; a Fox by
name but not by nature, for there was no cunning in him—
came out with his notice of motion to have it suppressed. . . .
Oh! was it not worth while struggling for Repeal to gag a
fellow of that kind.” :

At a meeting of the Repeal Association held in Dublin on
the 24th November, 1845, 0’Connell read a communication
from the “ Repeal ’ members of the Town Council of Sligo, by
which they pledged ¢ themselves, one and all, on good faith and
honour, that in future every question arising in the Corporation
and Borough should be determined on and acted on by the
decision of the majority of the Repealers without any reference
to, or deriving any assistance from, the Non-Repeal or Tory
party.”

On the 4th August, 1847, John Patrick Somers was again
returned as member for the borough, but in 1848 he was un-
seated on petition ; and in April there was a new election, his



POLITICAL HISTORY OF SLIGO. 55

opponent being Charles Townley, of Townley, County of Lan-
caster—a gentleman reputed to be very wealthy. Townley was
supported by the priests, and is reputed to have laid out immense
sums of money. “If he buys men from the priests, he may
sell them to the minister if he chooses,” was about the wittiest
thing said against him. Townley was returned by a majority
of seven votes, but he was unseated on petition. In the evidence
given before a Committee of the House of Commons, a Mr. Cant-
well, Mr. Townley’s agent, stated that he took up his quarters
at the hotel in Sligo, having left his lodgings on account of
their filthy condition : the house was one of the dirtiest in the
town, and there were fleas in it. “1T dare say if the fleas had
been unanimous they would have pulled you out of bed,” face-
tiously observed the cross-examining counsel. “Well, they might
have done that,” retorted Mr. Cantwell. This retort was pro-
bably suggested by the anecdote told of Curran, who used to
declare that if a house was infested with fleas they always flew
to his bedchamber, when they heard he was to sleep there! and
once, when making complaint to his landlady in the morning,
he exclaimed, “By heaven, Madam, they were in such num-
bers, and seized upon my carcase with so much ferocity, that if
they had been unanimous, and all pulled one way, they must
have dragged me out of bed entirely.”

In the new election on the 15th July, 1848, John Patrick
Somers was returned at the head of the poll, with 102 votes;
James Hartley, 90; John Ball, 87; the constituency at this
period numbered 292. At the dissolution of 1852 the conflict
between Somers and Townley was renewed, much, it was alleged,
having been effected in the interval to make the return of the
latter secure ; after a bitter contest Townley was declared on
the 15th July to have obtained a majority at the poll, i. e. 147
votes to Somers’s 108. The latter again petitioned, and upon
proof of corruption still stronger than before, Townley was again
unseated. Sligo had now long been viewed as a sink of poli-
tical corruption, and as notoriously “ one of the most rotten
boroughs in Ireland”; the cant term for bribery was to
“ strengthen the electors.”
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In this contest the friars of Sligo were supporters of, and
canvassers for, Somers; whilst the priests were supporters of, and
canvassers for, Townley: when therefore the latter was unseated
for bribery, great was the rejoicing of the friars, and many
poetic (?) pieces appeared in print. One sung to the air of
“ The Green Immortal Shamrock ”’ commenced thus :—

¢ Through Erin’s Isle to sport awhile,
As Charles Townley wandered,” &e.

Then followed several verses ; and one of them, after describing
some quarrelling over the spoils, continues thus :—

¢ Then Father # # * cries, ‘ Come, boys, come ;
Your quarrels, I'll decide them ;
Secure the Tin, and out, or in,
The proceeds we’ll divide them.’ ”

On the 7th July, 1853, there was a fresh election. The con-
stituency is said to have then numbered 336, but the real total
fell somewhat short of that figure. Somers was opposed by the
afterwards notorious John Sadleir, who had failed in being
returned for Carlow. Sadleir polled 152 votes to Somers’s 142 ;
the latter petitioned, but was unsuccessful. On the 18th
February, 1856, the dead body of John Sadleir was found on
Hampstead Heath, and it was stated that he had committed
suicide ; at the same time, however, stories were afloat asserting
that it was not his body that was discovered, but that he had
fled the country in order to escape his very serious liabilities
which were subsequently discovered to be something enormous,
and the available assets to be of comparatively microscopic
proportions. : :

In the Borough, some of his own political party were
thoroughly disgusted with Somers, who had come to look on
the seat to be as much his private property as had the Wynne
family in former years. The Conservatives put forward the
Rt. Hon. John Wynne (Under-Secretary during the Vice-
royalty of the Earl of Eglinton), and a subscription was raised to
bring in their candidate  free of cost to himself.” As regards
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bribery this was one of the few pure contests in Sligo; Wynne
from principle would not spend money, whilst Somers had not
any to dispense. Before going to the poll Somers is alleged to
have made several overtures to gentlemen of Liberal opinions,
stating that he would retire on “ getting a gratuity *; that he
had expended about £1000 on the Borough, and that he should
be recouped. One of the would-be candidates, on having this
explained to him, refused the offer with indignation, and with
truth exclaimed, ¢ This is a standing thing in the Borough, and
you will never have peace or comfort until it is rooted out.”

At the election on the 7th March, 1856, John Patrick Somers
was declared duly elected by 150 votes to 144; but on petition
the seat was given to Mr. Wynne, he having had in reality a
majority of 80. Probably, nothing in the annals of electioneer-
ing has ever been recorded which could rival the narrative as
given in the records before the Committee of the House, or in
the legal proceedings subsequent on the disclosures then re-
counted. It was proved that one of the principal officials and
his assistants had, in the poll books, taken off votes from Mr.
Wynne and placed them to the credit of Somers, to whom also
were assigned voters who had never even entered the poll booths;
whilst at the same time large mobs, armed with sticks and dis-
charging fire-arms, paraded the streets during the polling when
the populace held possession of the place. Mobs in all the
elections were hired ; they would not turn on their heel unless
they got money. On occasions, when they had not been paid,
or payment was refused, they have been known to use the
threat that they would go on the other side and fight for
them ; indeed it may be said that a Sligo mob considered £100
a-night very little for them; they expected from five shillings
to seven shilings and sixpence per man—such was the evidence
given before the Commissioners appointed to report on the cor-
rupt practices in the Borough of Sligo.

At the Spring Assizes of 1838, all the officials implicated in
the election malpractices were tried on a charge of conspiracy
to procure by unlawful means the return of John Patrick Somers,
and after a most careful investigation they were found guilty,
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and sentenced to various terms of imprisonment—a heavy fine
being in one instance superadded. An appeal against this de-
cision was carried to the Superior Courts, but the sentences were
confirmed. Some Conservative votes had been refused when
tendered ; and one of the persons so treated, on bringing an
action for damages, received a verdict for £100.

The election on the 6th May, 1859, passed off in such com-
parative quiet that it was styled “the model election”; Mr.
Wynne was returned by 177 votes, Somers polled but 73, and
Lucas A. Treston, 3.

In 1860 Mr. Wynne resigned his seat, his health not per-
mitting him to attend to his Parliamentary duties. Francis
Macdonogh, Q.C., who succeeded him in the representation, had,
on previous occasions, unsuccessfully canvassed several Borough
constituencies. It was alleged that, like the chameleon, he had
changed his colours according to locality—“He’s a Radical in
London, a rebel in Carlow, a Whig in Carrickfergus, a Conser-
vative in Sligo.”

His opponent in Sligo was E. K. Tenison ; but as Somers still
persevered in obtruding himself on the constituency, Tenison’s
chance of success was destroyed. “We find,” state the Commis-
sioners of the Sligo Election Inquiry, “that Colonel Tenison
retired in consequence of its being intimated to him on the night
before the election, that, unless £600 or £700 were forthcoming
for distribution amongst about twenty-five of the Liberal voters,
there was no use in going to the poll.” And on the 9th
August, Macdonogh was declared member with 157 votes;
O'Reilly, 5; Somers, only 2. The latter was hooted by the
mob, accused of having politically sold the Borough, and of
various other alleged acts detrimental to the Liberal party. He
had to be protected by the military and police; and in this
manner Somers disappeared from the political arena. He died
December, 1862.

In the election that took place on the 15th July, 1865,
Macdonogh was defeated, liaving only 158 votes to 166 re-

' In 1859, the constituency was 360; in 1865, 312; in 1869, 520,
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corded for his opponent, Richard Armstrong, S. L. The election
terminated in an unexpected manner as there were a majority
of Conservative voters on the registry. Macdonogh’s political
career in the Borough, though short, proved expensive; for he
stated, in his evidence before the Commissioners, that from the
first day of his connexion with Sligo, until he paid all bills and
all demands on him, he had sold out and expended £13,000.
The night before the polling, according to the Report of the
8Sligo Election Inquiry Commission,” Macdonogh’s election
was judged by his principal supporters to be in great danger;
and a sum of £490 was advanced by one of his friends to be
applied in influencing the votes of the wavering electors. ~Of this
sum £423 was distributed among voters as a consideration for
their having voted for Macdonogh; most of this money was
paid some time after the election, but the doubtful voters were
made aware, at the time of the contest, that money would be
forthcoming. Macdonogh was cognizant of the transaction,
and subsequently repaid the money advanced for him; his total
expenditure at this election was £905, of which the above-
mentioned sum of £490 formed part; the residue was employed
in defraying the legitimate expenses. Serjeant Armstrong
expended on this election the sum of £2240; of this amount
£615 was applied in defraying the legitimate expenses, £140
was distributed among mobs, and the residue (£1480) was ex-
pended in bribery. The whole of the last-mentioned sum was
paid some eight or nine months after the election. About that
time several applications were made to Serjeant Armstrong
stating that his supporters were dissatisfied, and that some-
thing was expected of him. The serjeant’s conducting agent
and his agent for election expenses were sent down to the
Borough in consequence of these communications; and on
their arrival had an interview with some of Serjeant Arm-
strong’s principal supporters. Lists were made out of the
persons who should receive money, and the sums to be given,
and £1480 was handed over to be distributed, which sum was
subsequently repaid by Serjeant Armstrong, whose recollec-
tion, derived from documents, was that the number of voters
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so bribed amounted to ninety-seven, on an average of a little
over £15 5s. each.

In 1868, consequent on a dissolution of Parliament, the
Borough of Sligo was called on to select a member; and the
19th of November was appointed by the Mayor for taking
the poll. Serjeant Armstrong did not again come forward.
The candidates were Major Laurence E. Knox (at that time
proprietor of the Irish Times) who, in the Conservative interest,
contested the seat with John W. Flanagan, in the Liberal
interest. The contest was severe, and excited much ill-feeling
between the rival parties. As early as eight o’clock on the day
of the polling the police and military had to be called into
requisition to prevent rioting and violence to voters, it being
then by law open voting. There had been drafted into the
town 340 police, twenty mounted men, two troops of cavalry,
and three companies of infantry; and this force was barely
sufficient, for ““on the morning of the election,” states an eye-
witness, “I saw a mob come down the street and take posses-
sion of it that would terrify an army, every man with a cudgel
or weapon. There were three thousand of them I am sure.”
Subsequently a sum of £1300 was allowed by the Grand Jury
for malicious injuries to property inflicted by the mob.

Each person who recorded his vote contrary to the interest
of those opposed to him, was saluted with strong marks of
disapprobation by the partisans of his opponent. About nine
o’clock in the morning Captain King was shot dead close to
the Courthouse, when making his way through the mob for the
purpose of recording his vote for Major Knox, and several of
the friends who accompanied him were subjected to rough
treatment.

Major Knox was that evening declared duly elected by a
majority of twelve votes, the numbers being, Knox, 241
Flanagan, 229. The voters at this, the last election for the
Borough, consisted of householders, freemen, and lodgers; the
two latter classes were insignificant in number, there being but
one freeman and three lodgers. Of the 520 voters only 75
qualified in respect of property situated in the rural district.
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On the 12th December a petition was lodged in the Court
of Common Pleas, praying that the return might be declared
void, on the ground of bribery and corruption on the part of
Major Knox and his agents. The petition, after much litigation,
was finally set down for hearing—the venue being changed to
Carrick-on-Shannon—before Mr. Justice Keogh of the Common
Pleas; and on the 19th February, 1869, the inquiry commenced.

After a searching investigation, which lasted five days, Judge
Keogh unseated Major Knox, declaring the election to be void
by reason of bribery by his agents, acquitting him, however,
personally of knowledge, but directing that he should pay the
costs of the petition. Major Knox subsequently stated that the
election and petition cost him nearly £8000.! The Judge
reported to the House of Commons that he had reason to
believe that corrupt practices and bribery extensively prevailed
at this and previous elections. The result of this report was
the staying by the House of Commons of a new writ, and the
ordering of a Special Commission to issue for the purpose of
examining into the subject of corrupt practices existing at the
three last elections, and appointing D. C. Heron, Q.C., J. A.
Byrne, and W. R. Bruce as Commissioners to make the
inquiry, and report thereon. This Commission sat for the
first time in the County Court-house, Sligo, on the 5th October,
1869, and finally closed in December. Upon a report and
return to the House of Commons of these Commissioners,? a bill
was brought in to disfranchise the Borough of Sligo for the cor-
rupt practices that were reported. The result was its disfranchise-
ment by 33 & 34 Vict. c. 38 ; and a number of celebrities of the
day, Queen’s counsel, barristers, justices of the peace, gentle-
men, merchants, and persons holding official appointments were,
on their names being scheduled in the reports of the Judge

! Major Knox died 24th January, 1873, aged 36 years.

2¢ Report of the Commissioners appointed under the Act of 15 & 16
Victoria, cap. 51, for the purpose of making inquiry into the existence of
corrupt practices at the last election for Sligo, together with the Minutes of
Evidence. Presented to both Houses of Parliament by command of Her
Majesty, 1870.






CHAPTER XIX.

PESTILENCE, FAMINE, EMIGRATION, AND POPULATION.

CAREFUL reader of the early Irish annals can-
not fail to observe therein the mention made of
visitations of pestilence and famine. Although
accounts may be disregarded of the annihilation
by pestilence of the early colonies planted in Erin,
still evidence remains of ever-recurring scourges of
later date; for instance, in 1224, 1228 to 1230,
in 1315, in 1318. In 1327 small-pox raged; and in the fol-
lowing year an epidemic broke out which was called Slaodan.
This, it is stated, signifies a cough or cold ; hence the disease
may be supposed to have been what is now termed influenza.
In 1849 a great plague devastated the district of Moylurg on
the boundaries of Roscommon and Sligo. In 1361 and 1362
Sligo was visited by a terrible pestilence which, amongst other
persons of note, carried off the celebrated Cathal Oge O’Conor,
who died in the castle of Sligo. In 1383 and 1384 “ an awful
and very fatal plague raged,” as also in 1398 and 1424. In
1438 ¢the abbot of Kilnamanagh and Nicholas O’Meeny,
vicar of Castleconnor, died of the plague,” which appears to
have been equally virulent the following year, as ¢ The Four
Masters”’ narrate that “Donogh, the son of O’Dowd, ¢.e. Teige;
Conor, son of Donal, the son of Cormaec MacDonogh ; his wife,
the daughter of Teige MacDonogh ; the vicar of Imleach-Iseal ;
Donogh, the son of Tomaltach O’Bolan—all died of the
plague.” In 1447 “a great plague raged in the summer and
harvest,” and in 1464 there was another outbreak. In 1478
“a great plague was imported by a ship which entered the
port of Ballyshannon.” In 1488 the plague raged in Ros-
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common and spread into Sligo. In 1489 the plague “was so
virulent that many persons were left unburied.” In 1492 was
prevalent the * sweating sickness”—the Ephemera Sudatoria of
some writers, but more commonly known as the Sudor Anglicus,
or English sweat. The disease was supposed to have been
produced by the use of unsound wheat—the result of bad
seasons—and accounts are given of violent tempests and tor-
rents of rain which deluged the land. Dreadful epidemics
prevailed in the years 1623 and 1525, whilst in 1528 there was
a recurrence of the “Sweating Sickness.” In 1536 ‘ many
diseases and distempers raged,” and also again in 1572,

In the early ages leprosy was by no means a rare disease in
Ireland; it is stated that on more than one occasion it broke
out as a regular epidemic, and leper hospitals were established
in various localities. “There is a place in the parish of
Cloonoghill in Sligo ” remarks P. W. Joyce, “called Flower-
hill, which is a strange transformation of the proper Irish name
COnoc & lobhair, hill of the leper. This change, which was
made by translating cnoc to Aill, and by turning loblkair (lour)
to flower, totally hides the meaning. It isto be observed that
the fact of lobhair being singular in a name does not exclude
the supposition of a leper hospital.”

It was in the year 1433 that occurred the season designated
“the summer of the slight acquaintance,” for no one would
recognize either friend or acquaintance on account of the sore-
ness of the famine. There was scarcity of food in 1497, so
that great numbers died, and the survivors had but the vilest
of garbage on which to support life ; whilst in 1545  sixpence
of the old money was paid for the loaf in Connaught ;” and in
1582 there was another season of dearth. :

The frequent recurrence of these latter calamities seems to
have been to some extent diminished by the introduction into
the country of the potato, which took place about 1586 to 1588.
The potato stayed for a time the almost periodical famines;
but even prior to the commencement of the eighteenth century
notices are to be met with of partial blights and disease of that
tuber. The first recorded failure of the potato in Sligo occurred
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in the year 1789 ; the crop in 1746 was again bad, for if is
stated that between the 10th and 14th June two ships arrived
in the port with barley and oatmeal, which lowered the price of
those commodities; provisions then became very plenty, and
salmon sold for a penny a pound.

In 1750, 1765, 1770, 1779, and 1784, the population
suffered severely by placing their dependence on the potato
crop ; the most intense pressure being felt in 1765, when the
searcity was so great that a Committee of the
House of Commons was appointed to inquire
into the best way of averting a famine. A
medalet, struck in brass and stamped Srico
Soup Ticker—of which fig. 10 is a repre-
sentation —is reputed to have been made
towards the close of the century, when soup-  Osverse ot Strco

. Soup TiCKET.
shops were opened under Government to relieve  Reverse -- blank,

the then prevalent distress of the poor. Other e
“ Tickets” differing slightly in lettering have also come under
notice.

Again in 1802, 1812, 1816, 1817, and 1821, the tuber was
either deficient or almost wholly destroyed. In 1822 there was
a severe famine, and 40,000 persons were said to have been
then in actual want. There were also several partial failures
of the crop between the years 1823 and 18486.

Thus it will be seen that the famine of 1846-8 was no novel
scourge ; but it fell on the country at a period when its popu-
lation had increased to such a degree that it could only be
supported by the potato, and when it failed starvation became
inevitable.

Famine and pestilence may be said to be almost synony-
mous expressions. Thus we learn that in 1816 and 1817
small-pox made fearful inroads amongst the population, whilst
numbers died of a malignant fever; and on the 24th May
1822, it was stated, in a letter from Sligo, that ¢ fever stalks
upon the heels of famine; we cannot accommodate the sick.
The type of the fever is at present more malignant, and its
duration longer than in 1817.” The malady often ran its

T
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course from twenty-seven to thirty days, leaving the survivor
in impaired health for weeks.

The fields were untilled, and in the preceding year there
had been a total failure of the flax crop, thereby adding to the
calamities of the poor. In the months of June and July, the
peasantry along the coast supported life chiefly on sea-weed
and shell-fish, picked up by them on the shore. This severe
distress was caused by the total failure of the potato crop,
owing to heavy rains which lasted for many months, begin-
ning at the close of the previous year. There was also a great
mortality among cattle, probably arising from the same cause.

An eye-witness thus describes Sligo, in the month of May,
1822 :—¢ It would be impossible for you to conceive or me to
describe the state of the poor among us: the most appalling
description would fall far short of the reality. To know all,
you should put your head into a cabin, containing perhaps ten
or fifteen squalid inhabitants who had fasted forty-eight hours;
hear the cries of the children, behold the tears of the mother,
and the worn, heavy countenance of the father, who has neither
work to do, nor strength to do it. With all that can be done,
numbers must die of hunger, and disease resulting from it.
The prospects of another year are gloomy in consequence of
the ground remaining unplanted for want of seed potatoes.
We are anxiously expecting an importation of them from the
bounty offered by Government.”

A meeting was held in the City of London for the purpose
of raising subscriptions for the relief of distress in Ireland. It
would appear that the distressed districts were equal in extent
to one-half of the superficial contents of the Kingdom; Sligo
was in the scheduled area, and was credited with a population of
127,000. The difference between this famine and the subsequent
visitation of 1845 to 1848 was, that although the potato crop
failed, the grain was generally good. The food distress in the
County became very apparent in the commencement of May ;
in the middle of the month a bounty of 10s. per ton was paid
on the importation of seed potatoes into the port; and at the
close of the month a meeting of the County gentry was convened
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by the High Sheriff at the request of O. Wynne, Abraham
Martin, Alex. Perceval, Wm. Parke, Wm. Duke, and Wmn.
Faussett in order to take steps to alleviate the sufferings of
the poor. The meeting, amongst other measures, appointed
parochial committees to manage the affairs of each parish, to
inquire into the state of the poor, and to apply for subscriptions
and contributions; it was also arranged that the parochial
committees should report once a fortnight to the general
committee, and the latter applied to Government for a grant to
give employment to the poor by the making and repairing of
the public roads.

Those parts of the town in which the poor principally
resided were divided into four districts, “ and gentlemen were
deputed to visit them purposely to ascertain the extent of
distress actually existing, with power to give relief on the spot,
to a certain amount, in cases of such urgent distress as would
not admit of a few days’ delay.”

The following are the names of the Committee for Relief of
the Distressed Poor in the Town and the Union of St. John’s :—

0. Wynne, M. P.; Wm. Faussett, Provost of Sligo; Abraham
Martin ; 1. Everard ; Wm. C. Armstrong, Protestant clergyman of Sligo;
John 0’Connor, Roman Catholic clergyman ; James Cochran; Wm. Hume ;
Alexander M‘Creery; James Dunleavy, Roman Catholic clergyman ;
Thomas Mostyn; Wm. Vernon; David Culbertson; Alex. Cochran;
Francis O’Beirne: John Scott; Martin Madden, Treasurer; Wm.
Urwick, Secretary.”

District committees were authorized, on certain conditions,
to grant small loans to tradesmen and mechanics incapable of
pursuing their occupations through want of money; similar
assistance also to be given to females who had not the means of
buying flax or wool for spinning ; gratuitous relief of food or seed
potatoes to be afforded only in cases where no possible means
of purchasing lay within reach, or where the recipients were
absolutely incapable of work through age or sickness.

Fresh potato seed having been imported, planting was con-
tinued even up to the end of June, owing to the exertions of the
* Committee for the Relief of the Poor, who distributed potatoes

F2
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to the most necessitous, for that purpose, as well as for immediate
consumption.” Owing to the abundant supply, the price of
oatmeal fell from 5s. a peck to 15s. per 1201bs.; but a great
evil continued to exist, namely, want of employment for
the poor, who could not purchase provisions, even if to be
had at one-half of the current prices. From that cause, and
others arising from the peculiar exigencies of the times, the
number of distressed poor had been increased to an unpa-
ralleled degree, several hundreds being wholly dependent upon
the limited measure of daily support which the ecircumscribed
finances of the local committees enabled them to dispense.

The Sligo Journal of June b5th states that the starving
population of Drumecliff parish should feel deeply indebted
to the exertions of their Vicar, the Rev. John Yeates, who
diligently occupied himself in distributing oaten-meal, granted
for relief of the poor, and he was aided in that merciful work
by a resident gentleman, who himself gave several tons of
meal, and further offered to lend money to poor tradespeople
in the parish who could procure security for its repayment by
easy instalments. The employment of the poor, in any shape,
was strongly recommended, as it would be found impracticable
to feed them for the ensuing three months unless some propor-
tion of the funds could return by the introduction of industry ;
the spinning of flax and of wool was, in many places, adopted
with much success.

Up to the first week in June £1400 had been received from
London, but this only permitted the local committee to distri-
bute relief at the rate of ‘three-pence a head to purchase
provisions and firing for seven days.” However, a communi-
eation was received from the * Committee for Irish Distress” in
London, stating that, on the production of any respectable
banker’s certificate for the actual receipt of subscriptions from the
Town of Sligo, the committee in London would remit a sum
equal to half that amount in aid of the local fund.

E. S. Cooper, M.P., with his usual liberality, desired his
name to be inserted for £100 in the list of subsecriptions, and
gentlemen were appointed to obtain contributions in the town ;
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the permanent staff of the Sligo Militia gave one day’s pay
towards the relief of the poor.

According to the testimony of the medical profession, cases
of fever were daily increasing in number and malignancy—as
evidenced by the numbers in the fever hospital—but the
prospect was indeed gloomy if contagion began its ravages
among the poor at a period when, from inability to pay for
separate dwellings, four or five families were crowded together
in hovels, compared with which many a stable might be viewed
as a mansion.

The perseverance of the local committee—O. Wynne,
M.P.; Abraham Martin, James Soden, Colonel Parke, Rev.
C. West, Rev. J. Yeates, Rev. W. C. Armstrong, and
William Faussett—amidst their unceasing and painful toil,
was much to be admired ; as was also that strong principle
of subjection to law and regard to the rights of others,
which, under such pressing want, preserved the lower classes of
the County from acts of violence—for want almost invariably
begets disturbance. In the commencement of the distress cau-
tion was needful, and a meeting of the magistrates of the County
was convened by the High Sheriff “to take into consideration
the outrages of an insurrectionary character which had lately
been committed in a part of the County, and to deliberate on
the most speedy and effectual means of suppressing the same.”
The steps taken by the magistrates appear to have had the
desired effect, as the County remained in a peaceful condition
whilst other less happy portions of the kingdom were a prey
to lawlessness and anarchy.

Early in the month of June a large amount in private dona-
tions had been received from local sources by the committee,
and the Government, through the medium of the Linen Board,
gave a grant of flaxseed to the amount of £200 for the benefit
of distressed tenants in the County. At the same period
also 400 tons of potatoes arrived in the port as a free gift.

One of the district visitors stated that amongst a great
number of cottages at which he called about breakfast hour,
there were not more than six in which he could observe any
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preparation for that meal—there not being even a fire on the
hearth.

Upwards of £1000 was collected from local sources, and up
to the 29th June the number of persons relieved in the town
amounted to 5911 ; 477 labourers were employed on a new
line of road * from Buckley’s Ford! to Bayview;” 295 females
were employed spinning flax, whilst 237 distressed tradesmen
pursued their respective occupations by means of loans of
small sums of money on security, thus reducing considerably
the number of claimants for gratuitous assistance. The idea
of opening a line to be called “The Circular Road,”* which
could serve no use save the mere temporary employment of
the poor, was greatly ridiculed at the time, and it was with
much truth alleged that the money might have been laid out to
much more advantage in various other ways. The following
lines that appeared in the Sligo Journal of the period are an
example of the criticism of the day:—

¢ ¢The Poor Committee ’ in their zeal
To save each starving wretch,

Have plann’d a road, just near the Jail,
That he might see Jack Hetch.

In this a moral may be found,
That Poverty ’s a sin,

That hunger oft takes dangerous ground
A scanty meal to win.”

This new road soon ceased to exist, the Grand Jury having
thrown out the presentment for its maintenance.

Under the “Act for Employment of the Poor in certain
Districts of Ireland,” Alexander Nimmo, a well-known engineer,
was appointed to the ¢ Northern District,” which included
the Counties of Sligo, Mayo, and Galway. Not only were
numerous new lines of communication opened up, but the ad-

! Buckley’s Ford is said to have derived its name from an officer who, in
1691, was killed at this pass by a cannon ball fired from the Green Fort of
Sligo, which was then in possession of Sir Teigue O’Regan.

21t was also designated ‘‘The English Road,” as it was made with
British money.
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vancement of the fishing industry on the littoral was taken into
consideration. In July the following notice appeared :—

¢ The gentlemen who are interested in the erection of a Sarrry
Prer at MurracaMORE are requested to signify by letter to Mr. James
Walker, Sligo, what sum each person is disposed to subscribe towards
that work, which it is intended to proceed on forthwith. The
Commissioners of Fishery only contribute one-half of the expense, which
has been estimated at £1200 by Mr. Nimmo, Engineer to the
Commissioners.”

It would appear as if the Mansion House Committee for
relief of the distress in Ireland gave a grant to aid in the
erection of the pier at Raughly.

On the 27th July it was stated that the local committee had
11,000 persons depending on them for subsistence, and including
wages and every other allowance the ratio of relief which they
could afford for each person per diem was very low indeed, and
the practice of digging the potato-fields before they could yield
their produce was unfortunately becoming very general ; indeed
it was with the greatest difficulty that the peasantry were
prevented from eating the crop when but half grown, and there-
fore the committee issued a notice stating that any person on
the lists for relief who dug potatoes before the 20th August
would be at once removed from the relief list, for the practice if
persisted in would tend to deprive the poor of means of future
subsistence.

The report of the committee for relief of the distressed poor
in the town of Sligo, Union of St. John’s, dated 28th June, is
given as a specimen of these returns (Appendix E). Asmay be
noticed, the recipients of relief were divided into two classes,
those who received gratuitous aid and those who earned it; no
portion of the wages given for work was paid in money, but each
labourer received a quantity of oatmeal proportioned to the
number of his family and the work performed by him.

The total amount of weekly expenditure for the four Districts
was £262 15s. 4d., which for seven weeks amounted to
£1839 7s. 4d., the sum that would be required, at the very
lowest calculation, to preserve the poor from starvation till
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the 20th of August. From the want of seed potatoes, planting
was unavoidably delayed, and consequently relief from the
growing erop would be much later than usual, not even so soon
as the 20th of August, the period calculated upon.

The amount of wages, for overseers’ carts employed in
conveying materials to the road, for boys engaged in breaking
stones, and for masons in repairing walls, was not included in
the above.

In the Life of William Urwick, D.D., it is stated that he had
been appointed honorary secretary to the relief committee for
distribution of English contributions in the town and county ;
£50,000 is said to have been disbursed in Sligo on works of
supposed public utility. When the managers of the London
Fund closed the accounts, they had a balance of £40,000 in hand,
and this sum was divided amongst the ten Western Counties of
Ireland ; each local committee was allocated its share, to give
money out on loan to assist the linen, woollen, and fishery in-
dustries.

A scarcity of provisions in Sligo became very apparent at
the commencement of the year 1830, and the peasantry were com-
pelled to travel from remote quarters of the country, ten, fifteen,
or twenty miles, in order to purchase a stone of meal in the town ;
there was, in short, a recurrence of a period of scarcity almost as
great as in the year 1822. The price of potatoes rose to nearly
3s. a peck of 4 stone; oatmeal stood at 20s. per ewt.; fuel of
every description attained an unprecedented high price; coals
rose to 22s. a ton, and in May, 1831, potatoes had to be imported
into Sligo.

In the autumn of that year quarantine regulations were
enforced in the port against ships from foreign parts, and
alarmed by the accounts of the slow but sure advance of the
Asiatic cholera, the vestry of St. John’s, on the 22nd November,
voted the sum of £200 to be expended for sanitary purposes,
and officers of health were appointed. Sligo was indeed ripe
for an attack of the epidemic. There were but a fow short sewers
in the town, and they all discharged into the river, the water of
which was used by the inhabitants for drinking and culinary
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purposes. So early as 1826 the Doctors had pronounced the
water in the pump in Tubbergal-lane to be unfit for use, whilst
in 1828 other wells had been closed as being unsanitary ; in
March, 1832, stagnant water had collected in several places,
which had to be drained off by the Commissioners.

It appeared at first as if Sligo would be exempted from the

dread visitation of the cholera; Galway, Tuam, Ballinrobe,

Castlebar, and Mullingar had been stricken, but there was
seemingly a pause in the advance of the fell disease ; yet finally
Sligo suffered more severely than any other town in Ireland,
and was specially remarkable for the number of medical men
that were carried off by that malady.

The first case of cholera was seen on the 29th July, 1832,
but the people *threatened vengeance against the medical men
who reported the fact.” On the 11th of August, however, there
could no longer be any doubt of its presence amongst them ; its
appearance had been preceded by thunder and lightning, accom-
panied with a hot, close atmosphere. A “Board of Superinten-
dence” consisting of thirteen members was formed to look after
affairs in the Borough during the epidemie, but they could effect
little to stay the ravages of the pestilence, except by trying to
enforce cleanliness, proper ventilation, and the precautions which
were then thought of use to ward off the attack.

The present Fever Hospital, being situated on an eminence
at a short distance from the town, and detached from other
buildings, was considered the most suitable place to be devoted
to the reception of cholera patients, and the rapidity with
which the unhappy victims were carried off rendered it essential
that a large supply of coffins should always be in readiness.
These were placed in great numbers on the field behind the
hospital, and the fresh wood of which they were composed stood
out in strong relief on the deep green sod of the hill, from which
the ground sloped away on every side, thus rendering the ghastly
pile of coffins plainly observable at a distance of two or three
miles. It was no uncommon thing in those direful days to see
persons who had fallen victims to the terrible malady lying dead
in the streets; these corpses were wrapped in sheets smeared
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with piteh, to prevent the spread of the disease, and were re-
moved by the cholera-carts employed by the Board of Super-
intendence ; some of the bodies were coffined and some were
not, for in the beginning the supply of coffins was far short of
the demand.

The first appearance of cholera in Sligo found the medical
men quite ignorant of the real nature of the disease, and therefore
their treatment of it varied according to the judgment formed
by each. In those days, the use of the lancet was looked on as
a sovereign remedy in almost every malady, and bleeding was
approved of by some practitioners: such was the treatment
resorted to, by his own desire, in the case of Dr. Coyne, on his
showing symptoms of this dreaded scourge. He sank rapidly,
despite the frequent after-administration of stimulants. “Ah!”
said he, just before the end, ““this is not the right treatment; it
is like knocking a man down with a blow of the fist, and then
extending your little finger to help him up again.”

With respect to the influence of locality on the disease in the
town, it is noteworthy thatin some of the best streets, such as
Stephen-street, Knox’s-street, Ratcliffe-street, the epidemic
appeared in its most virulent form in almost every house on
the side immediately adjoining the river, whilst on the opposite
side the cases were less severe and comparatively few in number.
In Stephen-street, on the side next the river, four generations lay
dead at the same time in one house, and of its inmates there
remained only one survivor.

The general silence which prevailed in the town was specially
noticeable, the footsteps of those running to seek medical aid, or
the hurried footfall of the medical men, were the principal sounds
heard, the only other movement being the carrying of the dead
to their last resting-place, or the rumble of the hearse conveying

' A gentleman who spent the greater portion of his life in India stated
that in one virulent outbreak of cholera, he observed natives who whilst in the
act of working in the fields apparently in good health, were suddenly struck
down ; complained of giddiness, deafness, loss of sight, and expired in a few
minutes ; soldiers attacked on the march have been known to dic in the
course of a couple of hours. J



PESTILENCE, FAMINE, EMIGRATION, AND POPULATION. 75

the remains of those of somewhat better social position ; whilst
the air was impregnated with the odour emitted by tar-barrels
burning at the corners of the streets. A person who well remem-
bers these terrible scenes states that not a voice was to be heard
in the streets; the birds appeared to have ceased tosing, and the
sparrows to chirp : indeed the absence of the feathered tribe was
most remarkable.” The streets were deserted, and before the
termination of the epidemic they were almost as green as
the fields.

Up to the close of September cholera lingered on in the
town, but so early as the beginning of the month seven skilful
medical practitioners and physicians had succumbed, and at the
close of the visitation eleven medical men in all were stated to
have fallen victims to it. So great were the ravages that a
native of the place who was quartered in India at the time, saw
there a newspaper paragraph with the heading “Sligo is no
more.”

A prominent member of the profession at this period was
Dr. Irwin; he had been with the army during the Peninsular
war, and the Waterloo campaign: he was promoted to the rank
of Deputy Inspector-General of Hospitals, and in 1817 was
placed on half-pay, and appointed surgeon to the Military at
Sligo. He was indefatigable in superintendence of the cholera
hospital, and witnessed the death of many of his old professional
friends who had been associated with him in that duty; amongst
them may be mentioned Doctors Coyne and Bell. It is
related that the former, a few days before his death, happened
to pass a friend’s house on his way to one of his numerous
patients, when he observed the cholera-cart waiting before the
door,” and on inquiry he was told that his friend was dead. He
was astonished at this announcement, having seen him in full

!The disappearance of birds has also been noticed in the East on the
outbreak of this epidemie.

? 1t was no uncommon oceurrence for the cholera-cart to be kept waiting
at the door of a house in which a person was attacked by the cholera until
the patient was dead, for in the early part of the epidemic people suecumbed
to the disease in a short time.
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vigour but a few hours previously. He entered the house, and
found people preparing to place the supposed corpse in a coffin.
Coyne examined the body, discovered some faint sign of life;
the man was consequently replaced in bed, restoratives applied,
and finally he survived for many years after his rescuer had
himself succumbed to the epidemic.

Many stories are recounted of persons being earried off to be
buried whilst still alive, but this may in many instances be
accounted for by the fact that the algide surface of the body,
a short time after death becomes again heated, and there is
muscular movement; this curious phenomenon was observed
in many other localities afflicted by the cholera. In reply to an
inquiry on this point from a physician of eminence, he stated :—
Tt is true that in cases of cholera the surface is icy cold, but
when death relaxes the condition of the skin, the hot blood from
the interior of the body does impart much heat for some time
after death; movements of the muscular fibres of the chest and
arms can all be excited in certain cases: of course so long as
any trace of action continues, ¢#kat part is not really dead, but it
is certain the patient is.”

At the outbreak of the cholera in Sligo, all who could do
so removed from the town, the population being reduced, it
is alleged, to under four thousand; but a vast number of the
poorer classes, who fled into the neighbouring country, were
looked on by the peasantry as disseminators of the scourge then
afflicting the town, and they refused to house these refugees,
or even supply them with the ordinary necessaries of life.
Accordingly they sought protection in ditches, or any sheltered
nook they could find, and as nothing could induce them to
return fo the town, food was given for their use by the committee
appointed for that purpose: however, as might be expected, from
the hardships to which they were exposed, whiskey came to be
regarded as the great panacea, and this despite their poverty,
they managed in some way to procure, so that drunkenness
became very prevalent, and it was said that those who gave
way to that vice fell ready victims to the cholera on their first
return to sobriety.
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The newspapers of the time state that the country people
of the neighbourhood, in various directions, were acting in a
most outrageous manner on the high roads; they cut the ropes
of carriers, stopped provisions on the way to the town, insulted
and interrupted those who rode, walked, or drove out for exercise
or on business; thus severe want was being felt in the town,
and the miserable remnant of the population were threatened by
their neighbours with a blockade and famine, following on the
fearful visitation of God. Some gentlemen on horseback were
insulted near Ballincar, where a wall had been built across the
road to prevent the passage of people from the town; in other
directions, trenches were cut across the highways; a carrier
from Enniskillen was forced to turn back, but it is needless
to enumerate the many similar cases that occurred; the daily
coach between Dublin and Sligo, however, seems to have been
allowed to proceed unimpeded, and handbills were therefrom
distributed along the route giving details of the ravages of the
epidemic.!

The period of the cholera visitation was one which brought
into prominence the distinetive traits in the character of public
officials. Some few fled; but the majority behaved in an
exemplary manner, so much so, that when it was proposed

! CHOLERA.— Daily Numerical Report of Cases for the TOWN and
DISTRICT of SLIGO.

Remaining Remaining
DATE. at New Cases. Dead. Recovered. this Day
last Report. at zr o’Clock.
Augt. 21 126 119 46 32 167

The foregoing includes the HOSPITAL REPORT, viz.

29 39 21 7 40

FROM THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE
DISEASE, ON 11th AUGUST, 1832. Signed,

CASES. DIED.

Wm. Allen, Assist. Secretary.
610 278
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to present a testimonial to one gentleman, who had been in-
defatigable in his exertions, it was remarked that he had only
done his duty, and that if given to him, it would have to be
given to all. The Commissioners for improving the Town
and Harbour of Sligo, in this respect however, showed a
good example, for at a meeting held on 26th November the
salary of two of their officers was considerably reduced, in
consequence of their having deserted their duty “during
the awful period when the town was visited with cholera.”
On the other hand, it was resolved that “John Williams and
Robert Boyd, town and harbour constables, do receive the
sum of three pounds each in consequence of the manly and
faithful manner in which they discharged their duty and con-
ducted themselves during the period of cholera in the town.”
All regular business had been suspended; for example, the
secretary of the Commissioners wrote on the 28th November to
express his regret at not sooner replying to a letter, as the Board
had only just met “for the purpose of arranging business that
should have been done in August.”

As the pestilence abated, people began to breathe more freely,
and to inquire into the details of calamity throughout the town.
It was long, however, before affairs resumed their wonted course,
so many individuals had been removed, who were formerly found
at the head of every movement in their respective walks of life.
Business was partially resumed, and the streets began to wear
once more an appearance of life; but a person who visited Sligo
at a late period of the year (1832) stated that with respect to
the air and atmosphere of the town, he was convinced, from
personal sensation, that it was pestiferous and deadly, for when
passing to the Courthouse from M‘Bride’s—now the Imperial—
Hotel, a singularly disagreeable odour was perceptible, such
as might be noticed in dirty anatomical dissecting rooms, or in
confined places crowded with blacks in a state of perspiration ;
it was no fancy, for whenever the above-mentioned locality was
reached he became peculiarly sensible ofit. Very many corpses
had been buried in the Abbey-grounds, where there was scarcely
clay enough to cover the coffins, whilst in the Churchyard of
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St. John's, about eighty bodies were deposited without the
trouble having been taken of digging deep; whereas a cholera
corpse should be covered with quite six feet of earth. Great
numbers of all denominations were buried in the ground behind
the Fever Hospital, but of course the bodies and coffins had,
under medical supervision, as a general rule, been carefully and
properly put down at a sufficient depth. This place is still
known as “The Cholera Field”’; it was unenclosed until the
year 1848, when it was surrounded by a well-built wall, and
across the enclosure runs the mound which marks the site of the
“Cholera Trench.”

A return is given of the cases admitted to, and the numbers
who actually died within, the hospital. The gross totals are
specified, but unfortunately the first and some intermediate
portions of the tabular statement are missing. It is impossible’
to ascertain the actual number of deaths that occurred within
the precinets of the Borough, for there appears to have been no
regular system of registration observed beyond the bounds of
the hospital and the registry of St. John’s; no doubt, however,
the number furnished in the returns here given would be
considerably increased if the burials which took place in the
Abbey were added to them, for many contemporaneous observers
were of opinion that more were interred there than at the
hospital. The numbers who actually died of the epidemic have
been variously estimated. It is thought the statement that
“out of a population of about 15,000 the cholera carried off
1500, is not far from the true facts of the case; but it is to be
noted that out of the above nominal population, not more than
four or at most five thousand remained.

To ensure uniformity, the return of deaths in the hospital
was always made out at the same hour, namely, 11 o’clock,
a.m. In the first fortnight after the outbreak of cholera, 449
people died in the hospital—being at the rate of about 225
per week; but it is probable that the majority of these fatal
cases occurred in the first seven days, for cholera appears to be
subject to the same laws that regulate the outbreak, course,
and termination of other epidemics, ¢.e. it is more fatal at its
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commencement, and becomes less virulent after its first energy
has been expended.

In the third week 124 died, the fourth week 52, the fifth
week 11, the sixth week 4, after which there appears to have
been no other fatal cases in the hospital; the total number
admitted being 1229 and the deaths 640, a fraction more than
half of those attacked succumbed to the disease.

Remain- N A R Remain-
Date. ‘Eggﬁ:{_ Cases. | Diede | covered. ‘n%;l;:s
Aug. 25, Saturday, . 89 59 41 22 83
s 26, Sunday, . 83 28 28 21 62
» 27, Monday, . 62 29 18 20 53
» 28, Tuesday, .| 63 20 16 13 44
,y 29, Wednesday,| 44 15 14 12 33
,» 30, Thursday, . 33 15 7 13 28
,, 81, Friday, .| 28 17 4 10 31t
Sept. 1, Saturday, . 31 21 12 10 30
» 2, Sunday, . 30 10 13 6 21
ys L=3iiMonday, . 21 12 9 6 18
s 4, Tuesday, . 18 8 4 4 18
5 B, Wednesday,| 18 10 ) 8 15
,» 6, Thursday,. 15 8 4 7 12
ss 1, Friday, . 12 4 5 3 82
Sept. 14, Friday, . 7 1 1 2 53
Sept. 21, Friday, . 6 0 0 2 4
Sept. 28, Friday, . 6 0 0 %] 45

The following record of burials in the churchyard of St.
John’s from 11th August to the 7th September, 1832, is ex-
tracted from the Parish books; only four other deaths were

registered during the year, making a grosstotal of 83. The bill

! Total cases since the commencement of the disease on the 11th August, 1832,

1117; total deaths, 573.

% Total cases since the commencement of the disease on the 11th August, 1832,
1190: total deaths, 625.

8 Total cases since the commencement of the disease on the 11th August, 1832,
1213; total deaths, 636.

“ Total cases since the commencement of the disease on the 11th August, 1832,
1224; total deaths, 640.

® Total cases since the commencement of the disease on the 11th August, 1832,
1229 ; total deaths, 640. No NEW CASE.
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paid by the Vestry of St. John’s for “Coffin Boards” to one
contractor alone amounted to nearly £25.

Date. . No. buried. I Date. No. buried.
August 11, . 2 August 24, . . 1‘ 4
o T 2 PR R S S 3
ot I Conl SN 1 et 26T 1
P60 1 T B e S o 2
NG 12 AR 2
e 14 5 5 G205 e 4
el G 4 o S0 g 1
195 5 | September1, . 6
G TER e 2 S St $E 1
SO T 8 T 1
IR 2 of 403900 2
T TR i T TR 1
oI R el o e, T s )

The village of Ballysodare suffered very severely, and from
the first outbreak of the cholera in that locality to its final
disappearance, it is estimated that nearly one hundred deaths
took place in the village and its immediate vicinity: the scenes
in Sligo were here reproduced in a minor degree; the country
people drew a cordon round the devoted hamlet and prevented
all egress, but the neighbouring village of Collooney escaped
both in the year 1832, and also upon the reappearance of the
malady in 1849. In 1834 there was a slight return of cholera,
which, however, appears to have attacked only the country vil-
lages ; and in Easky five deaths having occurred in one day the
inhabitants deserted it in the commencement of October.

“Nowhere in Ireland,” writes Inglis, “did cholera rage with
such deadly violence as in Sligo ; and I found, in the year 1834,
in the town when I visited it, the greatest dread of its reappear-
ance, a few cases having appeared at Ballina and in some of
the neighbouring villages.”

After the disappearance of cholera, a virulent kind of fever
prevailed in Sligo, and was almost as fatal as the former; in
February, 1837, there was an outbreak of influenza, and in April,
1842, fever was prevalent throughout the county.

G
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There was a partial failure of the potato crop in 1845, and
in the autumn and winter there was great dearth of employment;
a committee appointed by the Town and Harbour Commissioners
to inquire into matters in the borough, reported that 2400 per-
sons were unemployed. In 1846 food riots occurred ; and in
the spring of that year, committees for relief of the poor were
established, and works of public utility were undertaken, for
the purpose of giving employment to the destitute. There were
violent thunderstorms in the summer, and towards the end of
July there could be little doubt but that a second failure of the
potato-crop must occur; and at a somewhat later period, when
the scanty produce of the harvest was secured, the prospect of
starvation, like a spectre, struck dread into the hearts of all.
The rural population were in a worse plight than the towns-
people by the sudden destruction of their accustomed food, of
which as much could formerly be had for 4d. or 6d. a peck
of four stone as 2s. 6d. could then purchase of oatmeal or
flour.

In December the committee recommended that extraordinary
steps shouid be taken to alleviate the widely-prevalent distress,
as the mercantile supply of food in Sligo was totally inadequate
to meet the demand, ““deaths from starvation having already
occurred in the neighbourhood,” and many were said to be fast
wasting to mere skeletons.

Soup-kitchens were opened in various localities, and these
were principally supported by private subscriptions; in Upper
Leyny alone, nine soup-kitchens were kept up at a weekly
expenditure of £75. “In the distriet of Achonry, containing
20,000 souls, one half were receiving rations in the month of
June ; and forty corpses, the wretched remains of persons who
had succumbed to starvation, were awaiting the coroner (at one
time) in the district of Magherowe.”

The then rector of Ballymote is credited with having secured
the earliest assistance for his parishioners during the first year
of this famine. He had written to the committee in Dublin,
praying for instant relief, and in reply received a letter which
commenced ‘“we are thinking,” &ec.; his laconic retort had the
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effect of speedily procuring the needful supplies; it was simply
“while you are thinking, we are starving.”

The manner in which the overplus of the food supplies,
accumulated to meet the demands occasioned by the famine of
1846-8, was disposed. of in Sligo, appears to have rankled in
the minds of the merchants even so late as the year 1861, as
evidenced in the address presented to Sir Robert Peel in that
year, wherein it is stated that “the commissariat which refused
to sell or part with any of its food-stores when called upon by
the public bodies here, while provisions were scarce, and prices
high—when the famine had done its work, and ample supplies
had been imported, then entered into competition with the mer-
chants, glutted the markets, reduced prices of food to one-third
of the cost, and ruined the enterprising importers.”

Observers of later date may, however, arrive at the conclusion
that the Government officials acted for the best, that it was in
fact to prevent a sudden rise in price after Governmental aid
had been withdrawn, that they threw their stores on the public
markets, and althongh it may have had injurious effect on
merchants speculating for a rise, yet the exceptional circumstances
of the case seem to justify their action.

The total of presentments made in the county for the relief
works of 1846-8 was £217,802, and it was estimated that 306
miles of new roads were made ; many of these were, however, not
kept up.

During the year of famine, instructions to the peasantry
were issued by Government, suggesting means by which (if
carried out) it was hoped that the future progress of disease in
the potato might possibly be arrested: the majority of the
population, however, refused to adopt any precautionary measure,
“but preferred to have ‘holy water’ sprinkled over the potato-
pits, feeling quite convinced that if the blessed liquid failed
nothing else could avail.”

A virulent fever, consequent on the sufferings of the people.
broke out in March, 1847 ; and even before that date, between
fifty and sixty interments had already taken place in the new
burial-ground. At the close of the year 1848, when the terrors

G 2
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of the visitation were yet fresh, and the inhabitants of the town
were thoroughly alarmed at the prospect of another epidemic of
cholera, a “Sanitary Association’’ was appointed to inquire into
matters and make a report thereon; that report was simply
appalling, the sources of water-supply being all more or less
polluted ; in one instance decomposed blood, percolating from a
slaughter-yard into a well, was distinctly observable, and one
pump received the drainage from the Abbey, another that from
the churchyard. ‘A host of inquirers of the highest eminence
and repute in this department of science have established the
fact, beyond controversy, that one of the most frequent and
fertile causes of some of our most dreaded and fatal diseases,
cholera and typhoid or enteric fever, for example, as well as of
innumerable minor and chroniec derangements of health, prinei-
pally affecting the digestive system, is the contamination of
our drinking and cooking water by the admixture of various
organic impurities and poisons (animal and vegetable) derived
from the sewage of towns, or slowly percolating through a
porous soil into the adjacent wells, springs, rivers, and lakes.”

It was a peculiarity attending the second visitation of cholera
in Sligo, that the town itself was, comparatively speaking, but
slightly affected. The country distriets, however, suffered severely.
Dr. Thomas Little, the County Surgeon, was one of the
first vietims; he was attacked whilst in the hospital, was too
ill to be removed to his own residence, and died in a neigh-
bouring house. In recognition of hiszeal, some of his admirers,
in 1852, decided on erecting a memorial to him, which took the
form of a marble bust, executed by Barter, a then well-known
young sculptor, and when finished the bust was placed in the
entrance hall of the County Infirmary.

The first patient attacked by cholera in 1849 was brought to
the hospital on the 29th May, and died the same day; but

between the 18th and 22nd August, 166 patients were admitted y

to the hospital and hospital sheds: the former provided 50, and
the latter 100 beds. Of the patients 98 died, but 68 recovered.
T'he epidemic ceased as abruptly as it had commenced.

Dr. Mapother, at one time Medical Officer of Health to the
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Dublin Corporation, and subsequently President of the Royal
College of Surgeons, was of opinion that the mortality in the
town of Sligo from the cholera in the year 1832 was as 1 in 12;
for the year 1849 one in 27. Some consider that the mortality
from the former epidemic is somewhat under, and from the
latter, somewhat over-estimated by him.

Fever raged both before and after the cholera, and up to the
18th August, 1849, nearly 500 patients had been taken into the
hospital ; whilst nunibers who could not be received lay along
the roadside under temporary shelter, in the immediate neigh-
bourhood, awaiting their turn ; and the Infirmary porter who was
in the habit of supplying these sufferers with water, caught the
fever and died.

Tubbercurry, Tubberscanavan, and other villages suffered
severely from the malady ; whilst the reports from the townland
of Dunfore, on the Lissadell Estate, were simply appalling: one
person stated in the public press that on the roadside he saw
four coffins, in some of which the corpses had lain for two or three
days, as nobody would bury them.

In Sligo the Abbey burial-ground remained closed for about
six months—during which period the ornamental railings in
front of it were erected—when the Mayor was solicited as a
special favour to grant leave for the interment of a well-known
citizen; this being done, the local magistrates acted subsequently
on the opinion that all families having burial-places in the Abbey
should have permission to inter there as soon as the epidemic
had quite disappeared : a magistrate’s order, however, had to be
produced. The place once opened, applications from all sides
poured in, and the result was a reversion to the old state of
things.

In the year 1854 there was a slight outbreak of cholera, whilst
in 1866 two cases occurred, produced, it was alleged, by drinking

water drawn from near where a sewer discharged into the river.

In January and February, 1875, a virulent type of small-
pox broke out in the village of Tubbercurry and its neighbour-
hood. The disease was alleged to have been imported into the
locality by some itinerant quacks from the County Mayo, who
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spread the infection by inoculation, and thus was revived a
terrible epidemic which had been long and successfully kept
under by means of the Compulsory Vaccination Act. One of
the quacks was tried, found guilty and sentenced to five years
penal servitude. On this subject T%e Jedical Press and Circular
of that date observed:—*The state of the West of Ireland, as
regards the prevalence of small-pox, is a pitiable illustration of
the incompetency of the law to deal with an offence perpetrated
in the face of day, and hardly even denied by the guilty parties.
The inoculation mania in Connaught has, in the last three months
cost 222 lives, and most of the registrars of that Province refer
to its prevalence in their districts, and to the terrible misery
caused by it.”

In May, 1877, there was a slight outbreak of typhoid fever
in the town; and in the autumn there was a failure of the potato
crop, as also again in 1878, in which year during an epidemic of
small-pox many cases of a malignant type were admitted to
hospital. In the autumn of 1886 there was a severe outbresk
of scarlatina in the Knocknarea district.

In the autumn of 1879 the potato crop was again almost an
entire failure owing to the inclemency of the season and con-
tinuous rains. The flood was so great as to cause the river in
the town to become heavily swollen between the Upper and
Lower Weirs; over the former a seething mass of rolling waters
poured, submerging many of the houses on each side, and at
the Lower Weir the rush of such a volume of water presented a
wonderful spectacle. All through the county incalculable
mischief was wrought, valleys were transformed into lakes, the
turf supply was seriously injured as well as the potatoes, and
thus three successive bad seasons inflicted great suffering on all,
but more especially on the small farmers.

There were in the Sligo Union over 500 persons, including
children, in receipt of outdoor relief, costing at the rate of £1300
per annum.

The Lissadell West and Magherowe districts were in a sad
state of destitution, and large tracts in Tireragh were in the
same condition. At this critical juncture the Duchess of
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Marlborough interested herself in forming a central committee
to collect funds for distribution amongst the destitute in the
‘West and South of Ireland, and a similar charitable work was
commenced in London. In the spring of 1880 the distress in
the County Sligo became severe and wide-spread; emigration,
however, had to some extent lessened the evils of scarcity by
diminishing the superabundant population, else sufferings as
great as in 1822 or 1847 might have resulted.

With Government money new varieties of seed potatoes
were introduced by the local authorities, and distributed to the
small farmers, who received them by way of loan—the expense
repayable by instalments. Money was also advanced by Govern-
ment on easy terms, and Special Baronial Sessions were held,
at which numerous presentments were pdssed, principally for
the opening of new lines of road, useful in themselves as well
as affording occupation to those in need of employment, and a
few fishing-piers also were erected.

Early in 1883 there was severe distress in the island of
Innismurray, and the steamer *“ Redwing > was placed at the
disposal of the Local Government Board. In consequence of
very stormy weather, several abortive attempts were made before
provisions could be landed, and the risk of starvation thus
averted, for even under favourable circumstances this island
can with difficulty support its inhabitants.

Emigration set in again in full force —one steamer alone car-
ried off from the quay upwards of 100 persons bound for “ the
far West.” To account for the present great diminution of the
population a cause must be sought other than the ordinary death-
rate or the thinning of the number of inhabitants by famine,
fever, or pestilence. This cause is clearly to be traced to emigra-
tion. The population in the County Sligo, according to the
Census of 1659, was 6877 ; the barony of Carbury contained 1398
souls ; Tireragh, a total of 1495 ; Tirerrill, 1389 ; Corran, 1107 ;
Leyny, 1181 ; the half barony of Coolavin, 307. Even from the
scant population of the 18th century there was a slight but
steady exodus. In 1778, Arthur Young states, ‘there were
some emigrations to America, but not considerable; some of
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them have come back again.” From 1760 to 1792, the popula-
tion had nearly doubled ; in 1820 there was a constant, steady
stream of emigrants, increased by the privations of 1822, whilst,
in 1830, the stream may be said to have become a torrent.
On one day in the month of May, three vessels cleared out
of the port with emigrants for America, and hundreds were
waiting in Sligo for the sailing of other vessels which were
fitting up. In June of the same year three sailing ships left
with 500 emigrants; there was even a greater stir in 1831—
the year anterior to the cholera. It was stated that in April of
that year, thirteen vessels were in port for the conveyance of
passengers to British America and the States, and several others
were daily expected. Many respectable families were preparing
to leave the town, which was crowded with country people
awaiting the sailing of vessels. Up to 3lst August thirty
vessels had left Sligo with a total of 4495 souls.

From January to April, 1832, thirteen vessels left the port
with 4086 emigrants, but.no further departures are recorded,
emigration being checked by the outbreak of cholera. In 1834,
however, the current set in agair in full force, and in April there
were no less than thirty vessels advertised to start from the
port during the summer season. From 1st January to st May,
1835, 750 persons had left; six vessels sailed from the quay
during one week in the month of June, 1836 ; whilst, in 1838,
the total number of emigrants that left was 1284, in eleven
ships, of which the average tonnage was but about 200 tons!
The tide of emigration was directed to the British possessions in
Anmerica, no vessel having cleared out for the United States. In
1839 the exodus continued, and in 1840 Sir Robert Gore Booth
fitted out a ship for a number of his tenants on the townland .
of Bullygilgan. In the year 1845, from January to July, 2142
emigrants left the port. From ¢ Sligo and the outposts’”—
which probably comprised Ballina—a Return of Emigration
for the period, commencing in 1847 and ending in 1850, is as
follows : —1146 emigrants sailed for the United States in the
year 1847, and 11,904 for British America ; in 1848 the numbers
were 747 and 2331, respectively ; 1665 emigrants sailed for the
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United States, and 2313 for British America in the year 1849 ;
whilst in 1850 the numbers were 1009 and 1395, respectively :
thus making a total of 4567 emigrants to the States and 17,943
to British America during the four years above named.

These items will convey some faint idea of the vast exodus
which was continuously going on. Unfortunately, no regular
statistics appear to have been kept until the year 1851, from
which date, however, the returns are accurate. From 1851-4
there were about 7750 emigrants.

Year. No. Year. No.

1855, . . 1161 TR L 230
1856, . . 881 T84 5527063
1857, . . 1154 1875, . . 553
1858, . . 602 1876, . . 316
1859, . . 645 TeTe— -t 983
1860, . . 934 PRTa e . - 478
1861, . . 698 BRG T <506
1862, . . 738 1880, . . 3727
1863, . . 1516 1881, . . 2565
1864, . . 1614 1882, . . 2411
1865, . . 985 1883, . . 4233
1866, . . 1706 1884, . . 2255
1887, . . 1761 1885, . . 2005
1868, . . 905 1886, . . 1684
1869, . . 950 1887, . . 2938
180955 & 11118 1888, . . 2125
ERR) e T18) 1889, . . 1746
1872, . . 1344 1890, . . 1680

Making, from the year 1851 to 1890, a total of about 60,467
persons, being an average of 151167 for each year.

An examination of the above return demonstrates that a
good or bad agricultural season is marked in the subsequent
year, by the respective decrease or increase of emigration.

The estimated population of the county was 6877 in the
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year 1659; 38,736 in 1760; 60,000 in 1792; 119,265 in 1812
146,229 in 1821; 171,508 in 1831. A tabular statement from
1841 to 1881 is here given :—

! | BIRTHPLACE.
Pt Province of : e 5
E CL‘;‘::“ZE; = “ - « Great Bﬂtd_m' 'i
= N t @ D [ Q -] =] &, Total
7 T 880 287 08 i IS '
P oof 23|62 EE iE|Hed| 2|1
| 855 |88 | &3 | &2 &b |duR| 2] &5
1841 | 173,277 | 5074 679 272 | 1040 276 171 97 | 180,886
1851 | 121,623 | 4833 533 245 739 278 201 63 | 128,515
1861 | 117,840 | 4350 694 323 875 366 250 147 | 124,845
1871 | 108,594 | 4157 633 332 768 516 349 144 | 115,493
1881 | 108,898 | 4435 739 444 908 531 399 224 | 111,578!

The estimated population of the county for the years named
is as follows : —

1888, o, 108 et 1887, LT DR
1885, . . 101,040. 1888, . . 96,205.

It will thus be seen that from 1659 to 1841 the population
continuously increased, since which period it has continuously
declined. Immigration, however, is on the increase ; the
number of English, Scotch, and Foreigners resident iu the
county being greater than ever. ‘

The decrease of population in the town of Sligo has taken
place, seemingly, amongst the very poorest class. It is difficult

! Population of County Sligo by Baronies :—

Decrease

Barony. ! 1841. 1861. 1871. 1881. per cent.,

| 1841-81.
| Carbury, . . 46,597 33,746 29,930 29,224 37-29
Coolavin, . . 10,206 8825 8406 8069 20-93
Corran, . . . 18,489 13,330 12,152 11,570 37-42
Leyny, . . . 37,096 27,149 26,166 24,982 32-65
Tireragh, . . 36,759 22,879 21,857 21,449 4165
Tirerril, o o 31,739 18,916 16,982 16,284 18-69

— = -

f Total of County, 180,886 124,845 115,493 111,578 38-80
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to ascertain the exact numbers at any period within the borough,
as the returns appear to have sometimes included the Parlia-
mentary, and sometimes only the Municipal boundary.

Mouxrtcrear BoroveH, including inmates of Public Institutions.

Year. No. of Inhabitants. Year. No. of Inhabitants.
GBI 255, 488 LR e e e 8 U L0
IR e S 2,001 ES6IL, " 5 1205693
T | S A 9,283 187430 Sl SN 105 6. 7.0)
I8SIESes 1 o 15,152 IS B R 10808
BEAINRS- A s 127272

PArLIAMENTARY BoroucH.

47T 14,318 18BN K5 6
1851, . . . 14,393t :

Villages have decreased in nearly the same proportion;
Collooney, which in 1841 contained about 650 inhabitants,
had in 1881 less than 400. According to the Census of 1881,
Ballymote contained 1145 ; Tubbercurry,§ 1081 ; Bellahy, 274 ;
Easky, 374 ; Aclare but 207 souls.

In regard to general healthiness Sligo bears favourable com-
parison with other portions of the kingdom, According to
computation the town was, for the years 1864 to 1867, one of
the healthiest in Ireland, the rates of total deaths to population
being, in 1864, one in 687 ; in 1865, one in 63-0; in 1866,
one in 704 ; in 1867, one in 72:3. In the death-rate registered
from 1871 to 1880 the county stands second-lowest on the list
of the whole of Ireland, with a death-rate of 141 per thousand
of the population, the premier county, Mayo, having but 13-9,
whilst the County Dublin is credited with 26-2; the average
death-rate of the whole of Ireland, from 1879 to 1888, being
184,

* From 1871, the enumeration would appear to include the Parliamentary area.
T Including 2430 inmates of Public Institutions.

1 Including 750 inmates of Public Institutions.

§ Including 148 inmates of Union Workhouse.
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CHAPTER XX.

HISTORY OF THE BOROUGH OF SLIGO TO THE PRESENT TIME.

/ I" O make clear the after occurrences in the history
of the Borough it may be well to give a brief out-
line of the most salient features of its charters, and
of the various Acts of Parliament which, from time
=~ to time, modified or extended the powers of the governing
5{;;4 body of the town : the details of each event will be given
in historical sequence. The following is a synopsis of
the charter of James I. by which Sligo was constituted a
Borough :—

By Royal Letters Patent passed 30th March, in the eleventh
year of his reign, the king ordained that the town, with all
appertaining to it, should be one entire and free Borough of
itself, by the name of  the Borough of Sligo,” and that within
this Borough there should be one body corporate and politic,
consisting of “one Provost, twelve free Burgesses, and the
Commonalty,” with powers for all future time to purchase,
receive, and possess lands, tenements, and other goods, as well
as to dispose of the same ; there was a sweeping clause enabling
them “to do and execute all and singularother deeds and things,”
also that this body so constituted could sue at law and be sued,
and that they should have power to elect *‘ two discreet and fit
men "’ to serve in every Parliament.

The king nominated Roger Jones as first Provost of the
Borough, and the following as the twelve free Burgesses:—
Sir William Taaffe, Knight ; John St. Barbe,' Edward Crofton,

1 Captain John St. Barbe was of the family of St. Barbe, of South Brent,
Co. Somerset, whose ancestor Robert de St. Barbe appears on the Roll of
Battle Abbey. According to the Fun: Ent: Ulster Office, 1629, Captain
St. Barbe bore the arms of the English family. He married Mary, daughter
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William Harrison, Hugh Jones, Edmond Braxton, Richard
Robinson, Thomas Linseie, John Hopkins, Thomas Gimbell, and
William Wilson. These, although elected forlife, yet by act of
the Corporation itself could be removed for bad conduect or for
any reasonable cause.

Powers were granted for re-election of fresh burgesses to
vacancies caused by removal, resignation, or death, the election
to be held within seven days after the vacancy had occurred.
The Provost before the installation, had to take the ¢ oath of
supremacy *’ as well as the ordinary oath ; this office was annual
and elective, the term being from “ The feast of the Nativity of
St. John the Baptist ” to ¢ The feast of St. Michael the Arch-
angel.”

Liberty was given to hold, on every Tuesday, a Court of
Record, presided over by the Provost, no case to be tried affect-
ing money matters which exceeded * five marks sterling.” The
Corporation had power to make by-laws, inflict fines, and punish
any persons offending against them, provided these by-laws were
not contrary to the laws and statutes of the kingdom; they were
also granted * a guild of Merchants and a Common seal.” They
could appoint two ¢ Sergeants at Mace” and other inferior
officers, and the Provost was in virtue of his office elerk of
the market. If brought into litigation, all powers granted
were to be construed to the greatest advantage of the Corpo-
ration.

About eight years subsequently the king further increased
the power of the Corporation by granting to them a charter of the
Staple, i.e. the right to hold a public mart, and other privileges.
A court was appointed to be held before the Mayor of the Staple,
and was governed by the law-merchant. :

The charter recites that the wool of the country had not
been worked up into cloth and other goods as in England, nor
had the people “been set on work ” in such manufacture; but

of Edward Warburton, of the House of Arley, Cheshire, and left but one
daughter, Ursula, who married 19th May, 1645, Sir William Ussher, junior,
of Dublin, a widower. The Usshers of Fastwell, Co. Galway, are the repre-
sentatives of the St. Barbes in the female line.
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the raw material had been exported to foreign parts and in
foreign vessels, to the serious prejudice of the sale and retail of
the trade of the kingdom, and to the great impoverishment of
all concerned. TFull licence was therefore granted to export
various manufactured articles from the port of Sligo, without
duty, and Roger Jones, Esq., Edward Carpenter, Andrew Crean,
Edmond Braxton, Richard Robbins, John Hopkins, John Wood-
ward, John O’Fewley, Robuck Crean, William Crean, James
French, and John French, Merchants, were constituted a body
corporate to have a perpetual succession, by the name of ‘ The
Mayor, Constables, and Society of the Merchants of the Staple.”
This body could choose from amongst themselves yearly a
Mayor and two Constables for the government of the Merchants
of the Staple, in the same manner as was customary in England,
and they could sue and be sued at law, and could assemble for
business whenever they thought necessary, and had power to
admit into the society merchants and  other fit persons,” with
power to appoint under-officers for a period of twelve months;
they could make such by-laws as they might deem expedient to
the same extent as the Merchants of the Staple in England.
This body was given full powers to trade in all kinds of
wool, woollen stuffs, yarn, and hides, with all ports in Ireland
and, subject to some light duties, with the cities of London,
Bristol, and Chester, and the towns of Barnstaple, Liverpool, and
Millthorp, together with other privileges and immunities ; also
to purchase and hold lands, &e.; but these were not to exceed
£10 per annum of clear annual profit.

On account of its archmological interest, a brief outline is
annexed of the Grant of James II.; it is, however, of no legal
value. The charter, after reciting that the town of Sligo was
an ancient Borough, and that the Provost, free Burgesses, and
Commonalty had enjoyed great liberties and privileges, re-
constituted it a Borough, the previous charter having been
annulled for the time, either by a quo warranto or a forced sur-
render. Instead, however, of twelve, twenty-four Burgesses
were now appointed ; the power of returning two members to
Parliament was re-affirmed, as also the power of the Provost
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and Burgesses to elect freemen who alone were to constitute the

« Commonalty.”
The Provost had not only to take the usual oath, but also

the following : —

«“T do hereby acknowledge, profess, testify, and declare in my
conscience before God and the world, that our Sovercign Lord King
James is lawful and rightful King of this Realm, and other his
Majesty’s dominions and countries, and I will bear faith and true
allegiance to his Majesty, his heirs and successors, and him and them
will defend to the utmost of my power against all conspiracies and
attempts which shall be made against his, or their Crown, and dignity,
and do my best endeavours to disclose and make known to his Majesty,
his heirs, and successors, or to the Lord Deputy, or other Chief Governor
or Governors, of this Kingdom for the time being, all treasons and
traitorous conspiracies which I shall know, or hear, to be intended
against his Majesty, his heirs, and successors, or any of them, and I
do make this recognition and acknowledgment heartily, willingly and
truly, upon the true faith of a Christian. And also I do declare and
believe that it is not lawful upon any pretence whatsoever, to take
arms against the king, and that I do abhor that traitorous position of
taking arms by his authority,! against his person or against those that
are commissioned by him.

The Provost, in case of absence had power to appoint a
Deputy, and in case of death, resignation, or removal the
Burgesses were entitled to appoint to the vacancy within fifteen
days. The charter confirmed other privileges as well as the
grant of the Staple : James French was, however, made Mayor,
and Peter Darcy and Anthony Creagh, Constables of the Staple,
instead of those already in office. Most of the clauses were
confirmed, but with restrictions ; the right was reserved to the

Crown to remove at pleasure any Provost or Burgess, or to

cancel the election of any Town Clerk, nor could any such do any
official act until he had received a confirmation of his appoint-
ment. The changes intended to be made by the charter of
James II. would have been sufficient to give entire control of

1 All the first commissions of those acting in opposition to James II. were
made out in his name—to carry out a legal fiction.

‘,
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the Borough to the Crown, the new Burgesses being its nominees
and the Crown further had power to remove any obnoxious
individual; also the oath to be taken before being installed in
office was sufficient to exclude any conscientious opponent.!

For all practical purposes the two grants of James I. re-
mained in force, and were the Charters of the Corporation. By
an Act passed in the reign of George II. (3 G. II. c. 21) the
Corporation became conservators of the port, and maintained a
Ballast Office for improving it; but the Act of 5 George IIL.
¢. 14, s. 35 empowered vestries to repair the streets of corporate
towns, and undertake flagging, paving, &c. Subsequently in
Sligo the vestry—namely that of St. John’s Union—levied the
rates, licensed beggars, appointed watchmen, undertook the
lighting (or not lighting, as was sometimes the case) of the
streets, levied money for payment of the Militia, and in point
of fact, from circa 1766 up to 1800, the duties of the Provost and
free Burgesses of the town appear —as a perusal of their minutes
demonstrates—to have been principally the election of two
members of Parliament for the Borough.

The statute of 40 George III. c. 99 (1800) is the first local
Act, and it vested the powers conferred in the following com-
missioners :—

(1) The Provost and Burgesses of the Corporation of Sligo ; (2) the
representatives in Parliament for the county and town ; (3) and the
following persons elected for life, viz: Viscount Palmerston, Lord
Dundas, Lord Kirkwall, Sir Booth Gore, Rt. Hon. Joshua Cooper,
William Burton, Alexander Hume, Abraham Martin, Thomas Holmes,
John Ellis, William Todd, and John Black, Esquires.

In 1803 a second Act was passed, which restricted, and in
some instances abolished, the powers conferred by the prior Act
of 1800, notably the clause for erecting waterworks; but it
conferred, in some cases, greater power upon twenty-four
Commissioners elected for life by £20 householders, and these

1The above synopsis of the three charters of Sligo, is made from
translations of the originals, kindly furnished by J. J. Digges La Touche,
Deputy Keeper of the Records. It is strange that the Corporation do not
possess any of these documents.

H
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Commissioners acted also in the same capacity for the port
and harbour. Their names are here given :—

Thomas Holmes, William Barrett, Andrew Faussett, Thomas
Ormsby, James Wood, John Irwin, Roger Parke, William Harloe
Phibbs, Abraham Martin, Andrew Hume, Charles Martin, Alexander
Hume, the Rev. Charles West, Alexander M‘Creery, Neal M‘Donald,
Albert Blest, Ignatius Everard, John King, John M‘Mullin, William
Phillips, Thomas Burnside, Jones Irwin, John Ellis, Henry Hart, and
their successors, together with the representatives in Parliament for
the county and borough, as also the Provost and Burgesses for the time

being.

These Commissioners soon became as close a borough as had
been the former governing body ; the process was thus described
in 1833 :—The entire number of Commissioners was 40. Mr.
‘Wynne (represented by the Provost) and his 12 Burgesses made
up 13 of these ; the member for the borough and the two county
members—of the latter one was his son-in-law, the other being
a freeman—increased his number to 15 ; the inhabitants of the
town elected 24 by ballot. In course of time, however, many
of the original Commissioners having died or resigned, Mr.
‘Wynne, from his large property and influence, succeeded in
filling several of those vacancies; thus the Corporators obtained
a majority out of the 24 members elected under the Sligo Act,
though if Mr. Wynne had induced only five of them to join
those already enumerated, it would have sufficed to give him a
preponderating influence.

The Reform Bill of 1832 threw open the Parliamentary
representation of the borough to a considerable electorate. Until
the passing of that Imperial Act, the head for the time being

of the Wynne family had, from the year 1723, represented,

in his own person, the Corporation, and also the electors of
Sligo, both for Parliamentary and local purposes. In conse-
quence of the abuses and defective administration connected
with the local government of all corporate towns in the United
Kingdom, the Crown, in 1833, acceding to an address from
both Houses of Parliament, issued Royal Commissions, and in
consequence of the reports from these bodies, Parliament con-
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sidered it to be incumbent on it to interpose ; and from the date
of the Municipal Reform Act, 3 & 4 Vict. c. 108 (1842), Sligo
was governed by a town council who administered the local
affairs of the borough, enabling .the reformed Corporation to
levy a local rate of threepence in the pound. This sum, however,
even when supplemented by the independent and separate
revenue of the body, was found insufficient to make the
municipal payments considered necessary by them. Other
towns, at various times, had large grants of lands made to them
but in Sligo the revenue seems never to have increased beyond
the original endowment.

Until 1842, the only property belonging to the Corporation
was about 20 acres of land, called ““The Commons,” together
with a plot of ground, formerly used as a pound for cattle, but
now built upon; and the revenue of these lands, which did not
amount to £100 per annum, was applied by the Patron of the
borough to the payment of the Provost. Commonages near
towns and villages were by no means unusual, and the Irish
name, pronounced cutteen, by which they were designated, has
(according to Dr. Joyce) bequeathed its name to Ardeotten—
the hill of the commonage—near the village of Ballysadare,
and in its plural form to Cutteanta, in the parish of Dromard.

In olden times “The Commons” appear to have been set to
a member of the Corporation, generally on a lease of 41 years ;
in 1744, when the Messrs. De Butt were pressed for their rent,
they pleaded, as a set-off, a sum of £60 which was to have been
paid to them, in the year 1719, in three equal instalments, and
numerous instances occur in which the land was set to members
of the Corporation; in later times it appears to have been dis-
posed of by public cant ; in 1855 the Town Council resolved to
procure the outside value for the lands, and The Sligo Champion
newspaper of that year thus comments on the subject : —

“The ground belonging to the Corporation is to be fairly valued,
and set accordingly. For this an outery has been made against the
Town Council for their want of liberality. We think they propose to
do nothing more than what is just, to value the lands, and to give the
existing tenants the option of retaining their holdings or of giving them

H2
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up. In the latter case, compensation will be given for their outlay ;
not however, we assume, at their own valuation, for in that case it
would be better, at once, to make them a present in fee of the land,
and in addition enter into a covenant to pay all future rates and taxes
on it for them.”

On the 1st August, 1877, a resolution, seconded by Mr.
Kidd, was passed, to the effect “that considering the Corporation
property is now worth more than the rent at which it has been
set to tenants since 1855, ‘notice to quit’ be served on the temants
in proper time, before next gale day, for the purpose of having
a re-letting of the property at best rents to be had, which
it is believed will be considerably over the rent now being
received.”

An amusing incident occurred in December, 1850, when the

Corporation, through the Town Clerk, summoned one of their °

tenants on “the Commons,” before the Barrister, for committing
waste on their property by cutting down a white-thorn hedge.
The case was dismissed, as the tenant had in reality improved
the fence ; and when leaving the Court, he assured the Bench,
that in memory of the trial, he would call his house in the future
“The White-thorn.”” The Town Clerk, in a tone of bitterness,
threw after him the suggestion, that he would probably find a
more appropriate designation in that of “The Hedge-Hog.”
In 1846 (9 Vict. c. 24) was passed the third local Act,
amending that of 1803. Its chief object was to define the
Harbour-dues to be levied upon articles of import and export,
but other alterations in the prior Act were also introduced ; by
it the Members of Parliament for the County and Borough,
who seldom attended, were disqualified from being ex-gfficio

Members of the Board; and it was enacted, that the limits of

the Port and Harbour were to be clearly defined by landmarks.
This Bill was introduced by the Harbour Commissioners them-
selves, under charge of three members of that body ; and it was
subsequently alleged that sufficient provision was not made, or
sufficient care taken for proper equalization of the numerous
Harbour-dues.

Before the passing of the fourth local Act (1869) Sligo had

T b .
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been governed by three distinet bodies, each with a separate
staff of officers:—

(1) The Corporation, having power to levy a 8d. rate, which
amounted to about £220 per annum ;

(2) The Town Commissioners a 1s. 10d. rate which averaged £1500 ;

(8) The Grand Jury, with powers to levy an unlimited rate, which
usually varied from 2s. 34. to a maximum of 2s. 64., and averaged about
£2000.

These combined levies were computed at from £3600 to
£3700 per annum. There was also the poor-rate, which was
then about 4s. in the pound.

The records of the Corporation of Sligo from its creation in
1612 up to the year 1709—that is to say during a period of
nearly one hundred years—are unfortunately missing, and the
names of but few Provosts, during that long interval have as
yet been ascertained.

Roger Jones was the first Provost; George Crofton, 1616,
recommended as “fit to be inserted in the Commission of the
Peace for the County Sligo” in that year; Robert Gamble,
1641-2; John Braxton, 1643; and during the reign of Charles
II. there was a Captain Charles Collis. The remaining records
of the election of Chief Officer of the Corporation commence in
the year 1709, and are endorsed “A. Booke of Record for the
Burrough of Sligoe from y® 21st of April 1709.” A list of
Provosts as extracted from the above is given below!. From

11709, James Bennett and John De Butt, vice Bennett, deceased ; 1710,
John De Butt; 1711, John Booth; 1712-1714, John De Butt; 1715, James
Murramted, but refused to take the oath—William Ormsby elected in
his stead; 1716-1717, Thomas Jennings; 1718-1719, John Booth;
1720-1721, John De Butt; 1722-1724, Mitchelburn Knox; 1725-1726,
Owen Wynne; 1727-1729, George Ormsby; 1730-1733, Owen Wynne;
1734-1753, Laurence Vernon ; in the latter year, Owen Wynne the elder,
vice Vernon, deceased—William Vernon, Deputy Provost; 1754-1759,
William Vernon ; in the latter year Edward Martin, vice Vernon, deceased ;
1760-1768, Edward Martin ; in the latter year he resigned—Rt. Hon. Owen
Wynne elected in his stead ; Rev. Thomas Cuff, Deputy Provost; 1769-1774,
Rev. Thomas Cuff; in the latter year Rt. Hon. Owen Wynne elected eice
Cuff, deceased; 1775-1783, Folliott Wynne; in the latter year Philip
Birne vice Wynne, deceased; 1784, Owen Wynne the younger—Thomas

X
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1785 to 1818 Thomas Soden was annually re-elected; but it
would appear 45T the continuance of the same person in office
for such a lengthened period was attended with some disadvan-
tages, as, from 1821 to 1842 (the year of the Municipal Reform
Act), John Ormsby and William Fausset occupied the post
during alternate years.

The oath of the Provost on taking office was as follows :—

¢ You shall swear that you well and truly shall serve our Sovereign
Lord the King and his Liege people in the office of Provost, and as
Provost of the Town and Borough of Sligo, for and during the space
of one whole year, now next ensuing. AND You shall minister equal
justice as well to the poor as to the rich, to the best of your cunning,
wit, and power. AxD You shall diligently procure such things to be
done as may honestly and justly be to the profit and commodities of
the Corporation of this town, and also endeavour yourself to the
utmost of your power to see all heresies, treasons, felonies, and all
other frespasses, misdemeanors, and offences whatsoever, to be com-
mitted within this Town and Borough during the time of your office, to
be redressed, reformed, and amended, and the offenders duly punished,
according to law. Axp FINALLY, you shall support, uphold, and
maintain the Commonwealth within the Town, prescribed customs,
rights, liberties, jurisdictions, franchises, compositions, and all lawful
ordinances of this Town and Borough. Axp as concerning all other
things appertaining to your office, you shall therein faithfully and
uprightly behave yourself for the most quietness, benefit, worship,
honesty, and credit of this Town, and of the inhabitants thereof.”

A Provost had power to absent himself from his bailiwick,
appointing, however, a deputy, who should, of course, be a free-
man and burgess. An example occurred, in 1715, when
William Ormsby, Provost, was returned as a Knight of the
Shire. He thereupon nominated John Booth to act for him
as deputy, in consideration of which he allowed him  to receive
for his pains and trouble therein all rents due and payable to
the Provost of the Corporation, and also all fines, quarterages,

Soden, Deputy Provost; 1785-1818, Thomas Soden; in the latter year
Rev. William Chambers Armstrong, vice Soden, deceased; 1819, William
Faussett; 1820, Rev. W. C. Armstrong ; 1821, William Faussett; 1822,
Rev. W. C. Armstrong, whilst Wm. Faussett and J. Ormsby were alter-
nately appointed until 1842, the latter being the last Provost of Sligo.
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fees, and other profits and perquisites belonging to that office
during the time of his (Ormsby’s) absence.” Every day, at a
stated hour, the Provost sat in a small house—by courtesy
styled a courthouse—in the Market, for the purpose of settling
disputes. His jurisdiction there, only extended to sums not
exceeding three pounds six shillings and eight pence, Irish; but
over a Court of Record, to a larger amount.

The first legal step in an action before the Provost was “a
complaint,” which was entered in a book, the plaintiff alleging
that there was a sum of money due to him by a person residing
in the borough ; for if the cause of action did not occur within
those limits, the case could not be entertained. ¢ The action was
then issued,” in the form of an order to attach the goods of the
defendant, or as a “ service action’ or notice to the defendant
to appear at the next Court; and if necessary a jury was em-
pannelled; they might try any number of cases, each, however,
separately ; but no verdict was given until all the cases to be
disposed of had been heard.

At the commencement of the 18th century, law appears to
have been a not very expensive luxury, even if the difference in
money-value between that period and the present be taken
into consideration. The following scale of fees was drawn up
in the year 1709 : —

¢ Account or FEES aAND To WHOM.

s. d.
For an arrest by the Provost, 0 6
To the Recorder, 8 0 6
To the Sergeant, 0 6
To the Attorney, 2 6
To the Recorder, for ﬁhng the b111 0 6
For Grace of Court (if required) to the Provost 0 6
Next court, if sworn for continuance of the action, to
the Recorder and Town Clerk, . 4 = 28N
To the Recorder and Town Clerk for the execution, . 2 6
Clearing the book, upon withdrawing an action, k] 0
Attorney’s appearance, upon any cause, to the Re-
corder, . 3 E 3 ‘ 3 . o0 k6

A prisoner who was discharged was said to be ¢ turned at
liberty” ; and whilst he was in custody in gaol he was described
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as “in the Marshalls.” It may be surmised that the sergeants
of the borough sometimes extorted money from prisoners by
keeping them “in the Marshalls,” and delaying to bring them
before the Provost; for by an order of the Corporation, 29th
September, 1778, it was made obligatory on the sergeants to
bring all defendants who tendered bail to the Recorder, and he,
for taking the recognizance, was to be paid “the sum of 63d.”
for entering them in a book to be kept for the purpose. The
following were, as far as can be ascertained, the Town Clerks
and Recorders of Sligo:—

1687, Laurence O’Hara; 1709, George Bennett; 1722, Thomas
Jennings; 1729, Laurence Vernon; 1783, Robert Clark; 1797, John
Black ; 1815, Roger Archibald ; 1819, James Christian ; 1823, Charles
J. Hartley; 1834, William Allen (in 1849 he resigned, received a
retiring pension, and was succeeded by Edmund Rochfort); 1861,
George Whittaker was appointed, and on his decease James M‘Kim
was elected; he resigned in 1882, and was succeeded by Daniel
MacGill, the present officer.

As may be observed, the implements of public punishment
were kept in needful repair :—

“ Borough of Sligo, September 29th, 1726.— Whereas there is a
stocks much wanting in the said Borough, WE, the Provost and Free
Burgesses of the said Borough, being assembled this day in Common
Council, do order that the sum of one pound three shillings sterling,
be applotted and levied off the said Borough to make a new pair of
stocks, and furnish the same with lock and key. As Wrrszss our
hands this 29th day of September, 1726.

¢ GroreE OrMSBY, Provost.
‘“ Lavrexce VErNoN aND Wu. Gisson,
Applotters of the said money.”

Entries from time to time occur in the Corporation books
relative to the repairing of this implement of punishment ; in
1806 a pillory was erected; in 1807 the Grand Jury expended
about £6 to make stocks for the town of Sligo; in 1808 stocks
were ordered for Easky, and in 1812 for Ballymote. In 1840

the Sligo stocks were still in existence in the hall of the court-
house.
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During the seventeenth century, transportation was a
common form of punishment, and transportation to the
American Plantations was carried on until the War of Indepen-
dence. There is given a list of “apprentices” bound to
Nicholas Cribb, of Liverpool, ¢ to serve in Virginia, or any other
of His Majesty’s Plantations abroad.” Their ages varied from
12 to 22, and the period of their “apprenticeship” from & to
8 years. There is an entry of three men sentenced to transpor-
tation at the * general assizes, and gaol-delivery held for the
County of Sligo, the third day of April, 1724, and these were
“gservants” to William Dickson, master of the ¢ Bettzoy ” of
Dublin, bound for Antigua; whilst in the year 1733, thirteen
criminals sentenced to transportation from the Counties of
Sligo, Leitrim, and Roscommon, were also shipped to the same
locality ; Isaac Smith, “master of the good ship Dolphin,”
entering into a security of £50 that he would “deliver the
above-mentioned persons transported, in Antigua, in the West
TIndies, the dangers of the sea, and mortality excepted ! In the
year 1736, ten criminals were shipped to Virginia; in 1737,
three boys were sent as “apprentices” to Antigua; and in 1745
three eriminals were despatched to Virginia for seven years; in
1769 four criminals, sentenced to transportation, ¢ were bound
to Mr. Charles King, of Sligo, merchant, and John Fife, of the
good ship, or snow,! called ‘ The Recovery’ of Sligo, bound to
Philadelphia.”” At that early date it may thus be seen that
Sligo was in direct trading communication with America ; whilst
in 1771 two more criminals were “bound to Mr. Alexander
Erskine, of Sligo, merchant, and Manus Mac Shane, master of
the good ship called the Pitt, bound to Baltimore, in Mary-
land.”

The Provost and Burgesses looked after the lighting and
watching of the town, more especially ¢ when none of the army ”
were at hand. They also saw that no unlicensed beggars were
permitted to ply their trade; this latter duty fell afterwards to

1 A snow signifies a vessel equipped with two masts resembling the
main and foremast of a ship, and a third small mast just abaft the main-
mast, earrying a topsail.
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the lot of the Vestry of St. John’s. Beggars’-badges were in
general use in many towns during the last century, and they
conferred aright to beg ; otherwise, under Statute Law, beggars
were liable to whipping and enforced removal from the locality.
The badges were made of metal, and were worn on the arm. In
Scotland licensed beggars wore a distinctive costume, and were
called ¢ Blue-gowns” (vide Sir Walter Scott’s ¢ Antiquary”).

In olden days the regulation of the town did not cost the
ratepayers any exorbitant sum, whilst the ruling authorities had
a very summary mode of abating nuisances :—

¢ Borough of Sligo to Wit.—At a Meeting and Assembly of the
Provost and free Burgesses of the said Borough, held the 29th day of
September, 1762. WHEREss, it appears to us, this day, by the oath
of James Gibson, that the ball-yard in Stephen-street, kept by Robert
Clark, glazier, is a place which creates idleness, drunkeness, and dis-
orders within the Corporation, and is a grievous nuisance to the
industrious and sober inhabitants therein. THEREFORE we the Provost
and Burgesses do present the said ball-yard to be a common nuisance,
and do order that the same may be removed.

¢ Epwarp MartIN, Provost.”

From cirea 1766 to 1800 the watching and lighting of the town
devolved on the Vestry of St. John’s; on the 4th January, 1785,
the Vestry resolved that ‘the watchmen of this town shall be
discontinued from the present day.” Shortly afterwards, how-
ever, they were re-appointed. The system of night-watching
was always very bad : even so late as 1856 the watchmen went
about—lantern in hand—calling the hours, and carrying a pole
to which a hook was attached. They were dressed in great
coats and “ sou-wester ”” hats. In 1859 there were but “eight
watchmen appointed to protect the lives and properties of the
inhabitants of the town during the silent hours of the night.”
They were nearly all old men, who on most occasions moved off
from the vicinity of a row, instead of grappling with the ring-
leaders. This state of affairs only terminated when the watching
of the town was intrusted to the Royal Irish Constabulary.
Shortly before the abolition of the watchmen, one of their
number was remonstrated with for not arresting a disturber of
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the midnight quiet who belonged to the better class of society.
“T’ve been watchman, man and boy, for the last forty years,”

he retorted “and sorrah a gentleman ever I took up!”

The lighting of the town was quite on a par with the watch-
ing; in 1785 the Vestry of St. John’s ordered that ¢ lamps be
erected in such places as the directors should think most con-
venient,” but a fresh meeting was summoned at which large
numbers attended, and the above order was rescinded, it being
“resolved that no lamps were necessary.”

Prior to 1709 the names of few Burgesses can be traced, except
those recited in the three charters of Sligo. The members
forming the Corporation from circa 1692 to 1709—the year
when the records yet extant commence—appear to have been :—
Sir Francis Liycester, Arthur Cooper, Benjamin Burton, Ralfe
Gore, Percy Gethin, Philip Cox, William Ormsby, William
Smith, Arthur Gore, Mitchelburn Knox, Richard Gore, James
Murray. A further list of Burgesses from 1709 to the Munici-
pal Reform Act of 1842—as far as could be ascertained—may
be seen in Appendix (F). The oath of a Burgess on taking
office was as follows:—

“You shall swear that you well and truly shall serve our Sovereign
Lord the King and his Heirs and lawful successors and the inhabitants
of this town and Borough of Sligo as one of the Burgesses of the town
and shall minister equal justice to poor and rich after the best of your
cunning wit and power. Axp also shall well and truly observe,
perform, fulfil and keep all such good order, rules, and compositions,
as are, or shall be made, ordered, or established by the Commeon
Council of this town, for the good government thereof, in all things to
you appertaining. AxD you shall not utter or disclose any council or
secret thing, or matter touching the fellowship or corporation of the
town whereby any prejudice, loss, hindrance, or slander shall, or may
arise, grow, or be to the same Corporation; but you shall in all things
belonging to the Fellowship and Corporation of the town, faithfully,
honestly and indifferently behave yourself for the most benefit,
worship, and honesty of the town, and the inhabitants thereof.”

The following—as far as can be ascertained—is a list of the
freemen of the Borough of Sligo:—

1709, John Stanley; 1716, John Devine, Bryan Kelly; 1717,
William Wilson, John M’Kill; 1718, James Smith, George Ross;
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1720, John Birr; 1721, William Levenston, William Morgan, Mathew
Andrew, John (?) Salley, Thomas Collens ; 1722, William Armstrong,
Laurence Beltridge, Caleb Bell, George Hinson; 1724, William Gibson;
1725, Henry King, Charles King, Francis Bele, Junior, John King,
Mathew Slater; 1736, Rev. Luke (?) Agh; 1738, Francis Hall,
Robert King, Arthur Martin; Rt. Hon. John Earl of Enniskillen,
Hon. Lowry Cole, Edward Bulteel.

Three presentations made of the freedom of the Borough
were attended with special marks of courtesy:—

“ Borough of Sligo to Wit.—We the Provost and Free Burgesses
of the said Borough being assembled here this day do unanimously admit
the Rev. Doctor William Henery to be a Freeman of this Corporation,
and that his said Freedom be presented to him by the Provost in a
Silver Box, for his attachment and good services to the said Corporation
and the County in general. Given under our hands at the Town Hall
this 29th day of September, 1760.

¢ Epwarp MARTIN, Provost.

¢ Parr. Cox. GEeoreE Knox.
Owexy WYNNE. GrorcE ORMSBY.
W. OrusBY. RicuEaRD SAUNDERS.”

¢ Borough of Sligo to Wit.—At a meeting of the Provost and Free
Burgesses of said Borough, on Wednesday the 15th day of October,
1806, it was resolved that an address be presented to his Grace the
Duke of Bedford, Lord Licutenant of Ireland, in a Gold Box. Given
under our hands and seal of our Corporation the 15th October, 1806.

¢J. SopEN, Provost.”

¢ Borough of Sligo to Wit.—At a meeting of the Provost and Bur-
gesses of the Corporation, holden on Friday, the 7th of September,
1810, Thos. Soden, Esq., Provost, in the chair, resolved unanimously
that the Freedom of this Corporation, accompanied by a Gold Box, be
given to his Grace the Duke of Richmond, and that an address be
presented to his Grace.” .

It would appear as if apprentices were originally made free
of the town on the expiration of their term of servitude, as
otherwise they could not have carried on business. Two
examples will suffice :(—

‘ Borough of Sligo.—This day Edward Scanlan received his In-
denture and his discharge thereon from his Master, James Friell, of
Sligo (apothecary), bearing date the first day of March, 1708, having
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served his time truly and honestly for seven years, and likewise is a
Protestant of the Church of Ireland, as by Law established. As
witness our hand this 12th day of May, 1716.

“GeorcE BenNerr, Town Clerk and Recorder.’

‘¢ Borough of Sligo.—This day James Henery received his Inden-
ture from his Mistress, his Master being dead, and having served six
years, was discharged of the other year, having served the said six
years honestly to the art and trade of felt-making, and being a Pro-
testant of the Church of Ireland, as established by Law. As witness
my hand this 25th day of March, 1718.

“ GroreE BexNETT, Town Clerk.”’

In the year 1731 this stringent by-law was enacted :—

¢ Borough of Sligo.—At a Court held for the said Borough by
Owen Wynne, Esq., Provost, July 18th, 1732. Ordered by the Provost
of the said Borough, pursuant to the By-Law made by the Provost
and Free Burgesses of the said Borough, the 24th day of June, 1731 :
That all persons, inhabiting in the Town of Sligo, exercising any
trade, art, or mystery in the said Borough, all sellers, or any other
occupation, shall forthwith enter their names upon record before
Laurence Vernon, Recorder of the said Borough, and agree with him
for quarterage, giving security for their good behaviour in the said
Borough, and in the sum of three pounds six shillings and eight pence
to indemnify the said Borough. And that all foreigners shall produce
certificates, from whence they come, before they are licensed to follow
any trade or business in the said Corporation.

““OweN WYNNE, Provost.”

The above resolution was thus further strengthenea —

¢ Borough of Sligo.—At a Court held for the said Borough, the
15th November, 1732. That pursuant to an order of the Provost
and Free Burgesses, dated the 24th of June, 1731, and also an order
dated the 18th of July, 1732, that all people living in the said Borough
who exercise any trade or occupation (except Freemen') should enter

! The Oath of a Freeman on admission was as follows :—

“You shall swear that you shall be true liegeman, and true faith and
truth bear to our Sovereign Lord the King, his heirs and lawful successors,
and to your power shall aid and assist the Provost, Burgesses, and other
officers of the Borough of Sligo, for the time being, and to them shall be
obedient and attendant, concerning such things as they, or any of them,
shall lawfully and reasonably command you to do. You shall also well and



110 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

their names and security on Record to pay Quarterage; that if any
person from henceforth shall exercise trade before they enter into
such security, or receive and compound for their Quarterage, not
exceeding two shillings and sixpence. That the persons neglecting
to enter themselves, as aforesaid, shall have their shops shut up, and
be debarred from following any trade or occupation in the said Borough

for the future.
“OweN WyNNE, Provost.”

By the Municipal Reform Act of 1842 the town of Sligo
was divided into East, West, and North Wards, and on the
25th October the first election for the reformed Corporation took
place, the Liberal party carrying the East and West Wards.
The qualification for Councillorship at that time required a rated
valuation of £25, or Declaration of being worth £1,000 over
all just debts; two aldermen and six councillors were returned
by each Ward.

One of the first acts of the new body was to dismiss all the
old officials, because “they had not the confidence of the Coun-
cil,” who further refused to give the Town Clerk any compen-
sation for the loss of his fees and emoluments as registrar of the
Provost, and keeper of the Borough records, but the case being
brought before the Queen’s Bench, it was directed that compen-
sation should be awarded him.

Some of the mayors first appointed were willing to bear,
from their own resources, the expenses attendant on the office,
but on the 3rd July, 1854, it was resolved, * that a salary of
one hundred and fifty pounds per annum be allowed the present
Mayor for the year 1854, commencing from the 1st of January
last, and that a salary of the same amount be given to his
successors in the Mayoralty.”

truly observe, perform, fulfil, and keep all such rules and orders as are, and
shall be, made and established by the Common Council of this Corporation
for the good government thereof, in all things to you appertaining. You
shall also give, yield, and be contributory to, and with, the Corporation of
the town, so far-forth as you ought, or shall be chargeable, to do; and you
shall not, by colour of your Freedom, bear out, or cover under you, any
foreign person or stranger, but according to the best of your skill, wit,
cunning, and power, you shall uphold and maintain all the liberties, fran-
chises, good customs, orders, and usages of this town and Corporation.”
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The preponderance of either political party on the Burgess
Roll, in elections in the West Ward, was seldom more than
from eight to ten, and it varied from period to period, owing to
death, or removal, so that, at any time, a few persons could turn
the scale in the conflict, and this ward therefore soon became the
“fighting ward ” or battle-field of the two political parties—the
North ward being strongly Conservative and the Bast as strongly
liberal. At the election in November, 1859, the Conservatives.
carried two seats, which gave a majority in the Town Council ;
and in 1867 it was unanimously resolved that: ¢“in order to
place the office of chief magistrate, as far as possible out of the
range of politics and divest it of all political character, that the
Mayor of this Borough be in future elected alternately from
those holding Conservative and Liberal opinions, so that in future -
each side of the house shall do their best to induce a cordial
good feeling in the Corporation, and by sinking their political
differences, unite their best efforts for the moral and material
improvement of the Borough.” This compact was honourably
observed until the year 1889, when it was broken through by
the Liberal party. The succession of the Mayors of Sligo, from
the Municipal Reform Act to the present time, is as follows :—

1843 Martin Madden; 1844-1845 Michael Gallagher; 1846 Henry
O’Connor ; 1847 Aundrew Walker; 1848 Robert M‘Bride ; 1849 Moses
Mondes ; 1850-1854 Edward Howard Verdon; 1855 Daniel M‘Gill;
1856-1858 John M‘Gowan ; 1859 John M‘Carthy ; 1860 Henry Lyons ;
1861 Abraham Dobbin ; 1862 W. H. Williams ; 1863 Robert Hunter;
1864 Charles Sedley; 1865 W. A. Woods; 1866 T. H. Williams;
1867 Henry Lyons; 1868 James Tighe; 1869 Alexander Gillmor ;
1870 James Kidd ; 1871 Charles Anderson ; 1872 James Kidd; 1873
T. H. Williams; 1874 Maurice Conroy; 1875 Robert Crawford;
1876 James Doherty; 1877 James Nelson ; 1878 Thomas O’Donovan ;
1879 Alexander Gillmor; 1880 John Walsh; 1881 S. M. Cherry;
1882 Bernard Collery; 1883 W. A. Woods; 1884 Bernard Collery ;
1885 James Nelson; 1886 Richard M‘Donogh ; 1887 James Nelson ;
1888 P. A. M‘Hugh ; 1889-1890 John Connolly ; 1891 T. Connolly.

Apparently the Municipal Reform Act of 1842 did not confer
a separate Commission of the Peace for Magistrates of the
Borough, the Mayor alone being empowered to adjudicate; but
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on the 27th February, 1843, an application was made to the
Lord Lieutenant for that favour, and it was successfully renewed
in 1846, James Madden, Aldermen Walker, Kernaghan, and
Anderson being the earliest Borough magistrates.

From the commencement of their existence the Town Council
had been dissatisfied with their limited power in regard to taxa-
tion and otherwise, and efforts were from time to time made
to expand their authority. On the 5th March, 1855, the
Council resolved that ‘“the boundaries of this Borough for the
purpose of the ¢ Town’s Improvement Act, 1854,” be extended to
the existing Parliamentary boundaries,” and preliminary steps
were taken to have the Act brought into force. In June appli-
cation was made to the Lord Lieutenant for his consent, which
after some deliberation was refused on account of the increased
area sought to be included—solely for the purpose of extra
taxation ; and several attempts that were made to resuscitate the
scheme failed. A few of the Town Councillors resolved not to
let drop the subject of extending the powers of the Corporation.
The West Ward was contested by their nominees and seats were
secured on the Town Council. “A bill for the Improvement of
the Borough of Sligo”” was drafted by Messrs. Kernaghan and
Saunders, by instructions from some members of the Corporation
in their private capacity, and it was suddenly presented to a
meeting of the Town Council; very animated debates ensued,
and at a meeting held 13th November, 1867, it was finally
decided to proceed with the Bill, after some changes had been
made in the draft. The Corporation seal was affixed to it in
December, but it was not till May of the following year that
Messrs. Kernaghan and Saunders were formally appointed
solicitors for the passing of the Bill. As this proposed legis-
lation would remodel and otherwise change the constitution of
the Town and Harbour Commissioners, comparatively few of
that body were in favour of it.

On hearing, before a Committee of the House of Commons
in 1867, the preamble was by them declared not proved; they
judged it then to be—what it really was—a mere legal specula-
tion. In the following year, 1868, it was again introduced and

T Bt s PO b
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was passed by the Commons, but thrown out by the Lords—for
financial reasons. In Sligo, the Bill was not regarded as a party
question ; of the 427 voters and persons who signed the petition
against the measure, more than half were Liberals, the remain-
der Conservatives; in the fight, all party ties were for the time
dissolved, and every one “fought for his own hand.” Fortunately
for the promoters, the Grand Jury of the County, after securing
the inferests of the ratepayers, did not oppose the Bill; the points
of difference were amicably arranged ; the Grand Jury waived
their demand that population should be the basis of payment,
and accepted instead the calculation based on valuation. This
came to about one-twelfth of the valuation of the entire county ;
though with regard to the inmates of Public Institutions such as
the Gaol, Fever Hospital, Workhouse, &c., the proportion of
numbers stood at 26, 30, and some as high as 60 or 70 per cent.
The statement of the expenditure on the Borough during
nine years by the Grand Jury of the County will demonstrate
conclusively that the latter body, during this period, expended
on the town a much larger annual sum than it was propor-
tionately entitled to. It was presented to the committee of the
‘House of Lords, by the County Surveyor, Noblett St. Leger,
who was called as a witness by the promoters of the bill : —

i el S e o0 (ot Budes,| | Total.
Roads. | Compensation.|  Pipes. Walls, &c.

w0 | £ —" “laghs 5 5| il S F1is 0 |1fds 5 %
1860 = 3019 0| 3018 0 | 99 8 0 | 160 5 0
1861 768 1 5| 239 5 0 - 86 2 6 |1078 811
1862 | 82913 10| 576 0 0| 33 0 0 | 22 0 0 | 1460 13 10
1863 | 810 4 7| 24310 9|17016 0 | 102 4 8 | 132616 0
1864 | 72815 4| 8 0 0 ~ 13619 0 | 950 14 4
1865 | 687 19 10 - 710 0 = 695 9 10
1366 | 747 6 8 i 5210 0 | 41 0 0 | 84016 8
1867 | 827 19 11 — 46912 0 | 42 0 0 |1329 1111
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This outlay was at the rate of somewhat over £1000 per
annum.

After having been five times before the House, the Bill was
finally passed in 1869 ; the taxed costs of the measure were
enormous, £4750. The Corporation had to pay two-thirds,
and the Harbour Commissioners one-third of the expenses of
promoting the Bill.

Some of the more important changes brought about by this
Act may be briefly noticed. The body constituted under the
Town and Harbour Act of 1803, and known as the Town and
Harbour Commissioners, was dissolved ; the powers of the Town
Commissioners were vested in the Corporation, and a new body
of Harbour Commissioners, having power to deal with the Port
and Harbour, was incorporated. The Corporation obtained
power to construct waterworks and supply water; also to
acquire by purchase the gasworks and to supply gas.

The Borough, as defined for municipal purposes, had been
less extensive than as defined for Parliamentary purposes;
but this Act extended the boundaries of the municipal to the
limits of the Parliamentary Borough, and the jurisdiction of
Justices of the Peace for the Borough was also extended to the
new limits.

The Mayor is ex-officio an associated cesspayer for the
Barony of Carbury, and has the same rights and privileges as a
Justice of the Peace for the County at Presentment Sessions ;
but he has no status on the Grand Jury for the County; the
Mayor for the time being, was called on the panel in 1868, and
the custom has, in courtesy, since been continued.

The entire liability for the construction, repair, and main-
tenance of roads and bridges in the Borough was imposed
exclusively on property within its bounds, and such property
was in turn relieved from payment of County Cess for con-
struction or maintenance of roads (except mail coach-roads)
or bridges, &c., outside the Borough. The contribution of the
Borough towards the amount to be presented by the Grand Jury
for the County, for County-at-Large charges, is now proportioned
to the valuation of property in the Borough, as compared to the
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valuation of property in the County. This contribution is made
a first charge on the Borough rate, and if the Corporation should
fail to pay, the Grand Jury has power to levy the amount.

Power was conferred on the Corporation to establish mar-.
kets, fairs, and slaughter houses; to purchase all existing rights
of holding markets or fairs in the Borough, or levying tolls ; to
make by-laws and regulations relating to these; to prohibit the
holding of any unauthorized market or fair, or the hawking or
displaying of animals, provisions, or merchandize, except in
the places set apart for that object.

The Corporation obtained power to assess and levy rates
within the Borough, and, for the purposes of the Act, to bor-
row money to an amount not exceeding £50,000. They were
subsequently permitted (without any special Act) to raise a sum
largely in excess of that authorized by Act of Parliament.

In 1885 there was an overdraft of some £7236 due to the
Provincial Bank, and in 1886 a loan of £5000 was obtained
from the Board of Works, on the ground of the proved neces-
gity of the expenditure for proper completion of the waterworks,
and with the expectation (which has been realized) that the
increasing revenue from sales of water to public institutions,
and for trade purposes, &c., would justify the advance. In
1887 the total debt amounted to the large sum of £59,994,
but is now (1891) reduced to £54,559. A tabular statement
18 given in Appendix G.

The Corporation have authority to provide a fire brigade,
fire engines, &c., to erect artizans’ dwellings, and to regulate
the Borough funds and rates. A number of Public Acts are
incorporated with the local Aet, for the purpose of enabling the
ruling body more effectually to carry out the provisions of the
latter.

The powers conferred by the local Act of 1869, for the con-
struction of waterworks and the purchase of market rights,
having expired before they were exercised, it became necessary
to obtain a revival and extension of these powers, and accord-
ingly another Act was passed on 2nd August, 1880, styled «“ The
Sligo Borough Improvement (Revival of Powers) Aect, 1880.”

I2
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In conclusion, it may be well to give a brief account of the
valuation of the Borough, of the origin and growth of the
secured debt of the Corporation, and of the steps taken for its
repayment.

It is difficult to ascertain the exact number of houses formerly
within the Parliamentary boundary, owing to confusion between
it and the municipal boundary. In 1812 Wakefield computed
that there were 1150 houses within the municipal boundary ;
in 1831 there were 2667 ; in 1841, 2183; in 1871 there were
but 2099 houses. According to a decision of the Court of
Common Pleas, in 1873, owners are not liable for the rates on
vacant premises.

The total valuation of houses within the Borough, in 1795,
amounted to £5854; in 1800, to £7383; whilst the average
valuation of the Parliamentary area of the Borough for nine
years prior to its separate organization was about £17,540.
The area (including water) of the extended boundary is
3001 A. 1r. 2p.; the older municipal area had comprised about
417 acres (see fig. 11).

At the Summer Assizes, 1870, the valuation of the entire
Borough was £17,727 17s.; in 1875, £18,010 13s.; in 1880,
£18,250 4s.; in 1885, £19,019 2s.; in 1890, £19,316 2s.

The Municipal Reform Act of 1842 entailed considerable
expense on the Corporation, as the necessity for dividing the
Borough into wards involved heavy legal charges. In 1858 the
debt was £450; in 1860 it amounted to £1045. In 1844 the
accounts appear to have been for the first time published in the
newspapers ; and the same year, owing to the embarrassed state
of the corporate fund, the salaries of all the officers were reduced
50 per cent.: this resolution was, however, quickly rescinded.
On the passing of the Sligo Borough Improvement Bill, the
arrears of Mayors’ salaries amounted to about £530, and the total
debt to a little more than £1264. The account, which may be
seen in Appendix (G, 1,2, 3, 4), is self-explanatory ; almost all the
debt incurred, with the exception of the sum expended in procur-
ing the Borough Improvement Bill, is self-supporting, and by
means of the sinking fund has been considerably reduced. It
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would be a great boon if there were an Imperial Act, giving
facilities to corporations to consolidate their liabilities in one
loan to be paid back to the Exchequer by yearly instalments,
which, at a moderate rate of interest, would, after a stated period,
pay off the entire debt. Al T

A description of the maces, Mayor’s chain, and other official
insignia, together with an account of the various seals of the
Corporation and of the Town and Harbour Commissioners, will
doubtless be of interest. \

The two maces are fac-similes, and were presented by Samuel
Walton, who for some years represented the Borough in Parlia-
ment. The two Sergeants of the Mace were, according to the
Charter, officers of the old Corporation. In 1819 William
Meyrick was admitted a freeman of the Borough before being
appointed to the post, whilst on the 29th September, 1823,
Richard Meyrick and Robert Carey were Sergeants of the Mace,
and so continued until the Municipal Reform Act of 1842, when
they, as provided by the Act, each received an annuity from
the new body. The maces remained in possession of Mr. Wynne,
as Patron of the Borough, until the year 1846, when “The
unanimous thanks of the Council were returned to John Wynne,
Esquire, for returning the maces to the Corporation.”

These civic maces each weigh about 80 oz. No maker’s stamp
appears on them, although on the three parts which unserew
there are Irish hall-marks, and the date letter for 1702-3.

Mzr. Robert Day, F.S.A—an authority on such work—kindly
examined one of the maces (see fig. 12), and furnished the fol-
lowing description :—* It is 18 inches long ; the end or handle
part is fluted and globular, and terminates in the stud of an iron
screw, which passes through, and serves to strengthen the shaft.
The diameter of the shaft is 13 inch, and midway in its length it
is divided into two parts, and strengthened by a heavy collar, on
which is an ornamental ribbing, from which, on both sides,
spring a chaplet of oak-leaves, corresponding with a similar
engraved and chased ornament above the handle-part; and
again, immediately below the mace-head, which is bowl-shaped,
10 inches in diameter, and divided into four oval spaces, each
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bearing, in bold relief and well-chased work, the emblems of
England, France, Scotland, and Ireland, i.e. the rose, fleur-de-lis,
thistle, and harp, all regularly crowned within chaplets of oak-
leaves. The spaces between these oval wreaths are filled in with
leaf-designs similar to, and in perfect keeping with, the orna-
ments upon the handle. The head of the mace is surmounted
with an open-work pattern, like an engrailed line in heraldry,
each point having a ball-termination. Within the space enclosed
by this circle are the Royal Arms, with the initials of Queen
Anne, A. ®., and at either side fleur-de-lis, all in remarkably
fine bold repoussé and chased work.”

The following inscription is upon the base of the mace-head:
THE GUIFT OF SAM' WALTON ALD® ONE OF THE REPRESENTATIVES FOR THE

BURROUGH OF SLIGO ANNO Dom 1703,

A Sergeant of the Mace, before entering on his duties, took
the following oath:—

“You, and either of you, shall swear you well and truly shall
serve the Provost and Burgesses of this town, in the office of Sergeant-
ship, and as sergeants of this town for and during the space of one
whole year now next coming. You shall well and truly serve, do,
and execute all and all manner of precepts, warrants and command-
ments to you, or any, or either of you, to be lawfully given and
directed, touching or concerning any matter, cause, or process to be
moved, had, or depending within the town or Corporation according
to the liberties thereof, or at large, and shall make due returns and
answers thereunto, and make certificate thereof according to the effect
of such precepts, warrants, and commandments, taking these for your
ordinary fees, and none other. And also you shall diligently give
attendance unto the Provost and Free Burgesses, and wait on him and
them, as hath been accustomed, and as you ought to do, and his and
their commandments and messages, truly to do and say, and not alter

the same, so that it may be prejudicial or hurtful unto the said

Provost, or any other, and likewise you shall give attendance, and be
aiding and assisting unto the constables of this town in any thing that
they, or either of them, shall reasonably and lawfully command or
will you to do. And you shall diligently and truly do all other things
appertaining to your office to the utmost of your power.”

The Provosts of Sligo probably wore a chain, for old people
narrate that they were accustomed on state occasions to carry on

R —
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Fig 12.—THuE Suico Mace.

This represents the best-preserved specimen. The second is a fac-simile—
(scale, one-fourth real size).
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the breast some badge or mark of their office. The chain now
pertaining to the Mayoralty of the Borough (see fig. 13) dates
from 1882, in which year it was constructed by Messrs. Nelson,
Brothers, Sligo. It is of 18-carat gold, Hall-marked on every
link. It consists of 18 shields joined together by double cable-
links with an intermediate link-lozenge. Each shield is sur-
mounted by a shamrock; the obverse bears the crest and arms,
and the reverse the name and year of office of each Mayor who
has had the privilege of adding a link. The centre link—
somewhat larger than the others—is backed by two Irish Harps
from which droop shamrocks, the whole being surmounted by a
royal crown picked out in crimson, green and ermine enamel.
This link is appropriated to the donor, with whom the idea of
providing a chain for the successive chief magistrates of the
Borough originated, and who contributed £80 towards the
expense. The chain weighs 153 ounces.

From the centre link hangs a pendant of fine gold weighing
4 ounces; it is circular in form and is surmounted by a wreath
of shamrocks, fastened at the base by a riband and knot of
crimson enamel. Rising from the top are two Irish wolf-hounds
at gaze, and between them is suspended a spray of shamrocks.
On the front of the medallion, beautifully worked in variegated
enamel are the present arms of the Borough, and on the circle
outside, CorPorATION OF SL1G0, 1612. The inscription on the
reverse of the medallion runs thus:—PRESENTED PRINCIPALLY
BY BernarD CorrLeEry, MAYOR OF Siico, 1882, AND FORMER
Mayors. The following is a list of the ex-mayors who each
contributed a link to the chain:—Daniel M‘Gill, John M‘Gowan,
John M‘Carthy, Robert Hunter, Charles Sedley, William A.
‘Woods, James Tighe, Alexander Gillmor, James Kidd, Charles
Anderson, Maurice Conry, Robert Crawford, James Nelson,
John Walsh, Stephen M. Cherry, Bernard Collery.

It was originally intended that each subsequent Mayor
should add a link to the chain, but this idea never having been
carried out, it remains in exactly the same condition as when it
left the maker’s hands.

In former times the Provost and Burgesses were accustomed
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to attend Divine Servicein their official capacity, and a pew was
allotted to.them in the Parish Church. This pew was distin-
guished by an elaborately painted lozenge-shaped representation
of the generally received arms of the Corporation; after the
disestablishment of the Irish Church, the Rector of St. John’s
presented this escutcheon to the Council, and it now hangs in the
Town Hall.

‘The first deed of incorporation of the Borough grants to the
Provost and Corporationa common seal, in the terms following :—
“Anp further we will, and by these presents for us our heirs and
successors, WE do grant to the said Provost, Free Burgesses, and
Commonalty of the said Borough and their successors for ever,
that they have a Guild of Merchants within the said Borough, and
one common seal of such form and graven device as to them
shall seem best, for serving the business of the said borough for
ever.” This proviso gave the Corporation a wide discretion as to
any subsequent alteration of the seal.

The earliest books of the Corporation are missing, but the
first known seal may be noticed. This bears the date 1709,
and it is evidently not a hare that is thereon represented, but
rather a species of deer or antelope, having its
dexter fore foot lifted and the other resting on
a piece of rock which in shape somewhat re-
sembles a barret-cap. Around is the legend
BUROGH OF SLIGOE, the beginning and end being
marked by a dividing ornament, below which are Fi6. 14,
the letters a.r., 7.e. Anne Regina, and the date tsigil&fstﬁzf of 1705,
1709. Underneath appear the letters p.i.B., - i
i.e. Provost James BENNETT, who died that year (see fig. 14).

The next seal, that of 1723 (see fig. 15), deserves special notice .
as it would seem to have been struck to commemorate the event
of the Wynne family becoming Patrons of the Borough. On
it the same arms appear, but more rudely sculptured, and above
are the letters p.m.k. i.e. Provost Mitchelburn Knox, with the
date 1723. Around is the legend BorROUGH OF SLIGOE, and en-
circling this are thirteen groups of dual letters, which represent
the initials of the Provost and 12 burgesses of the Corporation :—
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M.K., Mitchelburn Knox; .0., George Ormsby; r1., John
Jameson ; 0. w., Owen Wynne; 1.w., John Wynne; 1. ¥., John
flolliott; w. 0., William Ormsby; ®. 6., Richard Gore; a. G.,
Arthur Gore; w. s., William Smith; 1.1, Thomas Jennings;
1. B., John Booth; 0. w., Owen Wynne, Junior.

Fi16. 15.—Seal of the Corporation of Sligo, 1723. (Full size.)

The last time this seal was used would seem to be the 9th
September, 1774.

To inhabitants of Sligo accustomed to the present armorial
bearings of the Corporation, it may seem like heresy to throw
even a doubt on the legend which narrates how a hare, intuitively
divining that Drumeliff was doomed to decadence, set out one fine
morning from that ancient town to take up its quarters in Sligo,

F16. 16.—~Newspaper device, used as a seal in the Corporation books of Sligo.
(Full size.)

but was overtaken by Nemesis. Being in a hurry, the hare trod
accidentally on an open oyster; the bivalve resented the intrusion,
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and at once closed on the hind foot of poor puss. The pictures of
the incident; however differ in details, for in the earlier represen-
tation, the hare is passing a kind of semicircle of stones, and
on an old map of Sligo made in 1766, there is depicted, on the
space marked as representing the lane near the present Presby-
terian Church, a singular group marked ¢ Sligo Stones”; in the
applotment book of 1783 they are again mentioned, “Back-lane
up to Sligo Stones.” Astime advanced the stones turn into oyster
shells, the green sward into a strand, then comes a stream
in the foreground, and finally a square fortalice. The compara-
tively new device first appears on the 28th January, 1775 (see
fig. 16), and any one who carefully examines the Corporation
books can perceive that from that date up to the 5th September,
1783, this so-called seal is merely the ornamental device that had
originally headed the local newspaper, from which it was cut
off and then wafered on to the leaf of the Corporation book, the
printing on the reverse being distinctly observable. In 1778 the
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F16.17.—Newspaper device used Fig. 18.—Small seal used by
as a seal by the Corporation the Corporation of Sligo,
of Sligo.  {Full size.) 1806-1810. (Full size.)

same seal occurs, but minus the outer rim (see fig. 17). On the
29th September, 1783, the newspaper heading ceased to be used,
and the seal—simply a copy of the newspaper device—was
struck and used by the Corporation until the Borough Improve-
ment Bill of 1869. A seal bearing the same device, but of
considerably less size, was used contemporaneously, ¢.e. from
1806 to 1810 (see fig. 18).

The seal at present in use (see fig. 19) cannot be admired for
either its artistic or heraldic arrangement. On it is depicted a
hare, apparently escaping from a round-tower which is repre-
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sented as having a door level with the ground. The tower has
z increased in size ; the tree has grown higher and stronger; the
- animal alone has deteriorated. The augmentation, .e. inscription

e

F16. 19.—Seal at present used by the Corporation of Sligo. (Full size.)

“Srico Boroven IMProVEMENT Act, 1869, is in smaller type
than, and is placed within, the old legend. On the frontal
page of this book may be observed the arms of Sligo, as depicted
in an engraving which was attached to the books of the old
library of Sligo ; the edifice seen in the distance was evidently
intended to represent the Castle of Sligo.

The origin of the present seal is as follows :—On the 2nd
January, 1871, it was resolved by the Council  that the Finance
and Works Committee be directed to procure a seal and lever for
the Corporation, not capable of being opened save by three keys,
and that when procured, one key shall remain in possession of
the Mayor, a second key in possession of the ex-Mayor, and the
third in possession of the town eclerk for the time being—for
use as ordered by the Council from time to time.”* On the drd
April of same year a resolution was passed discontinuing the
use of the seal adopted in 1783.

The seal (see fig. 20) formerly in use by the Town and Har-
bour Commissioners represented the old bridge of Sligo, which
spanned the river close to the site of the present Victoria Bridge.

1The first and second keys are now in possession of the Mayor for the
time being.
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«“The Bridge of Sligo” is mentioned in the Four Masters so
early as 1188, but it is unlikely that much, if any, of the original
structure remained in 1800 or 1803—the date of the formation
of the body to which this seal belonged. It is to be noticed
that the entrance to the bridge, to the left of the engraving, is
overbuilt with houses ; and in a report of the year 1827 it is stated
that ¢ the east end of the old bridge had been greatly narrowed
and the passage into the adjoining streets confined—in such a

F16G. 20,—First Seal of the Town and Harbour Commissioners. (Full size.)

way as to make it dangerous for two carriages to pass each
other—by houses built on the bridge, and close to the end
of it.”

In the distance is evidently the old Abbey with the western
face of the edifice represented as if perfect; close to the fore-
ground there is a small boat. Around runs the legend, corpo-
RATION FOR IMPROVING THE TOWN AND HARBOUR OF SLIGO KN,

again encircled with what appears tobe a chain of lilies, bearing

a strong resemblance to the ornamentation on the Collooney
medal, and which therefore seems to point to Brush as having
been the designer.

The seal now used by the Harbour Commissioners (see fig. 21)
was struck in 1869, at the time of the reconstruction of that
body, and is stated to have been designed and executed by
Woodhouse. In the distance is seen Knocknarea and the
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CHAPTER XXI.

CHURCHES, PUBLIC BUILDINGS, AND INSTITUTIONS OF SLIGO.

ﬁ[:g HE beauty of the environs of Sligo is very striking,
;)f' but the town itself lies in a hollow, through which
Q&@ glides the river that leaves Lough Gill as a broad
z@'/’ | stream, and so continues, until it reaches Buckley’s
& Ford; from thence it narrows and becomes more rapid,
%  falling some 20 feet between that spot and the tide-way.
The river divides the town into two unequal parts, that
on the southern bank being the more considerable. The best
point for observation is the Green Fort, from whence a pano-
ramic view, not alone of the town, but of its surroundings, is
obtainable. The glacis around the old entrenchment is smooth as
in days of yore, when it was styled Ratk-da-brittog, or Britton’s
Fort, or when in after years it was in the possession of Sir
Teigue O’Regan. The ground slopes down in an uninterrupted
lawn-like declivity, which on three sides is terminated by
ever-encroaching buildings, whilst northward it joins the open
country. Close at hand are situated the Workhouse and the
Lunatic Asylum, backed by the heights of Killogaboy, Cope’s
Mountain, and the Ben Bulben range; in the dim distance
the outline of the Donegal Highlands appears over Knocklane,
Raughly, and Rosses Point ; below are seen the channel, inner
bay, and harbour. To the west and south, Knocknarea and
the Tireragh range close in the view; at foot, the entire
town of Sligo lies spread out. Its large public buildings—the
Town Hall, Railway Terminus, Cathedral, Presbytery, Col-
legiate Buildings, Friary, Courthouse, and Calry Church rise
prominent from amongst the monotonous mass of slated houses.
To the south-east and east are the heights of Cairns and
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Belvoir, with the Slieve-da-en and Slish range in the back-
ground ; in the foreground the river may be observed issuing
from the lake, glimpses of which are visible amidst its wood-
clad shores, whilst beyond can be seen the distant Leitrim
Mountains. Beside us are the Infirmary and Fever Hospital ;
and on the opposite bank of the river, the Gaol. A bird’s-eye
view of the town, as seen from the tower of Calry Church, is
given in the Frontispiece.

Sligo, in olden days, did not present an imposing appear-
ance. With the exception of the ruins of the Abbey, St. John’s
Church, and some quaint old houses which stand in and near
-it, the town may be said to have been but an agglomeration of
thatched dwellings. A good idea of the general aspect of the
town in 1818, as viewed from the sea, is conveyed by the illus-
tration (fig. 22) reproduced from an engraving of that date. The
houses were, in general, but one or two storeys in height, the
windows small, the streets narrow and tortuous, being only
intended for foot passengers and pack animals. Merchandize was
then transported exclusively on the backs of horses or donkeys
(for almost every leading thoroughfare has been widened within
living memory). To add to the general inconvenience of
passers-by, the small dealers displayed their goods in stalls
alongside the streets, whilst pedlars moved about everywhere
essaying to dispose of their wares. The drainage was carried
off by surface gutters, which did not add to the salubrity of the
atmosphere, though they were in some instances flushed by small
rivulets.

In 1802 Sligo was described as consisting of about seven or
eight streets “composed of tolerably decent houses, some very
good.” The town was considered * rather unclean and un-
healthy,” but it was “of no small importance in the general
export and import trade.” Frazer, writing of Sligo at a later
period, states, that ¢ the streets in the older parts of the town
were narrow, dirty, ill-paved, and badly suited to the bustle of
an export trade ; it had nevertheless much more the appearance
of a business place than any other town in Connaught, a cir-
cumstance wholly owing to the spirit and enterprise of its
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traders.” On this point Inglis, in the year 1834, remarked that
the town had the look of a place of some consequence. The
retail trade was very extensive, and without a due consideration
of its geographical situation one might feel surprise at the very
extensive warehouses; but the neighbourhood was populous,
and there was no town of any note westward, nearer than
Ballina ; eastward, nearer than Enniskillen ; northward, nearer
than Ballyshannon, and southward, nearer than Boyle.

Tue AsBEY has been already fully deseribed, but the illus-
tration (fig. 23) may be of interest; it is from a photograph of
the building taken before the carrying out of the restorations!
lately undertaken by the Hon. Evelyn Ashley. On the 27th
September, 1883, a letter was received by the Corporation from
him, as well as one from the Secretary of the Board of Works,
desiring to have the abbey placed under the provisions of the
“ Ancient Monuments Protection Act;” but although the Cor-
poration wished to obtain for it all the benefits of this Aect,
they would not close it against interments, and thus rendered
restoration impossible. A Mayor of Sligo stated that, previous
to the opening of the public cemetery, the abbey ground was in
even a worse state than it is at present.  With my own eyes,”
said he, “I saw in it human skulls to the number of some 600
or 800 piled up in one place.” This was no new state of things,
for Beranger, who visited the abbey in the 18th century, greatly
admired its architecture, but noticed the disgraceful state of
neglect in which the burial-place was left, the altar being
covered with bones, skulls, &c., in such quantities that they
would have furnished ‘“a cargo for a small vessel.” In later
times, in one locality on the western littoral, it is asserted as a
positive fact by the country people, that the captain of a small
trading vessel, one moonlight night, had all the bones lying
about a church near which his ship was anchored, and which
amounted to several tons, carried on board, and at once sailed

! There is one rather mythical benefactor of the monastery—Pierce
O’'Timony, who is by various writers alleged to have restored or endowed the
establishment. As a small return for his munificence the monks erected a
statue to his memory, which De Burgo states he saw in the cloisters.

- O S
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Fis 23.—ABB.Y OF SLIGO.
From a Photograph taken prior to the recent partial restoration.'
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for England, and sold them to be ground up for bone
manure.

The Irish branch of the Order of St. Dominic and its
patrons, in the 13th century, appear to have cherished a pecu-
liar veneration for the cross, most of their convents founded
during that period being dedicated to the “ Holy Cross.” The
Sligo cloisters afforded accommodation for twenty friars; there
were also study and lecture halls, to which the youth of the
surrounding country flocked, and in which the novices of the
order and candidates for the priesthood were instructed in
theology. The gardens of the abbey extended to the water’s
edge; the building itself and its inmates were subjected to
many vicissitudes from the period of the accession of Elizabeth
to the close of the revolution of 1688 ; it was not, however,
until 1698 that the friars were expelled from its walls;® they
soon after returned to the abbey, repaired the chancel roof, and
built temporary shelter near the rood-screen.

Despite the presence of the members of the Dominican Order,
the fabric of the old abbey was not secure from the attacks of
Vandal speculators, who proceeded to utilize it as a quarry.
The chief offender in regard to these dilapidations was a mer-
chant named Corkran, by whom “The Mall” at the river-side
was built, and after whom it was named. Father Laurence
Connellan succeeded at last in arresting his destructive hand.
According to a MS. on this subject the spoliation did not bring
good luck to its author, as Mr. Corkran’s ultimate fate was
rather peculiar. He was wealthy, proud, and pompous ; one night,

! Father Patrick M‘Donogh, who was thus forced to leave Sligo, has left
a long description of the goods and chattels then belonging to the Convent.
By this it appears that in former years Father Theodorus Conel had left a sum
of £300 for the use of the friars, settled in trust on Mr. Nicholas French of
Abbert, in the County Galway, and withit he purchased land. In thereign of
James II., £50 of the principal was spent in repairing parts of the fabric,
but “sence ye heate of y* warrs of Ireland” the friars ‘‘did nott receive
a peny” of their rents, whilst one of their trustees ¢ Mr. Coll. Keogh?”
appropriated to his own use part of the trust money—in fact the friars lost
everything save ‘‘their chalices and ornaments.”” The only remains of
ancient silver now in the Friary are four chalices, bearing the dates 1636,
1716, 1718, and 1732.

K
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having accompanied his wife to the theatre, the lady’s anger .

became in some way excited to such a degree that she lifted her
hand and struck him in the face publicly. As soon as possible
Mr. Corkran vindicated his outraged dignity by selling off his
property, absconding to America, and deserting the lady who
had so deeply offended him.

It was in 1760 that the before-mentioned Father Laurence
Connellan, who had been for some time Regius Primarius of
studies in the Irish Dominican College of Louvain, returned to
Sligo, and saw the necessity of vacating the crumbling abbey
and securing a more suitable situation; in 1783 he obtained a
lease from Mr. James Hart of “all that and those the upper
floor of a house on the east side of High-street,” to which place
he removed.

Tue Friary oF THE ORDER oF St. DomiNic was built in
1808 by Father Thomas Brennan, and was placed under the
superintendence of a prior and two clergymen.

The present Church of Holy Cross (commonly known as
the Friary Church) is in High-street, and was erected about
the year 1846, from the design of the late Sir John Benson.
It was consecrated on the Feast of the Epiphany in 1848,
but the belfry was not completed until 1859 (fig. 24). Un-
fortunately the building is so closed in by the neighbouring
shops and houses that no good view can be obtained of its
proportions. It consists of a tower, porch, nave, and chancel.
The tower is a handsome structure of limestone, having two
buttresses in each face, at the angles. The east doorway in the
tower has a low ope, with slender shafts in recesses in the jambs,
surmounted by elaborately cut mouldings in the pointed circle.

The two-light windows of the nave are lancet-headed. The"

east window in the chancel is a five-light window, the head of
which is filled with elaborate tracery, and it contains fine
stained glass. The roof nearly resembles, in some of its
features, that of Westminster Hall. It consists of a large
main arch, with smaller arches, principal rafters, purlins,
hammer-beams, curved sheets, and wall-pieces, and inside it has
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wrought timber sheeting. The wall-pieces spring from corbels
having angels’ heads carved on them.

Tue Catuepran (fig. 25) was erected by the Roman
Catholies of Sligo, who had long felt that a large building for
purposes of public worship was a desideratum. On Sunday,
25th July, 1874, it was consecrated in presence of Cardinal
Cullen and most of the Roman Catholic Bishops of Ireland, as
also some from England and America, together with a number
of clergy of lower degree.

The chief entrance door is under the tower, and on each side
of the tower of the Cathedral are two turrets, through which
run circular stone staircases. By this means entrance can be
obtained to the galleries. These galleries are within the arches,
and open on the nave in a series of half circles, producing a
very good effect. The style of the building is a kind of com-
bination of the Norman and Byzantine. The tower rises in the
front-centre of the main gable. The principal entrance is
within a noble arch, from which the tower rises, and it is
surmounted by a series of alto-relievo figures in carved stone.
The extreme length of the sacred edifice is 227 feet ; the width
across the transept is 115 feet ; the nave is 33 feet wide, and
the aisles 17 feet each. The height of the ceiling from the rich
encaustio tile pavement is 62 feet. The aisles are divided from
the nave by bays of bold arches sustained on finely-chiselled
columns of black limestone, as also are the transepts and side-
chapels. The galleries—or to give them their architectural
term, the ¢riforium—extend over each aisle, and 18 pillars on
each side run up from ground floor to roof, those pillars
dividing the nave from the aisle.

The front of the high altar is divided into compartments by
capitalled pillars of porphyry. In each of the three compart-
ments are figures and emblems carved in Parian marble in full
relief. The altar slab is also of white marble, moulded at the
edges. At either side of the altar are four pillars of polished
Aberdeen granite, hooped with gold, with elaborately carved
foliated capitals. These pillars sustain a Baldichin dome of

K2
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brass, in the form of spreading palm leaves. The tabernacle,
reredos, and sanctuary railings are made to correspond.

An organ loft is erected immediately over the front entrance.
There are numerous stained glass windows, through which a
dim and softened light enters. The smaller windows are of
ordinary stained glass, with simple ecclesiastical designs, but all
the larger ones are devoted to special religious subjects. The
nave is lighted by ten windows (five on each side), filled
with cathedral-tinted glass. In the tower, and at extreme
heights opposite the high altar, are also some windows of a
similar kind, but darker in the tints.

It is computed that the cathedral holds 4000 people seated,
and that it cost upwards of £50,000. In March, 1877, a peal
of nine bells, the largest of which weighs twenty-six ewt., was
presented by Peter O’Connor, of Sligo, and hung in the tower.
The carillon machine, which is self-acting, is barrel-shaped,
and by its workings no less than forty-five tunes can be played.
There are seven barrels, of which three are for sacred, and four
for secular music.

The vestry adjoining the cathedral is built in corresponding
style. Members of the St. Vincent de Paul Society here hold
their weekly conference; their labours are of benefit to the
deserving poor of the town.

It is curious that neither the Friary Church nor the Cathedral
are built in accordance with the ancient and Catholic practice
of ¢Orientation.”

The building of churches, with the chancel on the east, seems
to have arisen from the desire that the congregation during
prayer should face in that direction. Tertullian (c. 205), refers
to the suspicions entertained by the heathen that Christians
were sun-worshippers “because they were well known to turn
to the east in prayer.” The “ Apostolic Constitutions,” Clement
of Alexandria, Basil, Augustine, and John of Damascus, all
witness to this being the ordinary position for public prayer.

Clement, of Alexandria, gives the mystical reason that the
east is the image of the day of birth. Chrysostom finds in the
practice a reference to Christ as “ The Day-spring from on
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High,” “the Light of the World.” Again, we are thus looking
out for our Lord’s return, who, “ as He appeared in the East,
and thence ascended into heaven, so will He appear again at
the last day.” It is, however, to be noticed that the symbolical
idea at the root of the practice is not peculiar to Christianity, but
is common to nearly all religions ; for, as the sun rises in the
east, that point is naturally suggestive of the origin of life and
light.

There is abundant evidence that from very early times
churches were generally placed thus, but many exceptions may
be found. Socrates says of the church at Antioch, “it had its
position inverted, for its altar looks not towards the east, but
towards the west.” :

The “ Apostolic Constitutions”” enjoin—¢ And first let the
house be oblong, turned towards the east, the postophoria
(vestries) on either side towards the east.”

TrE CorLEGE oF THE ImMacuraTe CoNcepTioN in Quay-
street, with a Preparatory School attached, was opened in 1880,
chiefly for the education and training of ecclesiastical students.
There is accommodation for about 50 resident students and
about 150 day pupils. The building cost about £5000.

A new College was found to be necessary to meet the
increasing demands for admission of students, who will be pre-
pared for the several professions, commercial pursuits, and public
examinations. It is on a commanding position, above the
presbytery, overlooking the town. The buildings cost upwards
of £15,000.

Tre Carmoric Literary Sociery in Temple-street was
started in 1880. The course of instruction given in the evening
classes is suited for shop-assistants, mechanics, and trade-
apprentices.

Tur Sisters oF MERrcy (St. Patrick’s) first settled in Sligo
June 80th, 1846. This new branch of the Institute was estab-
lished in a small private residence in George’s-street, pending
the erection of their present spacious convent.

The first works in which the sisters engaged were visiting
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and caring the sick ; distributing daily alms to the famine-
stricken sufferers of the years 1846-1847 ; and training orphan
girls for domestic service. In these works of mercy they
received kind co-operation and substantial aid from all classes
and denominations. Later on, the Sisters were invited to
attend upon the sufferers in the fever and cholera hospitals,
where welcome and assistance were given them by the physicians
then in attendance on the plague-stricken.

‘When their new Convent was completed the sisters opened
public schools on September 24th, 1849, and from that date the
soveral works undertaken began to develop gradually. One
wing of the new building was devoted to a Training School for
teachers, an -orphanage, and a class in training for domestic
service. In 1871 an Industrial School was opened, aud the
Cathedral being then completed, the old parish church and
grounds were handed over to be appropriated to the orphans.
St. Laurence’s Industrial School, under the Aect (31 Viet.
c. 25), had, in 1888, 152 inmates; the total cost of main-
tenance and management was £2439 8s. 7d., together with
£285 15s. 2d. for rent and interest. The actual industrial
profit was £367 14s. 1d., the net cost per head being £15 10s. 2d.
In 1876 a handsome chapel was added to the west end of the
Convent building. In 1880 the Sisters removed the extern
schools to more spacious premises on the opposite side of the
road. In the same year they built a bakery for the purpose
of training their intern pupils and servants to that useful
branch of domestic economy. A sewing school for extern girls
was also set on foot. They are here taught various kinds of
plain and fancy needlework, &e. In 1884 a large new public
laundry was built on the Convent premises. In 1888 the
accommodation being found insufficient, large new schools were
erected. In 1890 the charge of the Albert-road Male Infant-
School was handed over to the Sisters. The ¢ Kindergarten
System ”” has been adopted of late in the Infant-Schools, and
is found attractive to the little children. Over 800 pupils
now attend the extern schools, and 200 interns of all classes
are under the constant care of the Sisters.
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Tue UrsvriNe Coxvent of St. Joseph, Finisklin-road, was
built and occupied in 1850. The object of the foundation was
the education of young girls of various ranks of society. There
is a gratuitous school for the poorer class, supported by private
contributions, also a day-school for children of the town, and a
boarding-school for those who can afford topay. The buildings
cover a great extent of ground, and comprise dormitories, study,
class-rooms, library, and chapel.

Tur Parisu CuurcH oF St. JouN’s was built in the form
of a Celtic cross, the eastern limb being finished with a poly-
gonal apse; the ceiling, doubtless, was in the shape of a rather
flattened dome ; the windows were topped with a semicircular
arch, and a round arch led into the chancel. This can now be
seen above the ceiling of the present chancel; the old chancel
was much shorter than the present one, and was lighted by
windows, one in each side of the apse; the whole church
was built of stone, quite unchiselled, and the roof rested on
the walls, as in an ordinary dwelling-house. This edifice was
almost entirely the work of a Mr. Castels who erected it on
the site of the prior structure circa 1730. Pococke, in his
tour in Ireland, in 1752, thus describes St. John’s :— The
Church is the design of Mr. Castels; it is in the form of a
cross, with galleries at every end, except the east. The roof is
a ourious piece of work.”

It is stated that Castels (a German by birth) was at the com-
mencement of the eighteenth century the leading architect in
Ireland. He built Leinster House, in Dublin ; Carton ; the
Rotunda ; the Dining-hall in T. C. D.; in fact, he had more or
less to do with all the great buildings erected from 1725 to
1751 : he also designed Hazlewood House ; but the Church of
St. John appears to have been almost the only one remodelled
by him. Pococke states that it was the finest he met with in
his tour. In 1773, a second row of galleries was erected for
accommodation of the Charter-school children ; but the church
underwent no importanmtil the year 1812, when it
was decided to transform it into a Gothic edifice. The windows

%
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were taken out and rebuilt, as they now appear ; the polygonal
apse was demolished, and the present chancel built In its place,
though, strangely enough, it was, till la'w(i{y,ronly used as g~

vestry-room. Qb& bnB e G
The repamng and enlargement of the fabno of St. John’s,

in 1812, cost the then enormous amount of £5059 6s. 114,
toward which the Board of First Fruits granted a loan of £1500.
In 1883 £1000 was spent in convertin estry-room into a
m and in erecting a vestry-room and organ-chamber ;*
Wwhile these works were being carried on, the foundations of the
polygonal apse which formed the original chancel were laid
bare. Most of the church furniture is new, but some of the
communion-plate bears the date 1722.

A handsome stained-glass memorial representing ¢ The
Ascension ”” has been placed by the present rector in the east
window, in memory of his mother ; another window is dedi-
cated to the memory of the late Mrs. I’ Estrange, of Kevinsfort,
by her many friends in the town and county. A handsome
pulpit, formed of Caen-stone and marble—the carving excep-
tionally good—together with a memorial-brass, has been
erected in memory of the late rector (the Rev. E. Day) by his
widow : a prayer-desk to correspond bears the inseription :—
“To the glory of God, and in loving memory of Christopher
Carleton I’Estrange and Charlotte Annie I’Estrange, erected
by their children, 1890.”

The soil of the churchyard presents some peculiarities.
There is little doubt that bodigs” buried in it do not decay in
the ordinary manner, and 4dipocere in large quantities has
often been noticed when the ground was opened for fresh
interments. Adipocere is a soft, unctuous, or waxy substance,
of a light-brown cdlour, into which the fat and /muscular fibre
of bodies are converted by burial in soil of pg¢culiar nature ;
and this fact demonstrates that the earth pdssesses certain
qualities which, combined with moisture, bring about the result.

! St. John'’s, it is stated, was the first religious edifice in Sligo which could
boagt of an organ, This instrument is reputed to have been taken from the
wreck of one of the galleons of the Spanish Armada.
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It is alleged that, by reason perhaps of chemicals in the soil,
yews will not grow in the churchyard except in freshly-
imported earth, that few, if any, worms burrow in the
ground, and that rats do not frequent the place. ITike most
churchyards in the country, there are few tombs of any antiquity
remaining, that of Sir Roger Jones being the oldest. One in-
seription records the death of a man “ who deceased being aged
120 years,” and here and there the beholder is startled by sight
of the word “ executed,” in bold lettering; but it relates, not
to the manner of death of the occupant of the tomb, but to the
self-advertising of ‘the sculptor. A very common 18th century
marine inscription, somewhat similar to that in the churchyard
at Ballysadare, may be seen on the slab over the last resting-
place of Captain James Hamilton, who died in 1766 :—

““ Tho’ Boreas’ blasts and Neptune’s waves

Have toss’d me to and fro,

In spite of both, by God’s Decree,
I harbour here below :

And tho’ at anchor here I lie
With many of our Fleet,

I must one Day set sail again
Our Saviour Christ to meet.”

William Draper, of Sligo, who is buried in the churchyard
of St. John’s, in his will, dated December 8rd, 1719, ordered
his executors and their representatives for ever to * pay unto
three Protestant maid-servants of the Church of England as by
law established, that shall live three years a-piece in their ser-
vice in good repute and without spot or blemish, the sum of £6
sterling to each of them as portion at the end of their said three
years’ service, and continue for ever to the like Protestant maid-
servants, to be paid them by the like payment at the end of their
said three years’ service, such Protestant maid-servants to be
avouched by their masters and mistresses before the minister
of the Parish of St. John’s aforesaid, and of my under-named
executors.”  This bequest is still regularly administered, the
qualification being residence within the Union of St. John’s.
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It may be well to give a list of the rectors of St.John’s, as
far as can be ascertained :—

William Newport, 1635; William Rycroft, 1641; Cleremont
Panham, D.D., 1666; John Wilkinson, 1681; Coote Ormsby (pre-
viously Chaplain to the Lord Lieutenant of Ireland), 1681; John
Fountaneen, 1694; Eubule Ormsby, 1730 ; Manly Gore, 1771 ;
Wensly Bond, 1776; Charles Hamilton, 1822; Edward Day, 1846;
A. M. Kearney, 1876, Archdeacon of Elphin, present rector.

The old parish church had to provide accommodation for
the parishioners of St. John’s, and those of Calry, Killas-
pugbrone, and Killmacowen—the Union of these parishes was
created about the year 1681, and afterwards broken up again.
First Calry was detached, then Killaspugbrone was formed into
the parish of Knocknarea.

Carry CHurcH (fig. 26) was completed in the year 1824 at
a cost of £3000. On March 1st, 1817, the vestry of the Union
of St. John’s received a letter from the Bishop of Elphin, recom-
mending the erection of a chapel of ease for the Union, owing to
the increase of the Protestant population. This idea, after some
debate, was ultimately adopted. The Board of First Fruits
gave a free grant of £900 towards the expense of building the
church and purchasing a site for it, and a glebe-house. The
stone of which the church is built was quarried on the ground ;
and this fact, to some extent, may explain the small cost of the
erection of this edifice as compared with that of the alterations
made in St. John’s. Calry Church is a plain Gothic building,
with a tower and spire; it was consecrated in June, 1824.%

! The curates of St John’s were:—Edward Nicholson, circa 1700; John
Palmer, 1761 to 1766 ; James Armstronge, 1771 to 1800; Edward Coates,

1801 ; H. Hunt, 1820; W. C. Armstronge, 1821 ; Hugh I. Hamilton, 1828 ;

Hugh Murray and G. Crozier, 1830; J. E. Green, 1835; G. Montgomery,
1840 ; Knox Homan ang_ ndrew Robinson, 1841 ; Samuel Shone, 1847 ;
Qliver J, Tibeaudo, 1836 Morgan W. Jellett ; John Dowden, 1864;
W. A, Day;'gﬁﬁa;,,A. M. Kearney, 1868 ; J. A. French, 1877 ; Frederick
Hamilton 4880 ; Henry Mills, 1882; C. W. Darling, 1886. One of the
w{e}ﬂbf St. John’s became a Roman Catholic Priest, and by a strange
“coincidence one of the former curates of the Roman Catholic Cathedral

became a Protestaut.
? To all Persons to whom these presents shall come greeting—ZKnow ye

1558 -
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The following year a bell was placed in the steeple. The
church, when roofed in, did not seem to offer sufficient accom-
modation, and therefore an addition to the interior arrange-
ments was made by the erection of a gallery, of which the extra
cost was defrayed by disposal of the pews to subscribers for
that purpose.

Until the disestablishment of the Irish Church, the minister
of Calry held the position of “ Incumbent to the perpetual
Cure or Chapelry of Calry.”” The first appointment made was
the Rev. William Armstrong, who during 18 years officiated
in that church until his death on the 29th March, 1840, at
the age of 46.

To perpetuate the memory of one who had been so eminently
useful in his clerical capacity, and so universally beloved by a
large circle of friends, a meeting was held in the Vestry-room
of St. John’s Church on the 7th of April following, John Wynne,
Esq., in the chair, when it was resolved :—

““That a subseription be opened, in the first- place, to erect a
simple Tablet to the memory of the late Rev. William Armstrong, in
the Church of Calry, commemorative of his active, zealous, and constant
exertions in that parish, for a number of years, and in the discharge of
which be ultimately fell a sacrifice.

¢Secondly, that the surplus be appropriated for the purpose of
educating two children at the school of ¢ The Sons of the Clergy,’
belonging to such clergymen resident in the County of Sligo, as may
be approved by a committee hereafter to be named; and that it be a
request of the subscribers, to the widow of their late minister, to allow

that we John, by divine permission Bishop of Elphin, on the thirteenth day
of June in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and twenty-
four, at the request of the Incumbent of the Union of St. John’s, Sligo, and
the minister of the perpetual cure of Calry (being a member of said Union)
together with the Churchwardens and Protestant Parishioners of the Union
of St. John's aforesaid, in the County of Sligo and our Diocese of Elphin, did
consecrate in due form the Chureh of Calry Parish, by the name of Calry
Church.

In TEsriMoNy whereof we have caused our Episcopal seal to be hereunto
affixed this thirteenth day of June, in the year of our Lord one thousand
eight hundred and twenty-four.

CHARLES SMITH, Registrar.

[Episcopal O Seal.]
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her sons to be first put in nomination. That the Fund bear the name
of ‘ THE ARMSTRONG FUND FOR ASSISTING IN THE EDUCATION OF SONS OF
tHE CLERGY IN THE CoUNTY OF Siico.’ ”’

In pursuance of the above resolution a body of twelve trustees
was formed by whom the fund was to be administered. A
trust deed was duly executed, and contributions were freely
given for the objects of the trust. The first trustees were : —
The Bishop of Elphin; E. J. Cooper, M.P.; James Wood ;
Rev. George Trulock ; Jemmett Duke; Richard Gethin; Sir
R. Gore-Booth, Bart.; John Wynne; C. K. O’'Hara; Rev. C.
Hamilton ; Major Parke ; William C. Wood.

The last-named acted as treasurer and secretary for several
years, and by his exertions up to the date of his death in 1856
the prosperity of the fund was mainly established. Sufficient
money having been received, the trustees, after erection of a
memorial tablet in Calry Church, invested the balance in the
purchase of tithes and in other securities, from which an income
is derived for the education of such sons of the clergy as are
eligible for the benefits of the trust. The Rev. James Gully,
Rector of St. Peter’s, Athlone, undertook the charge of the fund
on the death of W. C. Wood, and by him the finances were
collected and disbursed, until failing health compelled him to
resign the task. He wassucceeded by the Rev. Thomas Heany,
Incumbent of Calry, who after two years of management gave
up the secretaryship, which was then handed over to the Rev.
Canon F. Flood, by whom, since 1885, the trust has been and is
still administered. By this fund about twenty sons of the
clergy have been assisted in their education ; some of them are
now in the ministry of the Church, and others are filling impor-
tant positions in life; at present two sons of clergymen, who
belong to the county, are deriving benefit from its annual grant.
The amount of interest which of late years has been available
is somewhat under £60, derived from nine holders of rent-
charges, by whom yearly or half-yearly payments are punc-
tually made. Any clergyman who is either a native of the
county, or, who has served within its boundary, may, on the
occurrence of a vacancy, apply for aid in educating his sons.
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According to the rules, no boy is eligible who is under eleven,
and none is retained on the list after having reached eighteen

years of age. 4. P
The Rev. W. Armslrong was succeeded in Calry by the Rev.
Andrew Gillmor, , Who remained until the year 1856, when

Tie was promoted to thp parish of Killenvoy ; the Rev. Samuel
Shone succeeded himjand held the parish until 1866; he had
been previously curat¢ in Rathlin Island from 1843 to 1846, and
curate to St. John’s, Sligo, from 1847 to 1856. He was pro-
moted from Calry tof the parish of Urney, in the County Cavan,
in 1878 was appointed Archdeacon of Kilmore, which position
he held, together With the Rectory of Cavan, until the year
1884, when he wag consecrated Lord Bishop of Kilmore, Elphin,
and Ardagh. He had been distinguished as a Hebrew Prize-
man in his Uniyersity career.

Pasly

of Calry. He had been Curate of St. Jobn's, Sligo, from 1864

ST T I
From 1867 fo 1871 the Rev. John Dowden was incumbent™ j\M?l
122

to that year, and was subsequently Curate of St. Stephen’s, Z
Dublin, from 1871 to 1874 ; Chaplain to the Lord Lieutenant, (07 [,

1870-1874 ; Pantonian Professor of Theology, and Bell Lecturer
in Edinburgh Theological College, 1874-1887 ; Canon of Edin-
burgh Cathedral, 1880-1887 ; Donnellan Lecturer, T.C.D.,
1884, and econsecrated Bishop of Edinburgh 1886. He was
succeeded in Calry by the Rev. Robert M‘Walter till 1876;
the Rev. Matthew Magill was then appointed ; he survived
but a short time, and after his death the Rev. Thomas Heany
became jincumbent in 1877. Mr. Heany had been curate
of Clontibret 1869-1870; Enniscorthy, 1870-1873; Trinity
Church; Dublin, 1873-1876; subsequently English Chaplain
at Calais, 1887, and is now Rector of St. Stephen’s Chureh,
Hull. | In 1887 the Rev. J. Fleetwood Berry, B.D., was
appointed incumbent; he had been curate of Christ Church,
King,étown, 1881-1883; Diocesan Curate to the Bishop of
Meath (Lord Plunket), 1883-1884; senior curate of St.
Ma{thias’s Church, Dublin, 1884-1887, and is now Rector of St.
Nitholas’s, Galway.

! The Rev. Llewelyn Paul T. Ledoux, appointed October,

\“(\(}"‘1 tu 1{‘“ ~
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1890, is the present rector. He had a distinguished collegiate
career: Trinity College, Dublin—B.A. Honours (Respondent).
Divinity School—Archbishop King’s Prize ; Downes’ Prize for
Essay ; Downes’ Prize for Extempore Speaking; 1st Class
Divinity Testimonium (with 1st place Junior and Senior
Exam.). Prizes for Ecclesiastical History, Sermon. Z%eo-
logical Society—President’s (Regius Professor) Prize for Essay;
1st Oratory (Medal); 1st Essay (Medal). M.A.—(Presented
with address and fees for, by Lord Primate and members of
Armagh Clerical Union).

In 1881 he was ordained Deacon; Priest, 1882; 1881,
Curate Portadown (Diocese Armagh); 1883, Rector, Kilmore ;
1888, Curate, Bray (Diocese Dublin) ; 1888, Incumbent, Kil-
linchy (Diocese Down).

A portion of the town of Sligo is included within Calry,
the river separating it from St. John’s parish. Some of the
public institutions, the three Banks, the County Infirmary, the
Fever Hospital, the Military Barracks, the Workhouse, and the
District Lunatic Asylum, are situated in Calry. The incumbent
is also chaplain of the troops, of the workhouse, and of the
asylum. The parish extends along the northern shore of Lough
Gill and joins the parishes of Drumahaire, Lurganboy, Drum-
cliff, and Rosses Point. There are two Sunday-schools—one
held on Sunday morning at Calry school-house, with one hun-
dred and eighty children in attendance, the other, in the after-
noon, at Ballinorley, with thirty-three children. There are
three daily schools—all being under the National Board: (1)
The Model School, (2) Calry National School ; (3) Ballinorley
National School. The two latter are under the patronage and
management of the incumbent.

KryockNarRrka CHURcH, near Strandhill.—Despite the re-
stricted area left to the Union of St. John’s by detaching
Calry, it was found necessary still further to curtail it, and the
parish of Killaspughrone was formed into a separate district.
The idea of erecting a church in the vicinity of Strandhill
appears to have been first mooted in 1835, but nothing was
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effected until 1840, when the project was taken up by Messrs.
Phibbs, Walker, and Wood. Funds were collected for the
building, and also for permanent endowment of the new parish,
but it was three years before the picturesque little church (St.
Anne’s) was completed, as shown by the inscription over the
entrance-door : —I~x Honorem B. Axnz Dro. O. M. prpicaTa
EBRA PRIVATORUM COLLATO EDIFICATA, A.D. 1843. The interior
is striking, the general appearance being enhanced by several
windows of stained glass; the glebe-house, however, was not
erected until 1877. Although under the control of the Synod of
the Church of Ireland, yet the appointment to the parish is vested
in trustees. The income is small, about £140 a year, derived
from a lay rent-charge, payable out of the parish of Kilshalvey,
union of Boyle, and from other sources. The incumbents were ;
Rev. James Gully, 1842; Rev. John W. Chambers, 1861:
Rev. Charles Hans Hamilton, 1864 ; Rev. William A. Day,
1867 ; Rev. Isaac Coulter, 1877 ; Rev. F. T. Hamilton, 1882 ;
Rev. John Galbraith, 1884—present incumbent.

In 1811 the old church of Killaspugbrone was repaired by
the vestry of St. John’s, and in 1814 the graveyard was enclosed
with a wall. The expense of erecting the neighbouring Roman
Catholic chapel was in great part defrayed by a church rate,
for at an adjourned vestry meeting of the Union of St. John’s,
held 29th May, 1832, it was resolved—

¢ That although at the Vestry it cannot be legally imposed as a
parish rate, yet that it is recommended to the several cess-payers of
the Union to contribute at the rate of twopence per acre on the land,
and one halfpenny per pound sterling on the value of the houses in
Sligo, as a sum of money to be applied in assisting the expense of
rebuilding the Roman Catholic chapel of Wrensborough, in the parish
of Killaspugbrone, and the churchwardens are hereby requested to
direct the collector to receive a separate collection accordingly, to be
appropriated by them for such purpose.

¢ CHarrEs Hantwron, Rector.
“Jomnx MartiN, Churchwarden.”

Tue PressyreriAN CHURCH is first mentioned in a MS.
in Dublin Castle, entitled ¢ The Civil Establishment of the
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Commonwealth for Ireland, 1655,” where amongst the allow-
ances granted to ministers, there is one of £100 per annum to
John Wilkinson, for Sligo, which was then included in the
ecclesiastical ¢ Precinct of Galway.”

The first Presbyterian minister of whom there is anything
very definite known, was the Rev. Samuel Henry, who came
from the Presbytery of Edinburgh in October, 1694, and in
May, 1695, was ordained to the joint charge of “ Sligo and
Moywater,” ¢.e. Ballina. In July, 1698, “Moywater” was
separated from Sligo, which then became a distinct congrega-
tion under his charge. He resigned in 1728. The next
minister of whom there exists any record was the Rev. L. Ash
(son of Capt. Ash, one of the defenders of Derry), who had
received his college education in Edinburgh. The Presbytery
of Letterkenny, which in 1717 was put in charge of the district,
ordained him to the pastoral charge of the Sligo congregation
in 1782. He died in 1742, and was succeeded by the Rev. H.
Nesbitt, ordained by the Presbytery of Letterkenny, May 3,
1756. In 1760 Ballymote was joined to Sligo. The Rev. H.
Nesbitt died in 1778 ; his successor was the Rev. Joseph King,
ordained by the Presbytery of Clogher, August 4, 1784 ; he
resigned the charge, and was succeeded the same year by the
Rev. Booth Caldwell, who died October 24th, 1810. The Rev.
Jacob Scott was ordained to the joint charge of Sligo and Bally-
mote, March 19th, 1811.

In 1823 the Sligo congregation became a separate charge,
their first minister being the Rev. James Heron, ordained
March, 1824. Mr. Heron becoming infirm, the Rev. Moffatt
Jackson was appointed as his assistant. Mr. Heron died at

Rosses Point, July 28, 1860, and was succeeded by Mr.

Jackson, who had been educated at the old Academical
Institution, Belfast. He was one of the first batch of
students who received the degree of M.A. in connexion with
the Queen’s University. The energy displayed by the young
minister was rewarded by the gradual growth of the congre-
gation, alike in number and influence. It shortly began to
show signs of increased vitality, and the history of the church

d
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has been one of progress and usefulness. He also established a
mission-station at Drum. He died November 17th, 1887, and
was succeeded by the present minister, the Rev. F. O. Watters,
M.A., inducted from the congregation of Kilrea, and installed
in the charge of the Sligo congregation, May, 1888.

The present Presbyterian place of worship in Church-lanes
was, according to the inscription over the door, erected in the
year 1828 ; and in 1833 a sum of £100 to aid in clearing off the
debt due on it was voted by the Vestry of St. John’s. The
Manse, situated near the Presbytery and the new College, was
built in 1867; the sexton’s residence and a commodious lecture-
hall in 1883.

In the townland of Clogher (half barony of Coolavin) there
is a small Presbyterian Church, Manse, and School, which were
erected some forty years ago. There is a somewhat similar
settlement near Ballymote ; and in 1833 the congregation was
enabled to improve their place of worship by means of a grant
from the Emlaghfad Vestry.

THE CoNGREGATIONAL oR INDEPENDENT CHURCH is men-
tioned during the time of the Commonwealth, when it is
alleged that a Puritan or Independent Minister resided for
some years in Sligo, and preached in St. John’s Church, but
was “ silenced upon the Restoration in 1660.” His following
must have either dispersed or been merged in the Irish Church,
for the sect remained without visible existence till the year 1773
or 1780, when Andrew Maiben (a Scotch merchant engaged
in the linen trade) settled in Sligo, and commenced a
regular “ Sabbath-day’ service. Maiben was a Presbyterian,
but on account of the then minister of his denomination
holding and preaching doctrines of which he did not approve,
he (Maiben) commenced a daily prayer meeting. Through
this means a young man named Albert Blest was con-
verted, and became an earnest supporter of and worker
with Mr. Maiben, and these two alternately addressed the
meeting. Thus was commenced the Independent Congrega-
tion in Sligo, although neither of its founders held the views
which are generally associated with the name Independent.

L
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The movement grew, and a minister being required, twenty-
one probationers in connexion with the Synod of Ulster preached
on trial without being accepted. Application was made to the
“Seceders”” for ‘supplies,” and the Rev. J. Gibson was at
length elected pastor. Mr. Gibson, however, did not remain
long. Ministerial help was then sought from the Countess of
Huntingdon in England, and from the Haldanes in Scotland.
In 1791 a chapel was built, the undertaking being aided
by Lady Huntingdon; it was styled Union Chapel,” and
it seated about four hundred people. The first regularly
appointed pastor was the Rev. Claudius Morrison, who was
installed in 1800 or 1801 ; he continued his labours until his
death in 1811.

The next minister would appear to have been the after-
wards well-known Dr. William Urwick, an Englishman,
styled ‘the Little Giant,” on account of his small stature
but great abilities. His ministration in Sligo commenced
June, 1816; he, however, had some experience of Irish
missionary work through a previous visit to Sligo. A short
sketch of the journey from his native place gives an insight
into the times. He had to be ferried across the Menai Strait,
“and from Holyhead a sailing packet, sloop, or lugger, giv-
ing but scant accommodation, made the passage to Dublin,
sometimes in seven hours, sometimes in from three to seven
days. It was at that time a two days’ journey across a bleak
and boggy country ” from Dublin to Sligo. Changed times!
We may now dine in London, and on the following day in
Sligo.

Dr. Urwick appears to have been an indefatigable worker,

and he largely increased the number of his congregation. At

the close of the year 1824 he took part in the “Easky Dis-
cussion.”  The priest of Basky had challenged to a publie
debate, in presence of his congregation, two Scripture-readers
who had formerly been Roman Catholics, and who were then
travelling through his district. At an early hour the chapel
was filled with a large concourse of people. The chairman sat
before the altar ; reporters took down verbatim all that was said,
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together with quotations read ; each speaker stood on the steps
of the High Altar when he addressed the meeting.

On behalf of the Protestants were Dr. Urwick and the
Scripture-readers Messrs. Jordan and Murray. On the side of
the Roman Catholics the Rev. Messrs. Devine, Hughes, and
Liyons. One on either side spoke alternately. The discussion
lasted only two days, the parish priest then insisting that the
debate should be concluded. The shorthand notes relating to
this discussion were published.

Dr. Urwick remained in Sligo till the year 1827, when he
received “a call ”’ to the Congregational Church in York-street,
Dublin, where he passed the remainder of his active ministerial
life. For about six months after Dr. Urwick’s departure, the
Rev. 8. Binks, of Bristol, carried on the ministration, and his
successor seems to have been a Mr. Carlile. In 1831, the Rev.
E. H. Nolan was appointed minister, and in 1835 was succeeded
by the Rev. Noble Shepperd. It was during the ministration
of the latter that the present handsome church, schools, and
manse were erected in Stephen-street at a cost of £3000, the
money having been collected principally in England. The
ceremony of laying the foundation stone took place on the 3rd
April, 1850, and the church was opened for divine worship on
15th August of the following year.

Prior to 1846 Mr. Shepperd had started a school that was
transformed, during the famine, into a ragged school, in which
the children were supplied with food. When the period of
distress was over it reverted to its original use, but was closed
when the Model School was established. Mr. Shepperd died in
August, 1875, and was succeeded by the Rev. James Sterling,
who was followed in 1885 by the present minister, Rev. H. E.
Bennett, B.A.

The plot on which the church and other buildings stand

has been lately purchased, and is now the property of the
congregation.

Or MerHODISM —the exact date, and the means by which
it was introduced into Sligo, are not recorded. It is probable
that in 1757 some person connected with the Society in

T.2
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Drumsna settled in this town and invited to his house the
preacher stationed at Castlebar. The minister’s name is not
mentioned ; but the then Rector of St. John’s, the Rev.
Eubule Ormsby, was unwilling to interfere with this pioneer
of Methodism.

In May, 1758, Wesley paid his first visit to Sligo, riding
from Drumsna through Ballymote, Collooney, and Ballysa-
“dare. The prospect was so encouraging that arrangements
were made for regular visits by the minister stationed in Cas-
tlebar. On May 16th, 1760, Wesley again visited the town
and found the congregation so much increased in number that
he saw the need of providing a comfortable place wherein to
hold the services ; accordingly a large and commodious apart-
ment was procured. In 1775 the first Methodist Chapel was
erected in “ Bridge-street ;”’ it was small, and had an exceed-
ingly low, thatched roof. By this time, however, the town
had become the head of a Circuit, provided with two ministers.
On May 20th, 1789, Wesley paid his fourteenth and last
visit to Sligo, and was entertained in the barracks by the then
Quartermaster of the 1st Dragoons.

About this time Gideon Ouseley—* Ireland’s most successful
evangelist ’—settled in the town, and opened a school in the
little chapel in ¢ Bridge-street,” which was largely attended.
He, with other ministers, preached in the open air, more espe-
cially on market-days, and as they addressed the people in
their native Irish tongue, crowds gathered around, listening
eagerly and respectfully. In 1797 Ouseley settled in Bally-
mote and delivered many outdoor addresses.

In 1802 the old building in Sligo proving insufficient for

the congregation, a new and more commodious one was erected .

in Linenhall-street. ~Later on, this was superseded by the
present church, situated in Wine-street, and which was opened
for Divine service on Sunday, 8rd June, 1832.

The ministers are itinerant, three years being the longest
period they can remain in one place. This, though an excellent
system when the body was first organized—it being then a
missionary society, so to speak—is now somewhat out of date.

e
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Two ministers are generally appointed to a Circuit, which com-
prises several congregations ; these are assisted by local preachers,
leaders, and class-leaders. From these the ‘leader’s meet-
ing” is formed, at which the ministers attend, the presiding
clergyman being styled the ¢ superintendent.” This board
(which is supposed to meet weekly) manages the affairs of the
local society, and the “quarterly meeting,” composed of the
same officials, together with the trustees of chapels, manages
the affairs of the Circuit. A number of Circuits form a distriet ;
a “ conference ”” meets annually and is the supreme ecclesiastical
court. Sligo is the head of the district, which includes nine
Circuits; in each of them, one or more ministers are stationed.
These Circuits include Castlebar, Ballina, Mohill, Longford,
Drumshambo, Boyle, Ballymote, Manorhamilton, and West-
port. The Sligo Circuit includes Sligo, Drum, Ballinfull, and
Collooney, the work being carried on by two ministers and a
staff of local preachers and leaders. The church in the Sligo
Circuit is supported by voluntary contributions. In 1889
the Circuit contributed for foreign missions,  Circuit support
and other benevolent purposes, a sum of £643 8s. 1d.

In 1829 a Wesleyan Methodist chapel was opened in Bal-
lymote, the plot of ground being given free of charge by Lord
Kirkwall. The Methodist chapel in Collooney was built and
opened for service in 1861. It stands upon a small plot that
formerly belonged to the Crown, but being sold by public auction
was purchased by the Methodist body.

Tue Curistian BrETHREN are represented in Sligo.
They have purchased the old “ Union Chapel” in “ Back-
lane,” and it is now designated “The Hall.” This sect
has numbered amongst its adherents some able men—notably,
John Darby ; hence, they are sometimes styled “ Darbyites.”
Most of the leaders of this movement have been Irish. Their
numbers are not known, and the Census figures may be mis-
leading ; but their total in this county is probably under one
hundred. They do not take part in political elections or in
municipal matters.
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Tae Svico Unitep Youne MEeN’s CHRISTIAN ASSOCIA-
tioN was formed in 1868, principally through the exertions
of the Rev. John Dowden, who was then incumbent of Calry
parish. In the beginning, the Association held its meetings in
a small room near the “Victoria Bridge,” but its progress being
very rapid larger accommodation had to be procured, and on
May 5th, 1880, an apartment in the Town Hall was hired.
About 1884, the Primitive Methodists offered for sale their
meeting house in Stephen-street; it was purchased by a few
gentlemen, was fitted up, and styled “The Sligo Protestant
Hall.” Rooms for their accommodation were then offered to
theS. U.Y. M. C. A, at a much lower rent than those occupied
by them in the Town Hall. In March, 1885, a branch of the
Association transferred their property from the Town Hall to
the Protestant Hall. At present there are about 150 members ;
the reading-room is well supplied with periodicals, and the
leading daily and weekly newspapers ; the library contains
nearly 500 volumes. The dissentients to the removal of the
Association from the Town Hall started a new society styled
“The Sligo Young Men’s Christian Association.” In 1889
they entertained the idea of holding an Exhibition in the
town ; the authorities of the Science and Art Department,
South Kensington, consented to send a selection of exhibits,
and from that time forward the Exhibition advanced con-
siderably beyond the proportions originally contemplated.
Promises of loans from local sources poured in, and the greater
part of the Town Hall, where the Exhibition was to be held,
was beautifully decorated. The opening day was fixed for
April 8th; the Exhibition remained open for eight days, and
during that time nearly 6000 people passed through the doors. -

A branch of the Youne Women’s CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION
was started in Sligo in 1884, commencing with about 30 mem-
bers and associates; there are now 80 on the roll, and the
attendance averages from 80 to 50 on ¢ class-night,” which
is once a week. The rooms, large and suitable for their purpose,
are open every evening. All these Associations for young men
and young women are undenominational.
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Tae Tow~x HaLr is situated in Quay-street. So early as
1825, at a meeting of the gentry of the county, it was resolved
that a Company should be raised with a capital of £5000, in
shares of £25, for the purpose of erecting a Town Hall and
Public Rooms in Sligo, but the project at that time collapsed.

The reformed Corporation having noplace wherein to meet for
transaction of business, Mr. Wynne granted them, during some
years, the use of the old town-office free of charge. In 1848,
however, he signified his intention in future to charge rent, and
they moved elsewhere. At a meeting of the Town Council, on
March 21st, 1859, it was resolved to make an application to the
Town and Harbour Commissioners, that the Corporation should
be accommodated with a room. Matters, however, continued
in an unsatisfactory state until March, 1860, when the follow-
ing petition was forwarded to the Lord Lieutenant :—

To His Exterrexcy THE RicaT HoNOURABLE THE EARL OF CARLISLE,
Lorp LIEUTENANT-GENERAL AND GENERAL GGOVERNOR OF IRELAND.

“That Sligo, possessing a population of fifteen thousand, has no
Town Hall, Library, or Reading Room, and that the want of a public
building for those purposes is much felt by the inhabitants.

“That the Town Council of Sligo has only power by the Municipal
Reform Act to strike a rate of threepence in the pound on the annual
tenement valuation, and that the small sum so levied, which does not
amount to £200 a-year, is scarcely sufficient to pay the necessary
officers of the Corporation very small salaries. That it is therefore
impossible for the Town Council to raise or levy funds in order fo erect
a suitable Town Hall, Library, and Reading Room, and believing such
a building to be a work of great public utility, and that if erected
private individuals would supply books and requisites, they most
respectfully pray that your Excellency will recommend the Lords
Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury to allocate towards this
useful and highly desirable object the portion of the public money
called the Reproductive Loan Fund, which has been returned from the
County of Sligo, the balance of which Memorialists believe amounts to
about two thousand pounds.

“That in consequence of the very severe and long-continued
winter, the high price of food and fuel, and the scarcity of employment,
the working class in this district is in much distress ; and as the fund
was created by the spontaneousliberality of the people of Great Britain
and Ireland to relieve the distress then existing, your Memorialists
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venture respectfully to suggest that the present time is a period when
the object of the fund could be beneficially carried out in a useful
public work which would give considerable employment.
¢ And your Memorialists will ever pray.
“Signed on behalf of the Corporation of Sligo, in Council
assembled :—

‘“ Hewry Lyoxs, Mayor ;
[SEarL.] ““Gro. WaIrTAKER, Town Clerk.”’

In November, 1860, the Lords of the Treasury stated that
they were :—

¢ Prepared to take into consideration the question of granting
money from the Reproductive Loan, on receiving an estimate of the
probable cost of the proposed Town Hall, including the furnishing
thereof, together with a statement of the amount actually subscribed,
on account of such expenses, as their Lordships are of opinion that
a fair proportion of the cost should be provided out of funds locally
collected, and that as the balance in their hands on account of the fund
above referred to is applicable to the entire county, their Lordships do
not feel justified in sanctioning the application of the whole of it to any
object or objects in the town of Sligo.”

A Committee was at once formed to solicit voluntary sub-
seriptions. At the first meeting a sum of £250 was collected,
the estimated cost of the building being £5000. The Grand
Jury of the County unanimously recommended the grant, and
waived their claim to any portion of the money, whilst the
Mayor, in a letter of November 19th, stated  that the Hall will
be as available for County purposes as for the Corporation.”

On the 14th December, the Lords of the Treasury appro-
priated the balance of the Reproductive Loan Fund, about
£2790, to defray the cost of the proposed buildings, and on the
1st January, 1861, a unanimous vote of thanks was given by
the Council to Moses Monds, ¢ as the person who first suggested
the idea of applying for and ultimately succeeding in obtaining
the balance of the Reproductive Loan Fund.”

In the survey of the town taken in the year 1662, the site
on which the Town Hall now stands is described as “The Castle-
quarter, now the New Fort beginning at the bridge, south side
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of the fort.” This plot, on which had originally stood the old
castle,’ replaced by the “ New Fort,” was subsequently styled
the “Barrack Fort,” or the (as time advanced) “old Fort Plot,”
and thus the place which formerly re-echoed to the clang of
war is now devoted to the more peaceful, yet occasionally very
militant, debates of the town-councillors. The plot on which
the Fort stood was demised to the Crown (by lease, dated
November 15, 1700), for 999 years, at the nominal rent of 1s.;
it was used for a barrack so late as 1766 ; in 1792, the Board of
Ordnance demised the premises to Owen Wynne, by lease, sub-
ject to a rent of £18 Irish, but, in 1856 it became by purchase,
the absolute property of the Wynne family. There were long
negotiations on the subject of the sale between Mr. Wynne
and the Corporation. Mr. John Wynne’s offer of the plot for
£1100 was finally approved of at a meeting held October 26,
1861. The offices of the Harbour Commissioners were to be
combined with the municipal offices, the Harbour Commissioners
agreeing to pay £50 per annum for the use thereof; owing,
however, to the deficiency of funds necessary to carry on the
work, it was finally decided that they should give £500 in cash,
and be thus rent free, whilst for the same reason {Mr. Wynne
was induced to accept £50 as yearly ground-rent in lieu of the
sum of £1100 ; the deed of conveyance was executed May,
1864, and possession given July 27th of same year, when
advertisements were at once inserted in the newspapers for
plans and specifications for the building.

Sir John Benson—a well-known architect, and a native of
Sligo, was requested to give his assistance to the Committee
appointed by the Corporation for selection, and from amongst
a large number of plans that furnished by Mr. Hague was
decided upon. On July 28th, 1865, a tender amounting
to £5000 was accepted from Messrs. Crowe, Brothers, for
the building ; Mr. James Caldwell being appointed clerk of

1 The old castle must have been an imposing structure, for, in Camden’s
Britannica (Gibson’s edition, vol. ii., p. 1411), it is stated that from Killy-
begs, in the County Donegal, ¢ the remains of Sligah Castle are still
visible.”
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the works. On October 12th the foundation-stone was laid, in
presence of a large concourse of spectators; underneath the
stone, enclosed in a glass jar, were deposited a record of the
history of the erection of the building, also a list of the
names of the members of the Town Council and Corporation
officers, together with a specimen of each coin of the realm.

In 1866 rules drawn up for the management of the building
were submitted for approval of the Lord Lieutenant, and sanc-
tioned by him. Great difficulties were experienced in complet-
ing the work, owing to scarcity of funds; the original contract
was greatly exceeded, and though no exact returns are now
procurable, it is believed that the total cost, including furnishing
and painting, was not short of £10,000.

The Clock-tower was subsequently erected by the Harbour
Commissioners, the clock itself being presented by a member of
the Council. The bell of the Town Hall bears on its exterior
the national devices—a harp, crown, and shamrock—together
with the inscription in raised letters :—¢ Presented to his fellow-
townsmen, by Charles Anderson, Sligo.”

There was great delay in allocating a room for the Free
Library, but on July 30, 1880, it was at last formally opened,
a large room on the ground-floor being appropriated to this
object. According to Mr. D. Saultry (the librarian) it contains
1800 volumes ; the average daily attendance is 100 ; it is open
from 10 a.m. to 10 p.m. on weekdays, and from 2 to 7 p.m. on
Sundays. The yearly expenditure is £47 per annum.

The other rooms are used as:—1, a Commercial Reading
Room; 2, the Council Chamber; 3, the Young Men’s Christian
Association. The rooms in the upper floor are used for the
office of the town-clerk; the mayor’s room; the harbour-office ;
also a large assembly room, &ec., which can be let for public
meetings, concerts, &c.; the income derived from this souree,
in some years, amounts to a considerable sum; the Town Hall,
however, is itself a dead loss of about £75 a-year.

An unsuccessful effort was made in the year 1872 to pur-
chase the plot of ground lying south of the Town Hall, between
it and Lower Knox’s-street. This open space would have been
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of great benefit ; it might have been utilized as a small recrea-
tion ground, and it would have displayed to view the architec-
tural beauty of the building which is now almost concealed by
the newly-erected warehouse of Messrs. Liyons and Co.

Tue Assizeé Courts (fig. 28) were erected in 1878-9 at a
cost of about £17,000 on the site of the old Courthouse and
gaol, portionsof which were utilized in the new building, to the
value of about £3000. Mr. R. Carroll, F.R.I.B.A., was the archi-
tect. The principal entrance from Albert-street is by a large
open arcaded porch leading by a short vestibule to the public
hall, which forms the principal means of communication with
the courts and the several public offices on the ground floor; the
Crown Solicitor’s offices are to the left of the entrance, with
rooms beyond for prisoners in waiting; to the right are the
rooms for jurors in waiting, and a barrister’s consulting room.
Adjoining this latter is the court-keeper’s house, with accom-
modation for the barristers, and having direct access by a private
corridor to the two courts. The Crown and Record Courts
are behind the central hall, with entrances for the public direct
from it ; they are divided by a wide corridor which leads to the
two judges’ rooms beyond, and also gives private access to the
courts for barristers, solicitors, and others having business there.
Attached to each court are two petty-jury rooms.

The Record Court is similar in arrangement to the Crown
Court, except as regards the accommodation required in the latter
for conducting criminal cases. Both the courts are lighted by
windows placed high up in the walls, and they are heated by
hot-water pipes.

At each end of the central hall there are stone staircases
leading to the upper floor, enclosed by stone-pointed arcades
which continue round the corridor above. The hall has an open
timber hammer-beam roof, and is lighted from above by pointed
lights between the rafters.

The county surveyor’s and grand-jury secretary’s offices
open off the upper corridor. On the upper floor, at the rear of
the courts, is the grand-jury room, with committee and witness
rooms adjoining, and with a separate corridor for the publie.
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The style of architecture adopted is Gothic, freely treated.
In the front, towards Albert-street, the central feature on the
ground floor is an open porch with circular pillars in the centre,
and square piers at the angles, carrying three pointed arches ;
above these there is a group of seven windows with cusped heads
and mullions, the whole finishing with a high pitched gable.
The central gable stands out from a high mansard roof here,
which is flanked by two circular stone pinnacles or turrets with
sunk panels, and finished with conical stone roofs. An impor-
tant feature in this front is the octagon ventilating tower, which
is about 60 feet high to the roof parapet; it has four storeys, and
is covered by a slated roof with two ranges of dormers alter-
nating on each of the eight sides, the whole finishing by an
iron finial about twelve feet high.

The front extends to about one hundred and fifty feet,
including the old.gaol, which has been newly faced to correspond
with the rest. Most of the cut stone used in this building
is from the quarries at Mount Charles, near Donegal ; it is a
superior stone, and retains its original colour well.

Or Gaors in our modern acceptation of the term there
were formerly but few in Ireland. In the fourteenth century,
when the province of Connaught was one vast shire, under
Richard de Bermingham as sheriff, it is stated (Patent Roll,
31st Ed. I. No. 10) that the King possessed no prison in the
entire County of Connaught in which prisoners could be
securely kept. Until comparatively recent times the castles
either of the Anglo-Normans or native Irish chiefs did duty
both as prisons and residences, and to the Irish Monasteries
there was sometimes a penitential prison attached ; also
Crannogs, or Lake Dwellings, were also frequently utilized
for a similar purpose.

It has been found impossible to identify the locality occupied
by the first prison erected in Sligo. At the close of the seven-
teenth century, “a prison and session-house” stood between
the site of the present Courthouse in Albert-street, and the
corner of Castle-street; in 1766 both these buildings had been
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re-erected in High-street, at the corner of Back-lane, and a
“house of correction” stood behind the present (No. 1) police-
barracks. A gaol and courthouse were in 1809 built on the old
site, in the present Albert-street, or immediately adjoining it.
The presentments for the purpose in 1808 amounted to upwards
of £26560. The Committee were Edward Cooper, Owen Wynne,
Colonel Irwin, Jones Irwin, and Abraham Martin.

In 1818 the present prison was built at a cost of £38,000;
and at that period ¢ some ladies had begun visiting the female
prisoners of the town, on the plan of the celebrated Mrs. Fry.
A schoolmaster was engaged for the men, and a mistress for the
women, who were taught to read and sew.”

In 1823 a treadmill and other additions were erected at a
cost of £3300.

The cholera epidemic of 1832 found its way into the prison,
but no death cases occurred. In 1849 there were 291 prisoners
in custody, this being the highest number recorded on the
books. The gaol afforded a constant asylum to lunatics,
varying in number from fourteen to twenty.

In 1838 W. Tucker was Governor of ¢ the Sheriff’s Prison,”
and J. Beatty Governor of the House of Correction ; the latter
was afterwards appointed over both prisons. In 1857 Mr.
Walsh was appointed Governor, vice Beatty, superannuated ;
whilst in 1884, Captain H. C. Lloyd was transferred from H.M.
Prison of Castlebar to fill the place of Mr. Walsh, deceased.

The last public execution took place in 1861 ; the offence
was murder of the most brutal description, and the object of
the murder was robbery. The latest execution occurred on the
20th March, 1875, for the murder of an old man at Ash-lane,
Sligo. Robbery was the object of the murder.

In 1878 the management. of the prison was transferred from
the Grand Jury of the County to Government. In the follow-
ing year gas was introduced into the prison, the cells were
heated by hot-water pipes, and sanitary arrangements were
improved, all at a cost of £700, whilst in 1885 the prison was
enlarged (by prison labour) at a cost of £500. Useless work
was no longer enforced—all labour being now reproductive.
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This tends to make the prison a self-supporting establishment.
« Hard Labour,” in the case of male prisoners, is enforced by
means of the treadmill, which pumps up water for sanitation
and other purposes, by oakum-picking, by stone-breaking, and
wood-chopping. Industrial labour consists of shoemaking, tailor-
ing, tinsmith work, carpentry, painting, glazing, and gardening.
Female prisoners are employed at sewing, knitting, and washing.
All articles manufactured by prison labour—save oakum, broken
stones, and firewood, which are sold to the public—are for the
benefit of the prison.

The present staff consists of a governor, medical officer,
Protestant and Roman Catholic chaplains, chief warder, clerk,
storekeeper, together with seven warders, two assistant matrons,
and an officers’-mess servant.  The salaries of the subordinate
officers are now 100 per cent. higher than when the prison was
under control of the Grand Jury. Discipline in the Irish
Prisons is now more carefully maintained than heretofore ; this
is principally owing to the fact that no officers are appointed of
whose previous character and intelligence the General Prisons
Board are not fully satisfied. Before a candidate’s appointment
is confirmed, the Civil Service Commissioners must be satisfied
as to his or her educational attainments. An officer on appoint-
ment now is intended for general prison service, consequently
mustjo in the staff of one named by the General Prisons Board ;
this is invariably situated at a long distance from his native
place. A Visiting Committee, consisting of Justices of the
Peace, is still appointed by the Grand Jury at each Assizes.

Tre County Stico INrirmary holds a leading position
amongst such institutions. Four hundred and one patients
were, in 1889, treated as intern, whilst no fewer than two hun-
dred and eighty applicants resided beyond a ten mile radius.

The Journals of the Irish House of Commons relate that on
the 15th of March, 1766, a committee was appointed to bring
in “heads of a Bill for erecting and establishing public County
Infirmaries in the Kingdom.” This Act (5 George IIL., c. 20),
is, in its]main provisions, in force at present. Additions have
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been made in the powers of Grand Juries, for whilst the original
Act permitted only an annual presentment of £100, they may
now present up to a sum of £1400. At present, however, the
Grand Jury Act (6 & 7 William IV., c. 116) rules all appoint-
ments and presentments to County Infirmaries. The amount
of relief accorded by means of these institutions is very con-
siderable. The Association of Infirmary Surgeons, through
their Hon. Secretary, Dr. Mac Donnell, Dundalk, publish from
time to time statistics concerning them. All the buildings were
originally erected by private subscriptions ; and in many cases
they revert to the lord of the soil should they cease to be main-
tained as at present.

A large amount of medical and surgical relief, at a com-
paratively low rate of expense, is afforded to the poor in Sligo
by the County Infirmary. The cases admitted are, in general,
the same class in all essentials as those treated in metropolitan
hospitals. The means of support is derived from (1) present-
ments by the Grand Jury; (2) subscriptions to qualify as
governors of the hospital ; (3) bequests and donations. It may
be roughly calculated that eighty-five per cent. of the income
18 derived from the first source.

No old records of the Infirmary are now extant. It existed
in the last century, but was then supported by voluntary sub-
seriptions. The site and materials were sold by the Grand
Jury when the new building was erected. Up to 45 George III.
it would appear as if infirmaries supported by public rates were
only established in certain specified localities. The wings to
the present edifice were added about the year 1845.

The female accident ward has been fitted up by the Wynne
family in memory of the late Right Hon. John Wynne, and
as a memorial of the interest he always took in the institution,
which is now a model of its kind. It is thoroughly equipped
in all particulars, sanitary accommodation, &e., well-trained
nurses, and a good supply of the best surgical instruments and
appliances.

Drs. Burnside and Ovenden were surgeons to the Infirmary
at the close of the last and commencement of the present
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century. Surgeon William Bell was in office in 1813, died of
cholera in 1832, when Dr. Thomas Little was appointed. In
1849 he succumbed to a similar epidemic, and was succeeded by
Dr. W. 8. Little. In 1877 the present surgeon, . Mac Dowal,
was appointed.

In the year 1813 a medal in connexion with the ¢ County
Sligo Infirmary ” was struck by William Stephen Mossop, a
well-known artist, having on it a view of the building. The
medal is mentioned by W. Frazer, M.D., in his essay * On the
Medallists of Ireland and their Work.”

Tue Fever HospiTaL was, in the last century, situated in
a then completely isolated position on the green headland west-
ward of the present Victoria approach to the town. Here it
remained for a lengthened period until the new edifice, now in
use, was erected. It bears over the door the inscription :—
ERECTED AT THE JOINT EXPENSE OF THE CouNTY AND EDWARD
Sy~ CoorEr, Esq., M.P.,1822. On the 29th May of that year
it was announced that the new Fever Hospital had been occupied,
and contained no less than thirty-eight patients, and from the
distress of the poor, the fever cases were daily increasing. Just
before the outbreak of the cholera—ten years subsequently—it
was almost empty of patients, as demonstrated by the returns of
the sick which were published weekly inthe columns of thelocal
newspaper. This hospital was not long ago in a very dilapidated
condition ; the doors and window-sashes needed repair, and the
accommodation for the fever-stricken was totally inadequate,
according to modern and humane ideas. This state of affairs is
said to have arisen from the almost periodical opposition made to
the presentments at sessions for support of the institution—by
magistrates living in distant parts of the county, who were of
opinion that a central hospital was not required. The oldest
records of the hospital have disappeared, so that a complete list
of physicians is at present not procurable. The medical men in
charge of the Fever Hospital since 1822, were Drs. Irwin,
Coyne, Knott, Homan, Lynn, and Murray.

Tae LuxaTic AsyLuM is a noble structure in the Eliza-



CHURCHES, PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS, ETC. 161

bethan style; the site is distant about a mile from the town
and in a favourable position, commanding a view of very
picturesque scenery.

After the first passing of the Acts regarding lunacy, most
cases of insanity occurring in the counties of Sligo and Leitrim
that required special treatment, were sent to Ballinasloe, where
there was then a central asylum for the province of Connaught ;
in consequence, however, of its over-crowded condition, an order
in Council was made, on the 17th April, 1847, constituting the
counties of Sligo and Leitrim a ¢ Lunatic Distriet” (within the
meaning of the Act), and ordering the erection near the town
of Sligo of an asylum to accommodate 250 inmates. On the
7th November, 1847, amidst a large concourse of people, the
foundation-stone was laid. A bottle was sealed up containing
The Skigo Journal and The Champion newspapers, together with
a slip of parchment descriptive of the particulars of the day’s
ceremony, together with a specimen of each copper and silver
coin of the realm. The bottle was then placed in a hollow cut
in the stone, which was covered with a zinc plate. The amount
of the contract was nearly £30,000, the architect being Mr.
‘William Deane Butler, and the contractor Mr. James Caldwell.
In the year 1874, owing to the increase in the number of
registered lunatics, the asylum was enlarged by the addition of
two wings, at a cost of £14,000, which increased the accommo-
dation from 250 to 470 beds.

It is alleged that year by year the percentage of insane is
on the increase, that the number of those bereft of reason is
augmenting with greater rapidity than it ought; but this may
be fairly accounted for by improved registration, as also by a
diminished death-rate amongst the insane owing to better
treatment ; likewise to the fact that many are now placed in
restraint who, in former times, would have been left at large ;
the increase of insanity is therefore greater in appearance than
in reality.

In Bligo dangerous lunatics were confined in the county
gaol—coercion and seclusion being the usual course pursued in
cases where restraint seemed necessary; some were sent to

M



162 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

Dublin, those of unsound mind, who appeared to be harmless,
were allowed to wander about the country eking out a pre-
carious living by begging, and numerous aneedotes are re-
counted of this class. One well known ¢ natural” solicited
alms from a young gentleman whose father—recently dead —
had taken great pride in the planting of his demesne, and
would not permit any of the trees to be cut down. The son
was then occupied in superintending the felling of some timber
for sale, and instead of bestowing upon the beggar the alms his
father had been accustomed to give, told him, with an oath, “to
go to hell.” ¢ Begorra, your honour, when I go,” replied the
idiot, “T’ll tell your father you're cutting the timber.” A
somewhat similar story is told of the celebrated surgeon Aber-
nethy, who, finding opposite his residence a large pile of paving
stones which prevented his carriage from being drawn up at the
hall door, swore at the pavier and ordered him to remove the
stones.  Where shall I take them to?”’ asked the workman,
who was an Irishman. ¢ To hell,”” shouted the choleric dis-
ciple of Alsculapius. Pat smilingly replied : “ Hadn’t I better
take them to heaven—sure they’d be more out of your honour’s
way.”

It is stated that even so late as 1828, the gaol afforded an
asylum to lunatics; in February, 1831, there were thirty
thus confined, and twenty-eight in the year following; in
March, 1849, there were only fourteen. Prior to the erection
of the present asylum, a few harmless lunatics were kept in a
house, the ruins of which may still be seen about two miles from
Sligo, on the road to Rosses Point.

According as the system of more modified restraint for the
insane developed, in like manner did the need for supplying
them with means of occupation become essential, therefore, a
further portion of land was purchased, at a cost of £5500, and
it is now utilized as a tillage-farm—thus affording ample em-
ployment, or rather recreation to the inmates of the asylum.
The farm is self-supporting, and supplies the requirements of
the establishment in potatoes, vegetables, milk, &c.; the net
profit averages £550 per annum ; for 1888, it was nearly £740;
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for 1889 about £654, the articles consumed being credited at
full market price. A high boundary wall had surrounded the
original farm of 80 acres, and when its area was increased there
was no real impediment to the exit of such of the patients as
might at the time be employed at work on the newly-added
portion of land ; but in consequence, probably, of the greater
amount of freedom supposed to be enjoyed by the patients
thus seemingly at perfect liberty, the escapes or attempts
at escape diminished in number.

The separate rooms for sleeping accommodation of the in-
mates have lately been converted into dormitories, with the
result of obtaining greater order and quiet.

The expenditure on the Institution has been, of late, in-
creasing considerably ; under the régime of the late Dr. John
M‘Munn, the first resident medical superintendent (appointed
1852, died 1882), the total disbursement for the years 1856 and
1857 was £3025, and £3109 for maintenance of 120 and 143
patients, respectively ; in the year 1889, it was almost £9000
for 439 patients; however, the Treasury grant covered one
half of this amount, leaving the residue to be defrayed by the
tax-payers of the counties of Sligo and Leitrim. The present
medical officer in charge is allowed to have an assistant, resident
in the house, the visiting and consulting physician being
E. C. Mac Dowal, M.D. During the year 1889 the average daily
number of patients in the building was 439.

Liyive-1y Hospitar and House or ReEruee.—In the com-
mencement of the century, 7. e. in 1804, £30 was voted by the
Grand Jury for the training of a proper nurse, whilst during
the year 1819 “fifty poor married lying-in women were
attended by the accoucheur.” Notices regarding the institution
occur from time to time in the columns of the local newspaper.

In aid of the “House of Refuge,” various sums of money
were bestowed by individuals, and the moiety of fines levied in
the Borough was also given in support of the House: the old
Infirmary would seem to have been utilized for this purpose.
Both these institutions appear to have been discontinued on, or
shortly after, the introduction of dispensaries.

i M2
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So early as the commencement of the eighteenth century
there was a charity-school in the town of Sligo. Alderman
Draper, in his will, dated 1719, bequeathed ¢to the charity
Black-boys of the town of Sligo, the sum of fifty pounds ster-
ling—which is now in the hands of Thomas Jennings, of Sligo,
merchant, at interest, to be paid as my executors shall appoint
and direct for the support of said charity-school.” Towards the
close of the century the manner of providing for foundlings and
exposed children grew to be such an intolerable nuisance that
the Vestry of the Union of St. John’s refused to sanction any
outlay, so that these waifs would appear to have been thence-
forward sent to Dublin. The following are the numbers of
admissions from the county Sligo, into the * Foundling Hos-
pital ” in that city, during nine years and a-half up to the
31st December, 1808 :—1800, 3; 1801, 6 ; 1802, 4; 1808, 6;
1804,8 ; 1805, 13; 1806, 23; 1807, 19, half-year 9 ; 1808, 13;
total, 104.

Tue ProrrstanTt ORPHAN SociETy—which may be viewed
as but a continuation of the Cholera Orphan Society of 1832—
owes its origin to the ‘Friendly Brothers’ Club,” which
used to meet in Sligo on March 17th in each year, and to
make a collection from the members then present in aid of
some charitable object. In the year 1837—mainly through
the influence of the Rev. William Armstrong, incumbent of
Calry—it was considered that no better application of their
annual collection could be made than devoting it to the support
of the orphans of deceased Protestants, who had lived and
died in their own county, leaving no adequate provision for
their widows and children. Accordingly, in 1839, the so-
ciety was formed, about the time that the “ Dublin Protestant

Orphan Society ”” also came into existence. A committee was
named : — '

The Bishop of Elphin, Patron; Lord Lorton, President; O. ‘Wynne,
E. J. Cooper, Colonel A. Perceval, Sir R. Gore-Booth, Bt.; Colonel

Knox-Gore, Colonel J. Irwin, Hon. C. Wingfield and Major O’Hara,
Vice-Presidents.

it fA o

derdalebd .



CHURCHES, PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS, ETC. 165

The Committee consisted of :—

Captain Barrett, Jemmett Duke, W. Faussett, Captain Fenton, R.
Gethin, Junr.; Gowan Gillmor, J. Holmes, John Martin, Major Parke, ><. =<~
John Wynne, Laurence Vernoi; all the clergy of the County ex

officio. James Wood, Zreasurer; Rev. William-Armstrong and W. C.

Wood, Secretaries. wﬁ

The Rules of the Dublin Orphan Society were adopted, and M
the first meeting was held in the school-room, John-street, on
March 17th, 1840. In the Report read, only thirty-five %
orphans had been admitted, to whom grants for mainte-
nance, &c., had been made, ranging from 30s. to £5.

The Society laboured on for several years with very limited
financial resources, until it was adopted universally by the
county, and gradually became, as it now is, one of its leading
and most important institutions. During a lengthened period
it depended entirely on card collections, sermons, offertories,
and annual subscriptions, but it was largely aided some twenty-
five years since by a basket-sale of work, provided by Miss
Mary Cooper, of Cooper’s Hill, and members of her family, and
friends. This latter form of aid developed into a bazaar,
managed by the late Mrs. I’Estrange, of Kevinsfort, and Mrs
Cooper, of Markree. It still flourishes under a “ladies’ com-
nittee,” and provides fully half the annual income of the
Society, the sale in 1889 realizing upwards of £300.

The total number of orphans elected since the formation
of the Society is 952 ; about £23,000 has been received and
expended for their benefit; at present there are 96 children
depending on its aid for maintenance, clothing, and general
provision. The condition of the Society is in every way pros-
perous and encouraging, and a training establishment for young
girls as domestic servants is about to be established.

In a Corporation document of 1760 mention is made of a
“ workhouse,” and there was also an ¢ almshouse.”” The
11 & 12 Geo. IIL,, chap. xxx., repealed an Act of Henry VIIIL.,
entitled “An Act for Vagabonds,” as also 11 Charles II.,
and gave facilities ““ for the erection of corporations for relief
of the poor.”
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A Menpiciry InstrTuTion for benefit of the destitute poor
of Sligo was founded after the labours of the Relief Committee,
appbinted to alleviate the condition of sufferers during the
famine of 1822, had drawn to a close. The local newspaper,
in the commencement of the year 1823, drew attention to an
evil which, though familiar, yet did not appear to have ex-
cited that exertion to meet it that its paramount importance
seemed to demand, ¢.e. the increased and alarming state of
pauperism then existing in Sligo. The streets were literally
crowded with beggars of every description, from the sturdy
mendicant to the little urchin pickpocket, the annoyance of
whose studied and varied wailings was absolutely intolerable.!
It was suggested that some commodious building should be
appropriated for the purpose of establishing proper and profit-
able employment for these paupers, the majority of whom were
well able to work.

All the preliminary steps having been taken, a public
meeting in furtherance of the project was held, subscriptions
were raised, and for many years no association of similar kind
surpassed it in efficiency. It continued until the establish-
ment of the poor-law system.

The Institution was formed in April, 1824, in the old House
of Correction, a site close behind the present police barracks in
Albert-road, and at the termination of the first year 50,507
meals had been given to 29,753 persons. The total amount of
contributions, entirely from voluntary subsecriptions supple-
mented by the proceeds of charity sermons preached in the
various places of worship in Sligo, amounted to upwards of
£501, but the expenditure was £547, whilst from a separate
fund, raised for the purpose, 64 suits of wearing apparel were
issued.

The number of paupers at first permanently admitted was

130, but the establishment was finally regulated so as not, if
possible, to exceed 60.

! Carlyle, in his Irish Journey in 1849, thus alludes to this nuisance in

Sligi—" Beggars, beggars, only industry really followed by the Irish
people.”’
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On January 23rd, 1826, the Town and Harbour Commis-
sioners gave the contract for sweeping and cleaning the streets
to the committee of the Mendicity, for which a sum of £35,
afterwards increased to £70, was allowed. The paupers appear
to have been thus utilized until August, 1834, when, owing to
the defective manner in which the scavenging was performed,
the grant was discontinued. In 1845 the site of the Mendicity
was sold by the grand jury for £280.

On August 21st, 1839, a meeting of the Poor-Law Guar-
dians of the Sligo Union was held in the Courthouse, and
a list is here given of the first Board which assembled in the
grand jury room of the above building :—

«W. H. Handcock, Poor Law Commissioner, attended the meeting;
Chairman, C. K. O'Hara; Vice-Chairnan, John Wynne ; Deputy Vice-
Chairman, John Martin; Clerk, Mr. Charles O’Connor.

¢ Hn-officio Guardians (13), elected by the Magistrates of the Union
Jfrom their own Body:—John Wynne, C. K. O’Hara, James Wood,
John Martin, Henry Griffith, Sir James Crofton, Gowan Gillmor, John
Ormsby, William Faussett, J. Duke, William Weir, W. H. Hillas,
H. H. Slade. !

 Quardians (39) elected by the Cesspayers:—Owen Wynne, John
Anderson, for the North Ward of Sligo ; Knox Barrett, James Boyle,
for East Ward of same ; Henry O’Connor, James O’Donnell, for West
Ward of same ; John Delany, for Knocknarea; William Phibbs, for
Kilmacowen ; Richard B. Wynne, for Calry ; Follis Clarke, Richard
Gethin, for Drumecliffe ; James Barber, for Carney ; Sir R. Gore-Booth,
John Gallagher, for Lissadell ; Patrick Leemy, for Rossinver; Patrick
M¢Entire, W. Gallagher, for Cliffoney; William Phibbs, Jas. Simpson,
for Ballysadare; O. W. Armstronge, Thomas Phibbs, for Collooney ;
Henry Burrows, Thomas Smith, for Coolaney ; Thomas Mulrooney,
for Ballintogher ; Abraham Martin, for Ballinakill; A. B. Cooper, for
Riverstown ; Alexander Duke, Samuel Gillmor, for Drumfin ; Robert
Young, for Cloonacool ; George Dodwell, Philip Gormley, for Bally-
mote ; John Taaffe, for Cloonoghill ; John Brett, Walter Henry,
Thomas Cooke, for Tubbercurry ; Martin Burns, for Templeboy ;

James Dowdican, W. Graham, for Skreen; Charles Beatty, for Dro-
mard.”

The poor-rate commenced at an average of about 5d. in the
£, and went on gradually increasing until the year of the famine,



168 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

when it rose to about 8s. ; it then again decreased, but afterwards
began to rise, owing to the abuse exercised in the distribution
of out-door relief.

The following poor-rates were struck on the various electoral
divisions in the year 1843 : —

¢ Knocknarea, 6d.; Kilmacowen, 5d.; Calry, 74d. ; Drumeliff, 5d.;
Carney, 2id.; Lissadell, 0d.; Rossinver, 0d.; Cliffoney, 5d.; Bally-
sadare, 24d.; Coolaney, 21d.; Collooney, 5d.; Ballintogher, 5d.; Bal-
linakill, 73d.; Riverstown, 5d.; Drumfin, 2}d.; Ballymote, 10d. ;
Cloonoghill, 5d. ; Tubbercurry, 5d. ; Cloonacool, 0d.; Templeboy, 23d. ;
Skreen, 0d.; Dromard, 0d.

Tue WorkHOUSE, which was not completed until 1841, is
built on very low ground, liable to floods. The edifice cost
£13,250, and the Fever Hospital was erected in 1848 at a
further expenditure of £2800.

The number in the Workhouse, from being at first only a
few hundred, rose gradually from the year 1846 to 1849, in
consequence of the great famine, till the Union-Workhouse—
originally designed to house 1710 inmates—was no longer able
to accommodate all who sought admission, and it was found
necessary to provide three auxiliary houses, viz. one at Ballin-
car, another at the Charterhouse, and a third near the site
now occupied by the artisans’ dwellings.

On the 23rd December there were 1491 recipients of out-
door relief; in midsummer of the following year the numbers
again rose; but in March, 1850, no out-door relief was given.
It was, however, shortly afterwards gradually re-introduced,
and increased with scarcely any intermission. A person being
once placed on the list, the majority of the Guardians appeared
to consider the recipient had obtained a vested right in the
relief, which in many instances might be regarded as an annuity
paid with great regularity.

The annexed statement shows the number of paupers in the
Workhouse on the 1st September in each year, from the forma-
tion of the Union to 1855, together with the highest and lowest
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number at any one period of the year in the house. After 1855
the returns made are quinquennial instead of annual.

Highest Num- | Lowest Num- |

et Number in ber on any ber on any

$ House. one day during | one day during
year. year.
1st September, 1842, . . . . 384 454 66
s " THBERRERS i 299 367 279
B ¥ Al N T 400 422 326
3, i TRAGRNS e . 426 463 385
> 2 TBAG ke 565 1198 456
s o3 TR b it 929 1518 852
) " UGAS) i e 1648 3621 1482
& o T e et 1720 4175 1858
% i TR e 1684 3461 1375
» 3 1851, JEid 1195 2370 884
- g TSGRy OF 5 752 1360 675
it ! TISHR LSS tS 576 928 492
i 5l DNt e 457 674 418
! o TG .. -7 353 633 345
3] £ 1860, pew 332 398 330
] F TGRS 384 504 380
A X HIEHD) i L 305 391 288
s % TR e e 304 395 296
5 % BSOS AT =Tl 321 365 318
» " THEDNPRRA 276 320 267
% 1l 189015 B TID 5251 249 310 237

The Out-door Relief Extension Act passed in 1847 was
little used in the unions till about the year 1865, during which

! In the year 1858, the following amusing application was sent in to the
Board of Guardians by a pauper inmate of the Workhouse:—

““Ye muses from Parnassus’ hill,
I pray ye now assist my quill,
To spin a simple rustic verse,
And let the Gents know my distress,
And hopes the Board will not refuse,
To grant to me a pair of shoes;
The farmers then will me employ,
(The skin won’t do on spade or loy)
The Lord of Heaven will ye bless,
To help a brother in distress.
Kind gentlemen of highest fame,
My poor request do not disclaim,
I hope it will not meet a failure,
Your humble servant,—William Taylor.”

It is needless to say that in recompense of this poetic effusion the shoes

were granted.
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time one relieving officer discharged all the duties of that
department. The number of persons thus relieved weekly was
about twenty, at a cost of £3 per week. The following table
shows the growth in the Sligo Union of expenditure in out-
door relief :—

Number i;l ; Pl 5 :
s ighes: owes
Date. rg::tlg;(; Weekly Cos.t. Nuglber. Number.
Relief.
£ s d.

June of 1863, . . . 18 0 6 0 25 3
o LEEERT N 142 7 18 6 161 124
o el S T30y I 278 21 17 7 334 244
R (0 St 399 17 18 6 422 364
B o el A o 582 26 14 6 782 575
gl “oully o 389 19 11 6 428 373

The increase in the use of stimulants and tobacco has also
been steadily progressive. In 1876 the outlay was but £28, in
1881 £77, whilst in 1889 it was nearly £90 per annum.

By the ¢ Medical Charities Act,” the guardians have now
under their control five dispensaries, with seven medical officers,
for the treatment of the sick and indigent within the union ;
medicines and medical appliances are supplied to those who
are too poor to pay.

The functions of the guardians, as a local body, have been
exercised of late in various directions altogether foreign to the
relief of the poor. They now administer the Sanitary and
Public Health Acts, by officials under their control; the
Parliamentary Voters Act, extended by the Representation of
the People Act, 1884, and Registration Act of 1885; the
Registration of Births, Deaths, and Marriages; the building
of labourer’s cottages, and inspection of same, under the
Labourers Acts of 1883 and 1885. Under the Contagious
Diseases Act of 1878, the inspection of animals within the
Union, and the export and import of same, are placed under
their control, in connection with the Veterinary Department.
The Board is also empowered, under the National School
Teachers Act of 1875, to contribute, out of the poor rates,
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towards the increase of the salaries of the schoolmasters, the
matter being left voluntary to them, but if the momey be
granted the Board has no control over its expenditure. Since
the withdrawal of Dromore West and Tubbercurry the valuation
of the Sligo Union was in 1888 £99,075 ; it consists of twenty-
nine electoral divisions, with an area of 143,523 acres, and a
population of 46,063.

Besides the above union, part of those of Boyle and Ballina
are comprised within the county boundaries; this sub-division
causes a considerable amount of unnecessary trouble and
expense.

The Tubbercurry Union consists of twenty-one electoral
divisions ; the area 125,774 acres; the valuation (in 1888)
£40,768, and the population 25,721. The union was formed
23rd February, 1850, the paupers belonging to the district
having been previously maintained in the Sligo and Swinford
Workhouses. The cost of erecting the building, including the
purchase of twelve statute acres of land, was £7400, and the
Government made a free grant of the amount.

The number of paupers chargeable to this union on its for-
mation was 198 indoor, and 3 outdoor.

RIS GO a8 0 idoor) .. . - .. 2 outdoor.
A S e R S BT ol MBaE =,
RERGOO U SN e SBde
Tasges e T L8 A e

’”

In 1888 the average daily number in the Workhouse was
116 ; the total number of persons in receipt of indoor relief was
995, outdoor 640 ; the indoor maintenance cost £951, outdoor
£953 ; the salaries and rations of officers £561; all other
expenses, £464. Total, £2928.

The Dromore West Union consists of seventeen electoral
divisions : the area 96,985 acres; the valuation £36,883, and
the population 17,349. The workhouse was, by a sealed order
of the Poor Law Commissioners, declared fit for the reception
of paupers, and opened 1st May, 1852, when the paupers in the
Sligo and Ballina Workhouses, chargeable to the union were
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removed to this house, the total number being 170 indoor, and
six outdoor.

In1862, . . . 11lindoor, . . . mno outdoor.
In 1872, . .o o tad L
In 18820/ ww b 4 ST OIS S BSOS
In 1890, . « o0 80 55 r LSRR

The cost of the building is stated to have been about £4000.
The total expenditure of the union for 1889 was about
£3944 ; the maintenance of the inmates, £476 ; outdoor relief,
£457 ; expenses under Medical Charities Act, £589, the balance
being swallowed up in salaries of officials, and other expenses.

Armisang’ DweLrines have been built by the Town
Council. The committee appointed by them proposed the
erection of sixty houses; and on the 24th February, 1886,
there was a further recommendation from them to purchase the
“ Cadgers’ Field,” and to accept Mr. Ashley’s offer of the plot
for £500. In March a grant of £3000 was received from the
Commissioners of Public Works, and possession of the ground
was taken 11th August, 1886. On 29th September the plans,
as drawn by Mr. W. Cochrane, the Borough Surveyor, were
approved of. The contract for making the roads and sewers
was given to Mr. George Kerr ; and on 2nd February, 1887, he
was declared the contractor for erection of most of the houses;
three additional being built in 1888. On 22nd February, 1888,
the site of the Artisans’ Dwellings, formerly ¢ The Cadgers’
Field,” was re-named ¢ Emmet-place.”?

Branca Baxks in Sligo are of comparatively recent origin ;
although to modern ideas it seems strange that business on any
extensive scale could have been carried on without the medium
of local banks. Formerly, large sums of money were trans-
mitted by bills, and transactions of any great magnitude were
negotiated by special messenger. The circulation of small coin
was, however, quite as deficient as the means of transferring
large amounts ; and, therefore, about the middle of the seven-

! For Financial statement see Appendix G.
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teenth century, many persons assumed the privilege of issuing
brass or copper tokens, their value varying <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>